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China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Modern Dairy”
together with its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is the leading dairy farming operator
and raw milk producer in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Modern
Dairy operates 41 dairy farming companies in the PRC with dairy cows over
400,000 heads and annualized milk yield of over 2.36 million tons. The Group
is a leading dairy farming operator and raw milk producer in terms of herd size
in the PRC. The Company initiated the production model of “Zero-distance
Integration of Forage Grass Planting, Cows Breeding and Milk Processing within
Two Hours”, which is the first in the PRC that applies integrated production
model with SGS certification. Modern Dairy’s products have been awarded the
Gold Prize of Monde Selection which is generally regarded as the “Nobel Prize”
in the food industry, for the past nine consecutive years.
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“Raise healthy cows, safeguard each and

every drop of milk”
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HIGHLIGHTS
=

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

BZ12A31MBLEE

2022 2021 Change

20224 20214 23

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) (BR4$5I5IBASN - FRE S FELL
millions unless otherwise stated) AR ([AR¥)BEETHITR)

FINANCIAL DATA BB EE
Revenue A 12,295 7,078 +73.7%
Cash EBITDA MNote IR & EBITDAMED 2,740 2,434 +12.6%
Adjusted Net Profit MNote2 SR SE I bE R 950 925 +2.7%
Net Asset Value Per Share (RMB)Note® & j% & B JF{E (A R #E JT) Wi 1.42 1.37 +3.6%
KEY OPERATING DATA FTEKEHE
Total Raw Milk Sold AR ARSE = (B NE)

(ten thousand tons) 233 159 +46.5%
Herd Size (heads) BEREGER) 405,358 353,793 +14.6%
Average Milk Yield YR FL A (WE,SHe 5F)

(tonnes/head e year) 12.2 1.3 +8.0%

Notes:

(1) Cash EBITDA is defined as earnings before finance costs and tax
having added back: i) depreciation and amortisation charged to
profit and loss; ii) other gains and losses, net; iii) impairment losses
under expected credit loss model, net of reversal; and iv) loss arising
from changes in fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows.

(2)  The adjusted net profit is defined as net profit after excluding the
gains and losses arising from foreign exchanges and derivative
financial instruments.

(3)  Equity attributable to owners of the Company at the year end divided

by the number of ordinary shares in issue as at 31 December 2022
and 31 December 2021, respectively.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of final dividend of
RMBO0.0142 per ordinary share (2021: RMB0.026).
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HIGHLIGHTS:

With the corporate vision of “deploy the whole industry chain,
innovate with digital intelligence, and be a global dairy farming
leader” and focusing on the core business of raw milk, the Group
continues to improve the layout of the entire industrial chain and
control more high-quality resources, which will not only bring
new contributions to the performance of the Company, but will
also help the Group to reduce costs and increase efficiency in
the core business of raw milk, and thus enhance the Group's core
competitiveness.

Strong Growth in Core Business: As the core business of the
Group, the raw milk business has a solid and resilient foundation
for development, and its herd size, AMY, total milk yield and sales
revenue have all recorded substantial growth. As of 31 December
2022, the Group had invested and operated in 41 dairy farming
companies in the PRC, and the number of dairy cows reached
405,358 heads, representing an increase of 51,565 heads over
the previous year and a yoy increase of 14.6%. The average AMY
per milkable dairy cow reached an industry-leading 12.2 tons this
year, representing a yoy increase of 8.0%, which was better than
expected and is expected to continue to grow. Total milk yield
reached 2.36 million tons, representing a significant yoy increase
of 46.6%. The sales revenue of raw milk amounted to RMB9,945
million, representing a yoy increase of 42.0%.

Rapid Development of New Business: During the year, the Group
successfully acquired Aiyangniu Technology, and our business
has since expanded to the operation of an internet platform for
livestock industry, which together with the feed and forage segment
from Fuyuan International, contributed RMB2.35 billion in the sales
revenue of feed to the Group this year. Aiyangniu Technology and
Fuyuan International have strengthened the vertical and horizontal
layout of the Group's industrial chain, maximized synergies, and
brought new momentum to the Group's development.

HIGHLIGHTS
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HIGHLIGHTS

i\ &

Recognition Received for ESG Performance: We adhere to
ecological priority, actively participate in the international ESG
rating system and strengthen ESG management, and have received
high recognition for our ESG Performance. During the year, Modern
Dairy ranked first among Chinese companies in the Global FAIRR
Protein Producer Index. Qur first-ever CDP climate questionnaire
received a "B-" rating, which was better than the industry average.
Modern Dairy was selected as an excellent case in the report titled
"Corporate Carbon Neutral Target Setting, Actions and Global
Cooperation” released by United Nations Global Compact. We
won the Best ESG Award from the Institutional Investor magazine
for the first time, and our ESG governance has been recognized by
the industry.

Rating with Stable Outlook: Modern Dairy has again been
assigned a "BBB” investment grade rating by Standard & Poor's
during the year, with a stable outlook, which could help the
Company to secure more competitive financing terms and lower
the finance cost. Modern Dairy was the first dairy farming company
in the PRC to have been assigned such a credit rating, which fully
confirms the affirmation of the international credit rating agency
for the Company and even China’'s large-scale farming model,
and establishes a good image for the industry in the international
capital market.

Excellent Product Quality: Modern Dairy always give priority
to product quality, and has established high-quality raw milk
development strategies to pursue excellent quality. During the
year, the main quality indicators of the Group's raw milk, such
as protein content, fat content, somatic cell count and microbial
count, improved again over the same period last year. For nine
consecutive years, our branded pure milk has won the Gold
Award at the Monde Selection, signifying that our high-quality raw
milk and business philosophy have been widely recognized and
favoured by the industry and community.

4 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Segment Sales (RMB million)
PMHEEANREEET)

A 3,119%
A 42%

2021 2022
0 EmsERA W SNEERA

Sales revenue Sales revenue
of raw milk of feed

Production of Raw Milk ("0,000 tons)
FpEE(BH)

A 47%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Herd Size ('0,000 heads)
SR (EE)

40.5

HIGHLIGHTS
S

Key Financial Indicators

TEMBER

il

RBe
Revenue EBITAEA
PHEWA e

EBITADA
o
+74% YoY +13% YoY

Adjusted Net Profit

KABFRE
et ‘

Unit Yield per Milkable Cow (ton/head/year)
RELFEE(NE TE e F)

A 8%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Unit Cost of Sales of Raw Milk (RMB/kg)
ARFPHEERET(ARE, D)

2.97

2.82

—EoCEFH PEARKERRERAT 5



FARM MAP
WHELE
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Northeast Region ' on arm

EiKE BIEHUE (x2)
Saibei Region Shuangcheng Farm (x2)
e
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Bashu Region Saibei Farm | Saibei Farm IV
s = 5 [ gt g EREK
S ’%fai’::iﬁﬁi’farm Saibei Farm Il Saibei Farm V.
o ipsm Bl =H e
Northwest Region ?qullz Farm Saibei Farm Il Tongliao Farm
BHHBOG (x2) j( B

Baoji Farm (x2) Chibei Reai
_ habei Region

=i —H
Chabei Farm |
224k —
Chabei Farm Il
22
Hengsheng Farm
Z#LAE
Northern China Region
K —4
Hengshui Farm |
K4
P e Hengsh:l Farm Il
Helin Farm %ﬁ%"ﬁ(iﬁ (x2)
Fk—48 Xinle Farm (x2)
Helin Farm |
PR =42
Helin Farm Il E EF j( &
L tre ] Central China Region
Tuoxian Farm BHS (x2)
BEWE Shanghe Farm (x2)
Saihan Farm ; apiEie ]
EBH05 Maanshan Farm Linyi Farm
Zhengyuan Farm @HE#{% x2) X EHE
HHEBOS efei Farm (x2) Wenshang Farm
Hongya Farm EEYE .
o . BEES
JELBES Sugjan Farm South China Sea Islands
Meishan Farm -

Yunnan Farm

Note: Approximate of herd size: x2 = 20,000 heads: x4 = 40,000 heads
P ARREIE  x2 =285 1 x4 =48
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Raise healthy cows,

CORPORATE CULTURE PANORAMA

ETRXILER EEXEEZRE
CORPORATE CULTURE PANORAMA
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safeguard each and every drop of milk

BRED RREAR
REFRE RMEAR
HEEL BT
EiRERE RBEER

| A @

15114 8WOD Yeay pue Aajes

BAGA TwEHE
ERFARFER
EREE WUt
RA%ER HERE

TR ©

sjenuajod Jno ysesjun

M fRERE BEAMN

Deploy the whole industry chain, innovate with digital intelligence,

B RWEL|EE

and be a global dairy farming leader
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Respect life and never neglect risks.

Fight the virus, be healthy, be cautious.

Quality comes first, never be
compromised.

Save energy, reduce carbon footprint and
waste.

Value talents from all walks of life.

Reward talents based on merits.

Good at empowering and be successful
together.

Say no to bias and backstabbing.
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Born to be strong and go beyond ourselves
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
SERBEERFREM

DREAMCAP DNA MILK

B{JEDNAY

A2 genotype dairy cows, screened by DNA detection,
containing rare A2 (8 casein which is naturally compatible
with human body and facilitates nutrient absorption.

The supply is limited due to its scarcity.

DNARRIE BEEA2ERAN S - 2R WA2L BER -
BRARMAR  BYPREERK - BEKD - REMHE -

DREAMCAP 30-MINUTE-BEFORE-SLEEP MILK

B EERI30D 41

Have a glass of milk before going to bed and fall asleep
easily. Supplement GABA needed by human body,
drinking at night will help calm emotions, relieve stress,
improve sleep quality.

—HERT— ) MRH L - IR ABAFEGABA

i LIS AR PR  BRE)  RAEREE -

DREAMCAP ZERO LACTOSE MILK

BOEBLED

Innovative EHT enzymatic hydrolysis technology to promote good absorption of nutrients.
Zero lactose is stomach friendly, suitable for the constitution of Chinese people.

BIFTEHTES KM - fRE LB R - OFLIE - BERY » BATEARE -

PREMIUM-PACKAGED PURE MILK

EEKMAGT GOLD AWARD HIGH CALCIUM MILK
The pure milk is awarded the Gold Award of TREHEFPD
Monde Selection for nine consecutive years, High in calcium from good dairy farms. Modern
produced by self-owned farms with high- Dairy High Calcium Milk contains 125mg of calcium
quality milk sources. per 100ml. Vitamin D is added to facilitate calcium
BEXYS - BENR - EENFEEER absorption. The milk is nutritious, pure and rich in taste.
RmmEFERNRRONMATY) - It has won the Gold Award of Monde Selection for

three consecutive years.
BERAFHE  BAKRESTEN
HF100=2H 51512525 Rl A
MERD REFGHRY 28528
BCALRR BE-FLREHR
RmETFTFEAGSE -

GOLD AWARD PURE MILK

SRR

It is produced by self-owned farms with high-quality milk
sources. It has won the Gold Award of Monde Selection for
four consecutive years and is a partner of China’s aerospace
industry as well. Gold medal winner, quality of aerospace.
BXRWS - BENR  SEENFEETRRMMETERS
S8 PEMASESIERYE MARE  282E-

8 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
KB RBEAREM®
H—

THREE ZERO SKIMMED MILK

=ZR B4

Zero fat, light with nutrient value. Zero lactose, easy to absorb.
Have a sweet and fresh taste and light experience with good
nutrition absorption. It has won the Gold Award of Monde
Selection for three consecutive years.

THaR - WEEE  TINE - EETRK - EERESRE
BRIF - BRIBHER  BREBHR - EE=-FREHREM
mANEREER -

HOLSTEIN PURE MILK

7 57 18 4k 413

Finely selected high-quality Holstein milk source, containing 3.2 grams of high-quality milk
protein per 100ml, supplement nutrition every day, taste mellow and rich.

MR EEHIENE  S10EA 2322 EHAUEN  BALRS X  WEEE  OREE -

HOLSTEIN HIGH CALCIUM MILK

Ter HiT 48 S 85 4 1

Holstein high calcium milk, from a good selection of
Holstein cows, contains 125mg of calcium per 100ml.
Vitamin D is added to facilitate calcium absorption.
The milk is nutritious, pure and rich in taste.

U BERHTNANIR - F10021 812527 &5
SHAERDRESTRW  2REE HEER -

SPECIAL MILK

Y541

Ecolean packaging design with 60-day self
life. It contains 3.5 grams of high-quality milk
protein per 100ml with special aroma.
BRMIRRERGT - HEOXRREH - 5100
EAESRBEIER  MERFAES -

WELL-PACKAGED PURE MILK
BEALD
Strictly select high-quality Holstein

REFRIGERATED PURE MILK dairy cows from all over the world and

TKFE S A1

It takes merely 2 hours from the farms to the processing line

carefully nurture “five-good” dairy
cows to produce pure milk with five-
to maintain the fresh taste and nutrition. Good cows make :ta; gty ancexeelien StpEiicg
aste.

RIRECEEERIENG - AUBER
Ht - AERERE EEORERE
EVEEAELD -

good milk with good taste.
BMTEREDIFRBMITRT/2NE - REFHE OREZEE -
AT O R -

—B-—FEH RERRNEERARLE 9



MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
FTERBRKE

Premium Products BEEm

*  The “Premium Pure Milk” product of Modern Dairy won the o  IRRKEBEMFNEENFTLEHARR
Gold Award at the Monde Selection for nine consecutive nETEAgsR EnnBEHERKRR
years, and its product quality has been recognized Al e

internationally again.

Low Carbon Farming White Paper BKRBEEAKRSE

e The Group participated in the 13th China Dairy Industry ¢  SEEZME+=BHENHEARS L EEKD
Conference and reached a strategic cooperation with the FEERMNE RS TEER B & 1F -
National Dairy Industry Technology System on low-carbon RIFRBM2022FHAMEEBEIL TETE
farming, and officially released the 2022 white paper on the ERRBKE -

evaluation results of Modern Dairy high-quality milk project.

1 O China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022



MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
FEEIBERIKR

Quality Financing BERE

e Modern Dairy was again assigned a “BBB” investment grade o  IRAMERNEZRELTHML TIBBBJIREM
rating by Standard & Poor’s, with a stable outlook. Modern WERATR  TRERE/RTE - MAHEE
Dairy became the first dairy farming company in the world RERERESZAIRONFBHERLE - 7
having been assigned such a credit rating, which fully affirmed DHETERERTREEBEARRNEF
the recognition received by the Company and China'’s large- BIREREBBERANE T - BRERBLT
scale farming model from international credit rating agencies, RIFFER -

and it also established a positive image for the industry.

National Nutrition Program Meritorious B REETEHELER
Enterprise Award

J Modern Dairy was awarded the “Quality Milk Project for  ® BRBERRBEEI TR NERE R

National Nutrition Program”, and Mr. Sun Yugang, CEO of %IJE}J Shi=E 3 A ﬁ@ﬁ}%fﬁﬂ]ﬂ?ﬁﬂzﬁﬁ%f@
Modern Dairy, was presented the “Quality Milk Project for BITRPHIERERIAMEE] -

National Nutrition Program Award of Merit” as well.

—ECCEER hERRKERRERAT 11



MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
FEEIBERIKR

One of the Group’s dairy farm — Tongliao Farm, under the careful SEHE—H% - BEKS £ E ITHELRE
care of employees, the average yield of its milkable cows exceeded T » HI4FFIEEBEIOHRFEASAT - 5—
45 kg for 30 consecutive days, and another Shuangcheng Farm, the S 34535 + H 482 4 B[R K 7 58 22 47 5500 ©

total daily production of fresh raw milk exceeded than 550 tons.

FAIRR Protein Producer Index FAIRREHE4AEBER

e Ranked No. 1 among Chinese companies in the global FAIRR o {75 2IKFAIRREHEAEEIEHTRRH 2
protein producer index, and for the first time filled out the FEE— SEARCOPRIEMEESB-
CDP climate questionnaire and received a B- rating, which is AR B ERITRIFIKFE -

better than the global industry average.

1 2 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Deploy the whole industry chain, innovate with digital intelligence,
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and be a global dairy farming leader
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Respect life and never neglect risks.

Fight the virus, be healthy, be cautious.

Quality comes first, never be
compromised.

Save energy, reduce carbon footprint and
waste.

Value talents from all walks of life.

Reward talents based on merits.

Good at empowering and be successful
together.

Say no to bias and backstabbing.
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CEO'S STATEMENT
BEmES

SUN Yugang,

BERM

Chief Executive Officer
A

Dear Shareholders, BRM SRR

On behalf of the board of directors of China Modern Dairy AAZEREKABEIRRBMETRER QA EEHE
Holdings Ltd. and its subsidiaries, | am pleased to present the RRIEFE > MARZTMBRESRBAKEEZS
annual results of Modern Dairy for the year ended 31 December ZZEZ—F+ZA=+—HIFEMNEFEE -
2022 to the shareholders.

1 4 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022



The year 2022 was an extraordinary and challenging year, and also
a memorable year full of pride for Modern Dairy. For the country,
it was a year of exceptional and historical significance which
witnessed the success organizing of the Beijing Winter Olympic
and Paralympic Winter Games and the 20th National Congress
of the Communist Party of China. For the industry, it was a year
of building on past achievements and launching a new journey,
when China’s dairy industry entered another development cycle
with the vigorous support of the country by favourable policies.
For Modern Dairy, it was a year of forging ahead with enterprise
spirit and fortitude, when Modern Dairy, with the concerted
efforts of all employees and the leadership of the Board and the
management, overcame cost pressure, further expanded business
reach, maintained steady performance and led the Group to a
new journey, despite the shock of COVID-19 pandemic, the global
economic turmoil and various challenges.

During the year under review, all employees of Modern Dairy,
promoting the spirit “Born to be strong and go beyond ourselves”,
relying on the new advantages of scale farming and whole industry
chain model and keeping firm determination, continuously
improved the deployment of industry chain and achieved leapfrog
development of the Group. During the year, the Group acquired
Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu Technology Co., Ltd. (“Aiyangniu
Technology”) and extended the business reach to the e-commerce
platform of animal husbandry industry. Meanwhile, Inner Mongolia
Fuyuan International Industrial (Group) Co. Ltd. (“Fuyuan
International”), merged into the Group in 2021 with businesses
covering animal husbandry, feeds and US-sourced forage. With the
acquisition of Aiyangniu Technology and Fuyuan International, the
Group further strengthened the horizontal and vertical deployment
in the industry chain to maximise the synergy, thus injecting a new
momentum to the Group's development and generating a new
source of revenue.

CEO'S STATEMENT

2020 RBTAFEL - BEAREN—F L2 —
EESERRKMEARZBHALFHLH —F -
BEE—F RERISEHIEL HALMH—
FREMEBFTIERLRS  ZERESHKINE
R THBEEEN T RBR AR BT
EREARR ZEEMN—F  FENEES
TEROFMTFREZR  PATEENZTE
B RBERREREEBEL  BRATH—F
EEEZHEEREREES ZSEREHE
T BRHEPEETAES TSN EEERED
WET BERENAEN - HEEEINE - 1=
BIZEARAARE - DR T EBEROFNEGE

REBFA  EAABEAZRIBEBIRER
BWEACDRY MBS KERELCRENEZE
EEBRANEDY - FEER  THTZEXE
R EPEEERBEUARR - Fh - AKE
TRBRBAREESFRRARAR(EESN
Bl BEBEARNBEREEREEFELKT
A o AN REER2021EHFANARE ERE
REX(GE)ERAR(ERER]) - HEBHR
EWE AHEEREESRRE - BERBEER
FREEEREER &R T AREN R
EXRHR  EHRMEZAL  BAKEER
TERREHME - BRI T BN -
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During the year, as we enhanced internal cultivation and braved
thorny paths, we accomplished all the tasks and targets set by
the Board and maintained high-quality development amid the
great tide of industry development, with dairy herd reaching 405
thousand heads and output of raw milk breaking 2.36 million
tons. During the year, as we expanded to new fields and tackled
challenges, new businesses got into full swing and become
new energies that strongly boosted the Group’s development,
witnessing the leading position of Liangyuan Technology, further
improvement of Aiyangniu’s profitability to a higher level, cross-
domain efforts to establish private-label forage and feeds
brands, extended reach to the breeding business to build core
competitiveness and breakthroughs in both scale and performance
of the beef cattle business. During the year, as we focused on
quality and strengthened brand construction, we became the
model and benchmark of the industry, with the UHT pure milk
rewarded by the Gold Award for nine consecutive years. During
the year, as we pursued green development and enhanced efforts
to achieve “carbon peaking and carbon neutrality”, we recorded
carbon emissions that were far below the average emission level
of the industry, becoming a leader in this aspect among China-
based farms. During the year, as we promoted innovation driven
by digital intelligence and development powered by cutting-
edge technology, we enabled the whole industry’s technological
advancement and upgrading by sharing standardised farming
experience via the digital intelligence platform. During the year, as
we invigorated the organisation and valued talents, we expanded
the career development path for talents of great capacity
with the four-wheel-drive leadership model and the diamond
professionalism model, which were the first of their kind in the
industry. During the year, we were active in the capital market and
highly recognised by the industry for our comprehensive strength
in terms of business performance and corporate governance,
honoured the Triple A Country Awards by The Asset Magazine
for the first time, assigned the BBB rating by Standard & Poor’s
again, rated as the first among China-based enterprises of the
FAIRR Protein Producer Index for the world’s 60 protein producers,

"

graded as "B—" in CDP Climate Change Questionnaire, which
was the first submission of questionnaire for the Company and
indicated a performance that was better than the average of the

industry.
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Efforts will always pay off and hardships will make one stronger!
All of the honours in 2022 delivered a satisfactory answer that
profoundly impressed all people, and the fruitful achievements
were highly recognised by the Board and the society. | would
like to take this opportunity to extend my gratitude to the Board,
the management and all employees for their dedication and
contribution in the past year. The achievement of Modern Dairy
is the outcome of all employees’ hard work and concerted efforts
with the enterprising spirit and the unity and cooperation of all
people of the Group with the shared aspiration. We are a team
that is brave to face challenges and has the ability to win the tough
fight, and | feel genuinely proud for such a team.

As the blueprint has been drawn, all sails are set for the journey.
The year 2023 is the first year for promoting the spirit of the
20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China and
the critical year for Modern Dairy to steadily advance the “Five-
Year Lead Plan”. The Group will take “ensuring growth of total
output and security of cash flows” as the core target, follow the
five major strategies of “focusing on main course, developing new
businesses, ensuring cash flows, enabling stronger performance
and developing high-quality talent resources”, adopt “Three
JIAN" as the guideline, comprehensively implement the business
strategy of “Three Breakthroughs, Four-pronged Collaboration”,
uphold the “Four XIN" culture, actively cultivate a second growth
engine, further improve the whole-chain deployment and promote
the business to steady and healthy growth, with commitment to
the beginning aspiration, the strenuous effort to various aspects,
relentless pursuit of innovation, firm determination to go beyond
the limit, the focus on “growth driven by cost advantage” and the
courage to seek further improvement and breakthrough.

With the strategies set and the goals clarified, | believe that in the
journey of 2023, all employees of Modern Dairy will unit together
and act in concert and Modern Dairy will sweep away all obstacles
and reap plentiful rewards, creating greater value for employees,
shareholders and the industry by products of better quality and
better business performance and making contribution to the sound
development of China’s dairy industry!

Sun Yugang
Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Limited (“Modern Dairy” or the “Company”) is pleased
to present the audited annual results of the Company and its

subsidiaries (collectively the "Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the "year/2022").

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Dairy industry is an important part of modern agriculture and food
industry, an indispensable industry for a healthy China and our
strong nation, a representative industry of food safety, a landmark
industry of agricultural modernization and a strategic industry for
the coordinated development of primary, secondary and tertiary
industries. In 2022, China’s milk production reached 39.32 million
tons, representing a year-on-year (“yoy") increase of 6.8%. In
the first three quarters, the pass rate of supervision and random
inspection of dairy products in China reached 99.83%, which is
higher than the overall level of the food industry. In 2022, facing the
pressure of rising commodity prices, labor costs and transportation
costs, China’s dairy industry overcame many difficulties and
challenges and became one of the few industries that bucked the
trend under the pandemic.

To promote the high-quality development of the dairy industry, it
is necessary to accelerate the adjustment of the industry structure
and the transformation and upgrading of enterprises. According
to the 14th Five-Year Plan for Promoting Agricultural and Rural
Modernization issued by the State Council of China in February
2022, China will implement the Five-Year Action Plan for cattle
and sheep farming with the aim to vigorously developing grass-
fed animal husbandry, and shall also strengthen the construction
of milk source bases and optimize the structure of dairy products.
The Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs issued the Action Plan
for Improving the Competitiveness of Dairy Industry for the 14th
Five-Year Plan Period, which provided that by 2025, the national
milk production would reach approximately 41 million tons, and
the proportion of large-scale breeding (with more than 100 heads)
would reach approximately 75%.

Environmental protection has also become a topic of concern in
the dairy industry in recent years, and carbon reduction is the top
priority. In 2021, the “dual-carbon” goal was officially included in
the government work report of the State Council of PRC, that is to
achieve carbon peaking by 2030 and to achieve carbon neutrality
by 2060. In light of such trends and requirements, in 2022, dairy
companies took measures in various aspects such as carbon
reduction in upstream farming, new factories, product innovation,
recycling, and have achieved certain breakthroughs. This was not
only in line with the “"promoting green development of agriculture”
policy proposed in the Central Document No.1 (the Opinions of
the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the
State Council on Comprehensively Promoting the Key Tasks of
Rural Revitalization in 2023) issued in February 2023, but also a
good start for the dairy industry’s road to environmental protection
and carbon reduction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is mainly engaged in the dairy farming business
(producing and selling quality raw milk to dairy operators) and
the processing and sales of feeds business. After the Group
acquired Fuyuan International in November 2021, the Group
successfully acquired Aiyangniu Technology in June 2022. These
two companies and their businesses had also been incorporated
into the Group accordingly. Since then, the Group’s business
operations have extended to the sales of feeds and the operation
of livestock internet platform. In addition, during the year, the
Group successfully established a company with Inner Mongolia
Rixin Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Rixin Investment”) to invest in
and build farms in Inner Mongolia, so as to revitalize the local dairy
industry and support the development of local economy.

With the mission of “raising healthy cows, safeguarding each
and every drop of milk” and on the basis of expanding and
strengthening its own business, the Group is committed to laying
out the industrial chain vertically and horizontally, empowering
innovation with digital intelligence and setting a benchmark for the
industrial peers and paving the way for the industrial peers.

While developing new businesses, the Group will continue to
provide customer base with high-quality fresh raw milk and
provide high-end, high-quality and reliable milk sources to dairy
manufacturers, thereby helping such manufacturers to give back
to consumers by producing healthy and diversified products.
Currently, the Group's industrial chain basically runs through the
upstream and downstream farming business, and the livestock
internet platform connects the feeds sector both vertically and
horizontally. The interaction between existing and new business
segments have been leading synergies to the Group.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

Thanks to the concerted efforts of the management and all
employees of the Company and the continued implementation of
the “Five-Year Lead Plan”, the Group has achieved a significant
increase in major operating indicators. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group raised dairy cows of over 405 thousand heads with an
increase of 51 thousand heads yoy, and the increase in herd size is
in line with the Group's overall herd expansion strategies. The total
milk production for the year hit 2.36 million tons (2021: 1.61 million
tons), representing a yoy growth of 46.6%. The annual milk yield
("AMY") per milkable cow amounted to 12.2 tons (2021: 11.3 tons),
representing a yoy growth of 8.0%, which exceeds expectations
and is expected to continue to grow.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W LD

During the year, the Group's sales revenue recorded RMB12,295.1
million (2021: RMB7,078.5 million), representing a yoy increase of
73.7%. Among which, the sales revenue of raw milk amounted to
RMB9,945.1 million (2021: RMB7,005.0 million), representing a yoy
increase of 42.0%. The Group entered into the business of sales
of feeds after completing the acquisition of Fuyuan International
in November 2021, and it recorded a sales revenue of RMB2,350.0
million (2021: RMB73.5 million) in the feed sales business during the
year.

DAIRY FARMS

Leveraging on the world’s first model of “integration of forage
planting, cow breeding and milk processing”, Modern Dairy is
currently a leading dairy farming operator and raw milk producer
in the PRC in terms of herd size and volume of annual production.
With farms spreading across the nation, we are equipped with
unique geographical advantages. Most of our dairy farms are
located at regions with fine climate and ample feed supply, and
are adjacent to processing plants of dairy products to ensure that
procedures from the milking to processing could be completed in
the shortest time and the nutritional value and freshness could be
maintained at the highest level.

The Group continues to renovate the cowshed equipment and
improve the ventilation system; adjust the feed formula and
increase the frequency of feeding; enhance the dryness level of
the bedding materials and improve the bedding comfortability by
applying drying technologies; and increase the frequency of sink
cleaning to ensure healthy drinking water. By doing so, the Group
continuously improves and enhances comfortability for milkable
cows so as to raise milk production.

Each farm is equipped with modern cowshed equipment, logistics
systems, environmental protection facilities, 24=7 monitoring
systems, and with veterinarians stationed in farms to make sure
that each cow inhabits in a comfortable environment and produces
high-quality and healthy raw milk.

e Bengbu Farm EIBH5
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R Mo T

Herd Scale BEEAE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Heads Heads
g g8

Dairy cows L4
Milkable cows e 199,793 184,304
Heifers and calves NELAE RN 205,565 169,489
Total 4t 405,358 353,793

As at 31 December 2022, the Group invested and operated a
total of 41 dairy farming companies with 405,358 dairy cows in
mainland China (2021: 353,793 heads), representing a yoy increase
of 14.6%. The Group is a leading dairy farming operator and raw
milk producer in terms of herd size in the PRC. The proportion of
milkable cows to the total number of dairy cows decreased by 2.8
percentage points to 49.3% in 2022 (2021: 52.1%) yoy, mainly due
to the significant increase in the number of the Group'’s heifers and
calves in the stage of expansion, resulting in the decrease of the
proportion of milkable cows. The Group will continue to optimize
and adjust the herd structure so as to achieve sustainable, healthy
and stable development.

Milk Yield

During the year, the Group recorded AMY of 12.2 tons per milkable
cow (2021: 11.3 tons), representing a yoy increase of 8.0%. The
total annual milk production of the Group grew 46.6% yoy to 2.36
million tons (2021: 1.61 million tons). The increase in milk yield was
attributable to effective herd management, genetic improvement
over generations, and an increase in the number of cows reaching
peak stage of lactation. Milk yield is affected by a number of
factors, including the frequency of lactation, breed, comfort level,
health, genetics and feed mix. The Company has been conducting
research on each factor, inviting foreign and domestic cow experts
to regularly station and give guidance at the farms, and through
interactive sharing amongst industry experts and staff training, to
improve milk yield and cow health.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E E% J= lﬂL i & Tﬁ

Quality of Raw Milk

Modern Dairy ensured the quality management and control
were scientifically controllable and adhered to the principle of
high starting point, high positioning and high standard, keeping
consumers to be informed with quantitative data of milk. We
produced our own dairy products using our own raw milk. Every
procedure in the production of raw milk, ranging from milking,
refrigeration to transportation, was completed with monitoring
measures, the quality of raw milk was therefore guaranteed in
accordance to the most stringent standard in the world.

OVERVIEW OF OPERATING STRATEGIES

Based on the broad outlook of the dairy industry and the current
market situation, we will implement the business strategy of "1
Focus, 3 Shifts, 3 Focuses”
strategy and bring into play our core competitive advantages

. One focus: to focus on cost leadership

in cost reduction and efficiency. Three shifts: Firstly, we will
shift from a single strong dairy industry to a full value chain and
further improve the layout of the whole industry chain. Secondly,
we will shift from simply building our own farms to diversifying
our farming operation model and efficiently integrating industry
resources. Thirdly, we will shift from upgrading the processing
side to upgrading the raw milk side, and increase the production
of specialty milk. Three focuses: focus on scientific standardisation
of dairy feeding management; focus on promoting the process of
digital intelligence innovation and focus on promoting low-carbon
green transformation development.

Focus on Cost-lead Strategies

In response to the huge pressure on the farming industry brought
about by the continued rise in the prices of major bulk materials
in recent years, we need to adopt a three-pronged approach. The
first is to expand the size of the herd and continue to improve
yields, thereby diluting unit costs. Secondly, we will strengthen
cost management, and through accurate grasp of market trends,
close linkage adjustment between formula and market price of
materials, and implementation of precision feeding and effective
farms management, we will smooth out the impact of rising feed
prices, reduce the unit cost of one kilogram of raw milk sold, and
continue to maintain unit feed cost of one kilogram of raw milk
output at the leading level in the industry. Thirdly, we will increase
our operational management efforts, tap potential and cut costs,
vigorously implement benchmarking improvements, save other
cash costs and improved efficiency. We are committed to our cost
leadership strategy, adhering to the concept of “all costs can be
reduced”, and will continue to dig deeper to reduce unit costs so
as to achieve our industry-leading cost strategy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Further Improving the Whole Industrial Chain

In 2022, the whole industrial chain had been basically completed.
We will continue to develop new fields such as digital intelligence
platform, feed business, grass farming, breeding and beef cattle
industry to form a whole industry chain layout with raw milk as the
core which is multi-faceted and multi-services. Through the four
diversifications of “"business diversification, customer diversification,
product diversification and service diversification”, the Group has
been able to cope with and mitigate the fluctuations of the raw

milk market cycle and enhance its anti-risk capability.

Promote the Diversification of Ranching Operation Mode
Actively promote the light asset operation model, implement
leasing operation, entrusted management, technology export, etc.,
implement the diversification of ranch operation model, innovation
and transformation, efficient integration of industry resources,
reduce ranch capital expenditure, enhance return on assets,
and effectively export the Company’s advanced management
experience. At the same time, provide high-quality employment for
rural workers and help revitalise the countryside.

Accelerate the Share of Specialty Milk Matching

Customise the layout of farms according to market demand and
increase the proportion of specialty milk production. Change the
past situation of upgrading dairy products at the processing end
and shift to upgrading raw milk end in a timely manner. Actively
develop speciality milks, including A2, organic milk and selenium-
rich milk, to match the dairy upgrade, raise the integrated milk
price, improve the gross margin of the raw milk business and
enhance profitability.

Focus on Scientific Standardisation of Dairy Cows Feeding
Management

We actively carry out scientific feeding and breeding actions,
improve breeding techniques, enhance cow survival rate and
improve overall cow health; continue to optimise cow genetics
and enhance herd fitness; improve barn environment and raise
feeding standards, benchmarking with advanced farms at home
and abroad to achieve sustainable and stable improvement in unit
yield. We insist on the concept of “good cows naturally produce
good milk” and attach great importance to the quality of raw milk,
with the quality of raw milk passing rate at 100% as an important
measurement target for raw milk quality and a lifeline for the long-
term development of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E E% J= lﬂL i & Tﬁ

Focus on Advancing the Digital Intelligence Innovation
Process

We strive to create digital intelligent pastures. Give full play to
the Aiyangniu platform to disintermediate procurement and
transparently compare prices among multiple parties, effectively
reducing procurement costs. Make good use of the Yunyangniu
platform to provide targeted AloT intelligent solutions to realise
the systematic integration of cows from breeding, feeding, health
management to milk production modules. With its competitive
advantages in loT services, big data analysis and artificial
intelligence analysis, it will integrate into the ecological sharing
platform of Aiyangniu Technology and promote the digital vision of
Modern Dairy to be implemented as soon as possible.

Focus on Promoting Green and Low Carbon
Transformation

We consider green and low-carbon transformational development
as a major factor in the dairy industry. Through the Sustainability
Committee, ESG elements are integrated into the corporate
governance structure to enhance the importance and
implementation of ESG work. Based on resource recycling, we have
built a green recycling industry chain of “forage cultivation — dairy
cows breeding — manure treatment — biogas power generation —
manure return to the field”. Each self-built farm is equipped with
a large biogas power generation facility and a comprehensive
biogas fertiliser utilisation facility, resulting in carbon emissions well
below the industry average and ahead of domestic farms. Specific
quantitative carbon emission targets and implementation steps are
set to reduce carbon emissions by 7%, 15% and 20% by 2025, 2030
and 2035 respectively, with 2021 as the base year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND
EPIDEMIC PREVENTION

The Company's various milk quality indicators are better than
the EU standards. Food safety indicators are set in the raw milk
production process, and the whole process is strictly monitored
to ensure that the raw milk quality meets the standards. Since
Mengniu increased its stake in the Company, the Group and
Mengniu have enhanced cooperation in product testing, unified
inspection standards and processes, improved testing efficiency
and product quality. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations for epidemic prevention management, conducts
health rating management for dairy cows, cautiously controls the
environment of farms, refines the management of farms, provides
epidemic prevention and protection for dairy cows, and establishes
quarantine and health check plans for cows, to ensure the health of
cows.

During the year, the overall operation of the Group was basically
not affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our farms, in general,
have piled up sufficient feed inventory level, which is enough to
feed cows for 20-30 days, and inventories can also be deployed
in the case of emergencies. In addition, most of our farms are
adjacent to the raw milk processing factories of our downstream
customers, which can deliver milk directly to the relevant
factories, and can greatly ensure the quality of raw milk. As a
product promoted by the state, milk enjoys the convenience of
green channels. The Ministry of Agriculture and the Ministry of
Transportation of the PRC both guarantee the transportation of
green agricultural products. The Company’s management adjusted
operation strategies in time and allocated resources flexibly when
facing external uncertainties. Through increasing AMY, reducing
operating costs, improving efficiency and conducting appropriate
herd expansion, we were able to enhance the quality of our raw
milk. The Group will continue to adhere to the fundamental
principles of safe and quality production, provide each of its dairy
cows with the best living environment, utilize the most natural
scientific breeding methods and feeding techniques to allow our
dairy cows to produce the highest quality pasture milk, and give
back to consumers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN WL

ISSUE OF DOMESTIC SHORT-TERM

DEBENTURES

In November 2022, Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd., a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company obtained approval from the
National Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors and
successfully issued domestic short-term debentures of the principal
amount of RMB100 million at 4.00% per annum in the PRC. Such
subsidiary has been rated an AA rating by Shanghai Brilliance
Credit Rating & Investors Service Co., Ltd. (E/&#Tt 42 = 7FHE
KBRS AR A F]). The proceeds will be used for repayment of
bank loans and as general working capital of the issuer and its
subsidiaries.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Sales Revenue

Business Analysis

The following table sets forth the details of the consolidated
revenue for the years ended 31 December:

BITREAEHRME 5

R2022F11 8 - XRABIMIEZEWEB R IR RK
¥(EEERAREFRRITHAMERZAHE
o - WA INTE SR R LA | 4 .00% 31T A & 58
BARBIURINERNEHBRES - BRHBAF
BELEFHLEETHRERBERARFRA
AARR o BIRFTBRIEZ W BEERRITERUK
ERBITAREMBRATIN—REELES -

2

SHEWA

EX s
TERIINEBEZZF12ANBILEFES FFR AR
4 -

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T ARBETIT

Raw milk business [REH Z 75 9,945,090 7,005,012
Feeds sales business FAIRHEE EE 2,350,001 73,458
Consolidated revenue CXR ON 12,295,091 7,078,470

During the year, the Group's sales revenue increased by 73.7% yoy
to RMB12,295.1 million (2021: RMB7,078.5 million). The increase
was mainly due to the significant increase in sales volume of raw
milk, and the significant increase in the sales revenue of feeds sales
as the Group is developing its feeds sales business following the
acquisition of Fuyuan International.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Raw Milk Business
The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of raw milk for the years indicated:

B E R Mo T

FRIBE
TRBIIFRTEOFRPOBELRN - HER
R E @R

2022 2021
20225 20214
Sales Sales Sales Sales

revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP
HEWA HEE FHEE SHE WA HEE FHEE
RMB’000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMB/ton
AR¥ET W ARET /M ARETRT e ARET/ I
Raw milk R 9,945,090 2,327,351 4,273 7,005,012 1,586,857 4,414

The Group's total revenue of the sales of raw milk increased by
42.0% yoy to RMB9,945.1 million during the year (2021: RMB7,005.0
million). The increase was mainly due to the significant increase in
sales volume of raw milk.

ASP of raw milk has a slight decrease by 3.2% yoy to RMB4.27/kg
during the year (2021: RMB4.41/kg). This was mainly caused by the
fact that most of the acquired farms were located in the northern
regions where milk prices were lower than those in the southern
regions, which leads to the change in the yoy regional sales volume
shares; and the slight decrease in milk prices due to the weak
consumption this year caused by the epidemic.

Total sales volume of raw milk increased by 46.5% yoy to
approximately 2.33 million tons during the year (2021: 1.59 million
tons), mainly due to the rise in AMY per milkable cow and the
contribution of sales volume of raw milk from newly acquired farms.

Feeds-Sales Business

During the year, the feeds-sales business newly acquired and
developed recorded a sales revenue of RMB2,350.0 million
(December 2021: RMB73.5 million), a gross profit of RMB171.9
million (December 2021: RMB14.6 million), maintaining good
profitability, and the feeds-sales business will continue to
contribute profits to the Group.

RAFE  BRDEEBRRKRABARE451H
Br(2021F : ARM7,005.0887T) @ FLigEE

42.0% - EBRENAEEFH I HERLAR
#E -
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N (2021F : ARA T,/ AT) - FILLBEEE
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RAREE  REAEEE X A2338 18 (20214 ¢
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E R Mo

COST OF SALES
The Group's cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of raw milk ~ A&EEHEEK AN EZBFRE K AFMGEHE
and feeds sales. The following table sets forth the breakdown of 7N © TEREIIANEEERRFIREEREEK

HERA

the cost of sales of our products for the years indicated: ANERAH

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Raw milk business EREEHES S 6,850,047 4,470,101
Feeds sales business AR H E E 5 2,178,065 58,894
Total cost of sales BEHHER A 9,028,112 4,528,995

Raw Milk Business FERIGEK

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales of T F & 51| R &L #) 2 75 70 B /= F JE #9855 A A B9

the raw milk business for the years indicated: a4
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 % RMB'000 %
AR¥T T BoLE ARETIT Btk
Raw Milk Business FERImER
Direct materials BEMH 5,582,216 80.6% 3,453,182 77.2%
Labor cost BIHA 450,017 6.5% 304,030 6.8%
Utilities NAEXEER 175,814 2.5% 123,525 2.8%
Depreciation of property, mE - BERRETE
plant and equipment 280,129 4.0% 231,078 5.2%
Other costs of farms BERSEMEY 435,488 6.4% 358,286 8.0%
Sub-total INET 6,923,664 100.0% 4,470,101 100.0%
Less: Inter-segment offset & B BB HE (73,617) -
Consolidated total CXi= 6,850,047 4,470,101

During the year, direct materials (mainly forage) cost of the raw milk ~ RAFE @ RENEBHEEVMEH(EEAHE
business amounted to RMB5,582.2 million (2021: RMB3,453.2 million),  #}) XA & AR#5,582.28 &7 (20214 - AR
representing a yoy growth of 61.7%, mainly due to the increase of  3,453.2B&7T) * R R61.7% » B2 HNE

feed prices and the increase in the number of lactating cows.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since the beginning of 2022, the international situation has been
complicated, and the world economic growth has been slowing
down. The feed prices have significantly increased, globally and
domestically, as the frequent and scattered domestic outbreaks
of the pandemic have caused a serious impact on the stability
of the economy. The Group implemented various measures to
enhance and streamline the procurement process and adopt a
consolidated procurement platform so as to reduce purchasing
costs. The Company has lowered operating costs through improving
the formula, adjusting the feed mix, enhancing the health of cows,
raising AMY per milkable cow, broadening sources of income and
reducing expenditure, which effectively alleviated the impact arising
from the increase in the prices of certain feeds. During the year, the
Group successfully kept unit cost of sales of raw milk before inter-
segment offset at RMB2.97/kg (2021: RMB2.82/kg), representing a
yoy increase of RMBO0.15/kg. Out of which, the feed cost per kg of raw
milk amounted to RMB2.33/kg (2021: RMB2.11/kg), representing a
yoy increase of RMB0.22/kg which was mainly due to the rise in feed
prices.

Gross Profit and Profitability
The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and
gross profit margin of our business for the years indicated:

kk}%l:j nﬂﬂ& jfﬁ

mﬂiimux B 2E s Ik ALK
IR R NGBS AR c BB SR UK
ERBTETERTREGE  BRIMIEHER X
FFEEJ:}I' AREBEZFIE - NEMECEREBRE
RIEBNG— KRBT EHEE  BRERBRA BB
BLFRRAL T - ARRRERE  BEREASEHE
BEMESENENFHEIES  FREAAKRKE
BN - BRCEH T o FARHER LR R
Z o WAFE  AEBERAI S ZBMIEHATH R
BB EERARNARK 2977,/ A (2021
F o ARM2827T/Af) - FHIEMARKO.15
TS A B AT RN KA BARE
23370, AT (20214 « ARM2117T,/AFF)
I ARB0.227T, /A TEAFFRHE LK
FrER -

ERRARIRE
TREINAREERBERAARFRENERNREFER
R4 -

2022 2021
2022%F 20214

Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit margin
ER ERE EH ELES

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREET T
Raw milk business R 3,095,043 31.1% 2,534,911 36.2%
Feeds sales business BRI} 3H 5 SR 15 171,936 7.3% 14,564 19.8%
Total ast 3,266,979 26.6% 2,549,475 36.0%

The Company'’s financial performance is highly correlated with
market prices and costs of raw milk and also affected by the milk
yield of each milkable cow. In general, when milk prices increase,
the Company's profitability will increase correspondingly under
normal operation condition. When milk yield improves, the unit
cost of sales of raw milk will correspondingly decrease relatively.

ARARMPHRIRETHIERKAZ = HE
- TEBBERITHNENEFE - —RME -
EERZET BHEL  NARANE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W LD

During the year, gross profit of the Group’s raw milk business
amounted to RMB3,095.0 million (2021: RMB2,534.9 million),
representing an increase of 22.1% yoy, which was mainly due to
the increase in the sales volume of raw milk. Gross profit margin
of the Group's raw milk business stood at 31.1% (2021: 36.2%),
representing a drop of 5.1 ppt yoy, mainly due to the rise in feed
prices and the drop in the ASP of raw milk. The gross profit of the
Group's feeds sales business was RMB171.9 million (December
2021: RMB14.6 million), showing relatively good profitability.

Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value Less Costs to
Sell of Dairy Cows

As at 31 December 2022, the biological assets of the Group were
valued at RMB10,631.2 million (31 December 2021: RMB9,404.9
million) by an independent qualified professional valuer,
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
representing an increase of 13.0% yoy, mainly due to the increase
of herd size.

Losses arising from changes in the fair value of dairy cows less costs
to sell dairy cows were RMB988.2 million as at 31 December 2022
(31 December 2021: RMB956.0 million), representing an increase of
3.4% yoy.

Gains Arising on Initial Recognition of Raw Milk at Fair
Value Less Costs to Sell at the Point of Harvest

During the year, the gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk
at fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest amounted to
RMB2,887.5 million (2021: RMB2,378.4 million), representing an
increase of 21.4% yoy, mainly due to the increase in sales volume of
raw milk.

International Financial Reporting Standards requires that raw milk
harvested was initially measured at fair value less costs to sell, and
the difference between the fair value less costs to sell and the
actual costs incurred was booked to profit or loss account.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W&o

Other Income HAgug A

During the year, other income amounted to RMB201.6 million RAFE + Eflg AR/ ARKE201.68 &7T(2021
(2021: RMB123.8 million) which mainly consisted of government 4 : AR®123.88&7L) * T EVEETMHAL -
grants and interest income, of which interest income accounted | EWALE - EHRFERARBARK0LIBET
for RMB60.4 million (2021: RMB46.1 million), while the government (20214 : AR¥46.15&7T) » BIFHEAAR
grants amounted to RMB109.9 million (2021: RMB64.1 million).  #109.98 &7t (20214 : AR¥641BET) - K
Government grants mainly consisted of subsidies for agricultural [T EEZRFEHREBENHUREAEEE

projects and subsidies for the operations of the Group. B -
Operating Expenses RERX

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Selling and distribution costs THE Ko SHR AR 369,887 183,732
Administrative expenses TR 730,203 379,065
Total operating expenses R 1,100,090 562,797

The total operating expenses was RMB1,100.1 million during RAFE @ KEHZBERHARK1,1001858
the year (2021: RMB562.8 million), representing an increase of  J£(2021 : AR¥562.8EET) * AL IMARE
RMB537.3 million or 95.5% yoy. The analysis is as follows: 537.3B 87T RHIERI5.5% « DT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W LD

32

Selling and distribution costs
The analysis of selling and distribution costs is as follows:

HERDHAX
HERDHERASI AT

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Transportation costs and others BEE N EAM 352,349 179,090
Taxes and surcharges e KM 17,538 4,642
Total selling and distribution costs HE R R 2% 369,887 183,732

Selling and distribution costs mainly consisted of
transportation costs for sales of raw milk, transportation costs
and other expenses (mainly salaries and other daily expenses
of the sales department) for sales of feeds, as well as taxes
and surcharges related expenses. During the year, selling and
distribution costs stood as RMB369.9 million (2021: RMB183.7
million), representing an increase of RMB186.2 million.
Among which, the transportation costs for sales of raw milk
amounted to RMB207.5 million (2021: RMB157.5 million), with
an increase of RMB50.0 million or 31.7% yoy, mainly due to
the comprehensive impact of the Group's increase in sales
volume of raw milk and the decrease in unit transportation
costs; and the transportation and other expenses for sales of
feed amounted to RMB144.8 million (2021: RMB21.6 million),
mainly due to the significant growth in sales of feeds this year
resulting in an increase in the selling expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included remuneration of
management staff (including equity-based share award
expenses) and depreciation charges of office building,
staff quarters and facilities, and other daily administrative
expenses. During the year, administrative expenses amounted
to RMB730.2 million (2021: RMB379.1 million), representing an
increase of RMB351.1 million or 92.6% yoy, which was mainly
due to: 1) the impact of the different periods in which the
administrative expenses were accounted for in the Group's
consolidated financial statements in the corresponding years
arising from the companies acquired by the Group; 2) with
the expansion of the Group's business scale, the number of
management personnel has been increased to match the
Group's strategic development needs, and corresponding
administrative expenses having increased; and 3) during
the year, the Group comprehensively upgraded and
optimized the performance incentive and employee welfare
system, continuously motivated employees to create good
performance for the Group, and corresponding management
remuneration has increased. During the year, the Group has
achieved a significant increase in major operating indicators,
which was far beyond expectations and had brought
satisfactory incentive results. The Group is committed to
establishing a sound talent development and incentive
system to safeguard the realization of the Group's strategic
objectives.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED EHEEEEER T RESE  HIK
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL B&mE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Impairment losses recognised in respect of: BT S IE R R EEE

Trade receivables FEUE SR 1,965 -

Other receivables H b fE UL 3R I8 30 476

Total &t 1,995 476
Other Gains and Losses, Net Htt iz R EEFE

During the year, net losses arising from other gains and losses RAAREE » NEEHRSEMNSREBRAESSN
amounted to RMB376.7 million (2021: net gains of RMB51.1 million)  E5#E% 5845 A RIE376.7H 8 T (20214 « WzsF
mainly consisting of net amount of foreign exchange (gains)/losses, ZEARBS1I1EET) @+ T2 IEIMNE (W) B
fair value (gain)/loss on derivative financial instruments, impairment  8%%8 - T4 2R T AN A FE ) KA -
provision for fixed assets. The breakdown of other gains and losses TEERBEFS - Mz MEERMAN

is as follows: T
2022 2021
20225 202148
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Other gains and losses, net: Hipl s R B 1RFEE
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) HNE B 1R (MRzS) /F 58 377,346 (84,287)
(Gains)/loss on disposal of property, plant and HEMZE - BRE RERED
equipment (%), B8 (15,322) 9,659
Gains on termination of lease agreements RIEEE W RA R (3,652) -
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets REHMETLEENEBR 165 -
Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment #1% « /5 K& #EREEE 1,895 -
Fair value gain on structured deposits EREFEZTN AR EERE (2,465) (1,821)
Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative financial PTELRMI AENRNFEEE
instruments (Yezs)
Foreign currency forward contracts HNEREIE XY 2,172 1,999
Foreign currency option contracts INEERRES X (53,321) 90,884
Capped and floored cross currency swap HIEHERR X 5 5 69,844 (67,537)
18,695 25,346
Total Ll 376,662 (51,103)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Costs

During the year, finance costs amounted to RMB379.6 million (2021:
RMB198.1 million), representing an increase of RMB181.5 million
or 91.6% yoy, mainly due to the combined effects of the different
consolidation periods of the companies acquired by the Group in
the corresponding years and the increase in financing scale.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

The Group's cash EBITDA amounted to RMB2,740.2 million during
the year (2021: RMB2,434.3 million), representing a yoy growth of
12.6%. The cash EBITDA margin was 22.3% (2021: 34.4%), with a yoy
decrease of 12.1 ppt.

Taking into account the above factors, profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB562.5 million during the year
(2021: RMB1,018.8 million), with a decrease by 44.8% yoy.

During the year, basic earnings per Share of the Company (the
“"Share”) was RMB7.16 cents (2021: RMB14.43 cents per Share).
Diluted earnings per Share was RMB7.13 cents (2021: RMB14.39
cents per Share).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2022, the net gearing ratio, which was
calculated on the basis of the amount of total interest-bearing
borrowings less cash and deposit assets as a percentage of the
total equity, was 85.2% (31 December 2021: 56.1%) with a yoy
increase of 29.1 ppt.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s available and unutilized
credit facilities were approximately RMB5,759.9 million (31
December 2021: RMB5,618.0 million). Having considered (i) cash
flow forecast from operating activities of continuing operation; (ii)
existing financial resources and gearing level of the Group, the
Directors believe that the Group's financial resources are sufficient
to meet its debt repayment, day-to-day operations, contracted
capital expenditures as at 31 December 2022.

Operating Activities

During the year, the Group's net cash inflow generated from
operating activities amounted to RMB1,577.1 million (2021: net
cash inflow of RMB1,868.7 million), which decreased by RMB291.6
million yoy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN WL

Investing Activities

During the year, the Group’s net cash outflow from investing
activities amounted to RMB3,991.5 million (2021: net cash outflow
of RMB2,873.8 million), which is increased by RMB1,117.7 million
yoy, mainly due to the increase of the breeding cost in biological
assets and the increase in payment of consideration in relation to
the equity acquisition.

Financing Activities

During the year, the Group's net cash inflow generated from
financing activities amounted to RMB2,588.2 million (2021: net
cash inflow of RMB1,639.7 million), which is increased by RMB948.5
million yoy, mainly due to the increase of the financing scale.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2022, the total interest-bearing borrowings of
the Group was RMB12,470.9 million (2021: RMB8,494.7 million),
representing a yoy increase of 46.8%.

Details are set out as below:

BRETE

RAFER  AEBHNKRETHHESREFRL
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2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Borrowings: B

Bank borrowings RITHERK 8,583,585 4,666,016
Other borrowings HA B3 293,819 637,004
Long term bonds REMES 3,493,016 3,191,719
Short term debenture MHmE S 100,522 -
12,470,942 8,494,739

Carrying value repayable: EEEREE
Within one year —F AR 4,989,334 2,846,348
Between one to two years —Z2ZFR 1,852,203 1,252,000
Between two to five years —Z2RHFNRN 4,955,736 4,326,143
Over five years FEMNE 673,669 70,248
12,470,942 8,494,739
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE 8 R D T

The following is an analysis of the respective borrowings: BHRERIFTWOT -
e Bank borrowings o IBITER
During the year, the annual interest rate of bank borrowings RAFERN  RITEFOFENEEER
varied from 1.65% to 8.16% (2021: from 1.21% to 7.26%). 1.65%ZE8.16% (20214 : 1.21%%E7.26%) °
The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term bank TRFE 202212 A31 B 8952 B R K HASR
borrowings as at 31 December 2022: TTHEK
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Bank borrowings: MITERK :

Unsecured borrowings RS N 7,071,053 4,064,347

Secured borrowings BB ER 1,512,532 601,669
8,583,585 4,666,016

Carrying amounts repayable: EEEREE

Within one year —FE R 4,831,164 2,380,683

Between one to two years —FERER 1,772,370 1,234,489

Between two to five years MEERFNR 1,453,997 980,596

Over five years FFEMNUE 526,054 70,248
8,583,585 4,666,016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Hp i
RAFEER  HtbEROFEFRERD
3.59%%12.00%(20214F : 3.85%212.00%) °

e Other borrowings o
During the year, the annual interest rate of other borrowings
varied from 3.59% to 12.00% (2021: from 3.85% to 12.00%).

TRINBN2022F12 A3 AR R RHH

The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term other

borrowings as at 31 December 2022:

&R

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T AREFT
Other borrowings: HAERK

Unsecured borrowings ERERE R 268,403 557,217
Secured borrowings BEAER 25,416 79,787
293,819 637,004

Carrying amounts repayable: FEEEREE
Within one year —F AR 22,704 433,676
Between one to two years —FERER 79,833 17,511
Between two to five years MEEZRFRN 43,667 185,817
Over five years hENE 147,615 -
293,819 637,004

e Longterm bonds RBES

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT

Carrying amounts repayable: EEEREE
Within one year —F AR 34,944 31,989
Between two to five years WEZRFERN 3,458,072 3,159,730
3,493,016 3,191,719
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GROUP STRUCTURE

Save for disclosed in this report, during the year, there was no
material change in the structure of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of ordinary shares in
issue of the Company was 7,915,662,048 shares (31 December 2021:
7,915,662,048 shares).

As at 31 December 2022, the net assets attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately RMB11,264.1 million
(31 December 2021: approximately RMB10,864.9 million), the net
borrowings of the Group (total interest-bearing borrowings less
cash and deposit assets) amounted to approximately RMB9,921.7
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB6,236.4 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE OF

ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, no buildings and equipment of the
Company (31 December 2021: nil) were pledged as security for the
Group's borrowings.

As at 31 December 2022, biological assets with carrying value of
RMB831.8 million (31 December 2021: RMB770.4 million), time
deposits of RMB131.4 million (31 December 2021: RMB127.0
million), trade receivables of RMB19.7 million (31 December 2021:
RMB7.25 million) and properties of RMB127.0 million (31 December
2021: RMB112.1 million) were pledged as security for the Group's
borrowings.

Except as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s capital commitments in
relation to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB261.8 million (31 December 2021: RMB244.5
million) with a increase of RMB17.3 million yoy, mainly due to the
increase of newly built dairy farms.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W LD

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
Acquisition of Aiyangniu Technology

The acquisition of 75% equity interest in Aiyangniu Technology was
approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 8 June 2022. Aiyangniu Technology is principally engaged
in the operation of animal husbandry e-commerce platform,
animal husbandry service cloud platform, animal husbandry service
business, sale of feedstuffs, additives and veterinary medicine, and
trade consulting of agricultural and livestock products in the PRC.
The Group believes that the acquisition of Aiyangniu Technology
can further leverage the industrial chain synergy advantages of the
Group as a leading dairy enterprise, and enable the provision of
services such as digital technology, supply chain finance, breeding
technology and other services through the ecological sharing
platform to upstream and downstream customers, enhancing the
Group's profitability.

The acquisition of 75% equity interest in Aiyangniu Technology was
completed on 28 June 2022. For details of the acquisition, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 15 March 2022
and the circular dated 15 May 2022.

Entry into an Entity Incorporation Agreement with Rixin
Investment

On 22 June 2022, Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern
Farming”) and Rixin Investment entered into an agreement to
establish a company for investment in the new dairy farms in
Inner Mongolia of the PRC. The shareholding of the company is
held as to 51% by Modern Farming and 49% by Rixin Investment.
The registered capital of the company is RMB1 billion and each
of Modern Farming and Rixin Investment commits to contribute
RMB510,000,000 and RMB490,000,000, respectively, in the capital
of the company.

With the support of the PRC government and favourable national
policies, setting up dairy farms by investing in such kind of company
could reduce short-term capital expenditure and improve the
cash flow of the Company, and the contribution of extra herd size
thereafter will further strengthen the Group's dairy farming business
and enhance the Group’s competitiveness in terms of economies
of scale, product quality and pricing of fresh raw milk. Since it is
agreed that Mengniu Group will purchase the qualified raw milk
from the company’s invested new dairy farms, the proceeds from
the sales of raw milk will have a positive contribution to the Group's
revenue and profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For details of entering into the agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 22 June 2022.

Save as disclosed, during the year, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group had no
significant investments during the year.

PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group does not
have any concrete plans for material investments and capital assets.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, our Directors
have confirmed that, as of 31 December 2022, there were no
circumstances that would give rise to a disclosure requirement
under Rules 13.13 to 13.19 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules”).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, no other material
events occurred during the year and up to the date of this report.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Group mainly operates its business in mainland China,
and the foreign exchange risks related to its operations are not
significant. Even so, the Group still strictly monitors and controls
potential financial risks. The Group’s major financial instruments
include equity instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, bank borrowings, other borrowings, long term bonds,
short term debenture and derivative financial instruments. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E E% J= lﬂL i & Tﬁ

The Group was primarily subject to foreign currency risk from the
movement of the exchange rates between RMB against USD. We
manage the foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures and may enter
into foreign currency option contracts or capped and floored cross
currency swap, when necessary, to manage its foreign exchange
exposure.

We manage the interest rate risk (if any) by performing regular
reviews of the Group's net interest rate exposures and may enter
into interest rate swap contracts, when necessary, to manage its
interest rate exposure.

For credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action
if necessary is taken to recover overdue debts.

The management believes the risks associated with the financial
instruments were properly managed and didn't pose material
impact to the Group’s operation.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION

OF EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 8,455
employees (31 December 2021: 6,772 employees) in the PRC and
Hong Kong. As a result of continuous expansion of the Group's
business scale, the number of employees increased during the
year, and the total staff costs of the Group amounted to (excluding
equity-settled share award expense) approximately RMB976.0
million (2021: RMB639.3 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits,
under the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, as well as life
insurance and medical insurance.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions to publicly administered pension
insurance plans on a mandatory basis. Payments to defined
contribution retirement benefit under the state-managed
retirement benefit schemes in the PRC (the “State-managed
Retirement Benefit Schemes”) are charged as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contribution. The PRC employees of the Group are eligible
members of the State-managed Retirement Benefit Schemes
operated by the government of the PRC. The employees of the
PRC subsidiaries of the Company are required to contribute
in accordance with employee pension insurance and other
insurance benefits requirements on monthly basis to the State-
managed Retirement Benefit Schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the State-managed
Retirement Benefit Schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes.

In 2022, based on the needs of business development, the Group
formulated a human resources strategy consisted of five key
initiatives, i.e. reshaping cultural strength, upgrading organizational
management, accelerating echelon construction, deepening talent
recruitment and innovating performance incentives. Its industry-first
“four-wheel drivers” leadership model and “diamond” professional
power model, through attracting, retaining and cultivating the
Company's elite professionals, aimed to create capable generalists,
build a first-class talent supply chain system and realize the talent-
driven strategy. Moreover, the Group strictly abided by various
relevant laws and regulations and offered standardized salary,
performance evaluation policies and diversified welfare policies to
attract and retain employees, striving to provide all employees with
the remuneration and benefits they deserve and being committed
to achieving the Group's strategic goals together.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W LD

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Upholding the principle of “safety and quality come first”,
the Group is proactive when it comes to fulfilling its social
responsibility. The Group devotes great effort to strike a balance
between business growth and social responsibility, so as to convey
the Group's care and blessing to all stakeholders. The Group is
committed to improving the quality of its products by providing
consumers with a commitment to provide healthy, safe, nutritious
and high-quality dairy products. Meanwhile, it adheres to the
production principle of energy conservation and environmental
protection.

The Group actively promotes the economic development of the
surrounding areas where the farms are located and increases the
income of local residents. The Group actively implements the
precise poverty alleviation policy, responds to the call of poverty
alleviation, and is devoted to poverty alleviation within the industry
and society. Firstly, the contracts of silage planting were signed
with local farmers in the farming areas to reduce the impact of
natural disasters on crop harvest and simultaneously solve the
local employment problem. The Group’s farms provide multiple
jobs throughout the country, effectively alleviating the pressure of
surplus rural labor force and increasing the income of local farmers.
The Group also undertakes social responsibility and promotes
local economic development through measures such as making
direct donation of materials, money and paying visits to nursing
homes. During the year, the Group has made charitable and other
donations amounted to approximately RMB6.71 million.

PROSPECTS

2023 is a crucial year for the Group to steadily advance the “Five-
Year Lead Plan”. With the vision of “deploy the whole industry
chain, innovate with digital intelligence, and be a global dairy
farming leader”, the Group will promote continuous growth in
production and strengthen cash flow management, and will also
focus on the five major strategies (i.e., main channel, new business,
cash flow, strong performance and talent pool) to promote the
continuous improvement of operating performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We expect that the dairy herd of the Group could reach more than
500,000 heads by 2025, with an annual output of 3.6 million tons of
raw milk. Modern Dairy will rely on the dairy farming business to
create a market-oriented feeds module, increase its share in the
feeds market, strengthen and expand the feed center of Liangyuan
Technology and Aiyangniu Technology platform and accelerate
the development of the beef cattle industry, and it will also further
improve the layout of the entire industrial chain and improve the
Company’'s comprehensive business capabilities, so as to develop
itself into an integrated dairy farming group operating through the
entire industry chain.

Th Group will implement the business strategy of “1 Focus, 3 Shifts,
3 Focuses”. Focus on cost leadership strategy and bring into play
our core competitive advantages in cost reduction and efficiency,
shift from a single strong dairy industry to a full value chain and
further improve the layout of the whole industry chain, from simply
building our own farms to diversifying our farming operation model
and efficiently integrating industry resources, from upgrading the
processing side to upgrading the raw milk side, and increasing the
production of specialty milk. Focus on scientific standardization
of dairy feeding management, promoting the process of digital
intelligence innovation and promoting low-carbon green
transformation development.

2023 is the first year to implement the spirits of the 20th National
Congress of the Communist Party of China, and it is also the year
when China officially grows its way out of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Social and economic activities have basically returned to normal,
and the people are gearing up for a new journey. Driven by
demand for milk sources, policy guidance and technology, the
Group will have a bright future for development. In the future,
Modern Dairy will continue to actively undertake the responsibility
of revitalizing the national dairy industry through leading the
industry towards a sustainable development model of digital
intelligence innovations and low-carbon environmental protection,
and will also keep improving the ecology of the whole industry
chain to build itself into one of the world’s leading and socially
responsible dairy farming groups.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SUN Yugang, aged 42, is an executive Director of the
Company and chief executive officer of the Group. Mr. Sun was
a manager of the finance and investment department of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd. between May 2002
and March 2007. Mr. Sun was the chief financial officer, executive
director and vice president of the Company from March 2007 to
September 2016 and the non-executive director of the Company
from October 2016 to March 2017. Concurrently, Mr. Sun worked
for Hebei Yinong Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (A3t B B #84E R
H AR /AT]) as a director, vice president and chief financial officer
from October 2016 to August 2018 and for Jiangsu Yuguan Modern
Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.* (T&#ERKEERBERA
R]) as a vice president and chief financial officer from August 2018
to October 2019. Mr. Sun re-joined the Group in November 2019 as
an executive Director of the Group. He was promoted to the chief
executive officer of the Group on 30 June 2022. Mr. Sun graduated
from Inner Mongolia Finance and Economics College, majoring
in accounting. Mr. Sun has extensive management and operation
experience in corporate finance, international financing, corporate
governance, investment, mergers and acquisitions and the dairy
industry.

Mr. ZHU Xiaohui, aged 52, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company and the vice president of the Group on
1 July 2021, and has been re-designated as an executive Director
of the Company and the chief financial officer of the Group on 30
November 2021. Mr. Zhu joined Fuyuan International in August
2014 and served as the vice president of Fuyuan International
from August 2014 to December 2018, the senior vice president
of Fuyuan International from December 2018 to June 2019 and
the vice president and the secretary of the board of directors of
Fuyuan International since March 2020. Prior to joining Fuyuan
International, Mr. Zhu had spent approximately 18 years with
COFCO Group and approximately 4 years with Dalian Wanda
Group Inc., Ltd serving as senior management positions. Mr. Zhu
has over 30 years of experience in corporate governance, financial
management, financing, investment, mergers and acquisitions, and
management of large enterprises, and also has extensive operation
and management experience in the dairy farming industry. Mr. Zhu
graduated from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies with a
bachelor's degree in international business administration and the
University of International Business and Economics with a master’s
degree in business administration.

*  For identification purposes only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, aged 46, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2019 and was appointed as
the vice chairman of the board of directors of the Company in
July 2021. He was redesignated to the chairman of the board of
directors of the Company on 1 February 2023. Mr. Zhao is currently
the vice president and the head of milk sourcing and animal
husbandry industry chain business unit of Mengniu Group, and is
responsible for strengthening and collaborating the management
of animal husbandry industry segment. Mr. Zhao has served
successively as regional manager, sales director, general manager
of operation and general manager of planning and logistics of
Mengniu Group. Mr. Zhao also currently serves as a non-executive
director of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (stock code:
1432. HK). Mr. Zhao has almost 20 years of experience in the dairy
industry and, with profound leadership, he specializes in both sales
management and supply chain management. Mr. Zhao has in-
depth knowledge of the PRC dairy market and great foresight in
the PRC dairy industry. Mr. Zhao graduated from Beijing University
of Aeronautics and Astronautics with a master’s degree in
information engineering and management.

Mr. ZHANG Ping, aged 58, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2016. Mr. Zhang Ping joined
Mengniu Group in 2014 and was appointed as an executive
director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (stock code:
2319.HK) in December 2021. He is currently a vice president and
the chief financial officer of Mengniu Group. Mr. Zhang Ping is also
a non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (stock
code: 1230. HK) and China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (stock
code: 1432. HK), and a director of Shanghai Milkground Food Tech
Company Limited (stock code: 600882.SH) which is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang Ping is also a director of a
number of Mengniu’s subsidiaries, including its major subsidiaries
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited and
Inner Mongolia Tegaoxin Dairy Co ., Ltd.* (RE G HFR AR S
BPBRAT]). He has over 33 years of experience in the fast-moving
consumer goods industry, specializing in management of operation,
finance and audit, as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang Ping worked
in Swire Beverages group companies as manager responsible for
internal audit and system development, finance director, general
manager of bottler manufacturing company and chief executive
officer of Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr.
Zhang Ping graduated from the Beijing Information Science and
Technology University with a Master’s Degree in Management
Engineering.

*  For identification purposes only
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EELSAEREERE

Mr. CHEN Yiyi, aged 49, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director in February 2023. Mr. Chen is also a vice president
and head of strategic management of Mengniu Group, and is
responsible for the strategic and investment management. Before
joining Mengniu Group, Mr. Chen worked for many well-known
international companies such as Nestle SA, International Paper Co,
Tetra Pak Sidel, China Resources Enterprise and listed companies
in Hong Kong and Mainland China for 25 years serving as the
national commercial manager, North Asia regional director, vice
chief strategy officer, president and executive director and other
senior management positions. Having served in the fast-moving
consumer goods industry such as dairy and retail industry for
many years, Mr. Chen has had extensive experience in industrial
operation integration, strategic planning management, corporate
cooperation and mergers and acquisitions and industry-wide vision
and international business experience. Mr. Chen graduated from
Fudan University with Bachelor's degree in law.

Ms. GAN Lu, aged 40, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2020. Ms. Gan is the chief
investment officer of Beijing Hosen Capital Management, LLP
("Hosen Capital”), one of the first private equity management
institutions registered with the China National Development
and Reform Commission pursuant to the new equity investment
regulations. Ms. Gan is also the person-in-charge of the office of
Hosen Capital in Hong Kong. Ms. Gan joined Hosen Capital in
2018. Ms Gan has over 13 years experience in the financial and
investment sectors. Before joining Hosen Capital, Ms. Gan worked
for the Hong Kong office of New Hope Group Co., Ltd, for four
years as head of its Hong Kong office and chief investment officer
of its financial division. Ms. Gan also worked for China International
Capital Corporation Limited (CICC) in Beijing and Hong Kong
for six years as the head of the Hong Kong operations support
coordination department. Ms. Gan graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a master’s degree in business administration.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Shengli, aged 57, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Li is currently an independent non-executive
director of AUSTASIA GROUP PTE. LTD. (stock code: 2425. HK).
Mr. Li graduated from Shihezi Agricultural College with a bachelor’s
degree in animal husbandry and veterinary science in July 1987.
He then obtained his doctorate degree in animal nutrition science
from China Agricultural University in July 1996. Since 2003, Mr. Li
has been with China Agricultural University, working as an assistant
professor and professor in multiple times. Mr. Li is currently the
vice-director (Animal Nutrition) of the State Key Laboratories,
director of the Sino-US Dairy Research Center of China Agricultural
University, director of the Sino-Dutch Dairy Development Center,
chief scientist in national dairy products industry technology system,
a specialist to the China School Milk Programme and a specialist
in the Cattle and Poultry Research Centre of Beijing Sanyuan
Breeding Technology Co,. Ltd. Mr. Li is a specialist to the Working
Committee of National Dairy Herd Improvement Programme
(DHI) of the Dairy Association of China and the chairman of China
Institute of Animal Husbandry and Veterinary Cattle Chapter.
Up to 17 June 2021, Mr. Li was an independent non-executive
director of China Zhongdi Dairy Holdings Company Limited
(delisted, prior stock code: 1492. HK). In 2007, Mr. Li obtained a
patent on Rubeili (FLf% %), a type of high- energy and high-protein
supplementary feed for dairy cows. Mr. Li was awarded the second
prize and a prize of the Beijing Science and Technology Award in
2000 and 2007, respectively, and was recognized by the Beijing
Municipal Government as “Top 10 Scientists with Contribution to
the Economic Development in Rural Villages of Beijing” in 2009.
He also received the first prize for advancement in science and
technology awarded by the Education Department in 2012, the first
prize for Chinese Agricultural Science awarded by the Ministry of
Agriculture in 2013 and the second prize of National Scientific and
Technological Progress Award in 2014.
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EELSAEREERE

Mr. LEE Kong Wai Conway, aged 68, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive director of West China Cement Limited
(stock code: 2233. HK), Chaowei Power Holdings Limited (stock
code: 0951. HK), GOME Retail Holdings Limited (stock code: 0493.
HK), NVC International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2222. HK),
Yashili International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1230. HK), GCL
New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 0451. HK), and Guotai
Junan Securities Limited Co., Ltd (stock code: 2611. HK, 601211.
SH, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Lee was the independent non-
executive director of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (stock code: 1115.
HK) until February 2020. Mr. Lee has been also appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Intchains Group Limited (a
company listed on NASDAQ Stock Market, stock code: ICG) since
March 2023. In addition, he was an independent non-executive
director of China Rundong Auto Group Limited (delisted, prior
stock code: 1365. HK) until December 2020 and WH Group Limited
(stock code: 0288. HK) until June 2022. Mr. Lee is a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
The Chartered Accountants, Australia and New Zealand, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Macau Society of
Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Lee was a member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan Province from
2008 to 31 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience
in public accounting and auditing, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition and initial public offerings. From September 1980 to
September 2009, Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young
and held key leadership positions in his development of the firm in
China.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHOW Ming Sang, aged 50, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1 July
2021. Mr. Chow was the general manager of the Risk and Control
Department of the Tahoe Group (the shares of which are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code: 000732. SZ)
from October 2018 to June 2019, overseeing the company'’s risk
management and corporate governance of all business sectors
like residential, commercial, hotel, education, insurance, medical,
estate management and ageing care. Mr. Chow is currently the
managing director of Beijing Xinshi Anye Management Consulting
Co., Ltd. and an independent non-executive director of Teamway
International Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239. HK) and
Redco Healthy Living Company Limited (stock code: 2370. HK).
He was an independent non-executive director of China Rundong
Auto Group Limited (delisted, prior stock code: 1365. HK) until
August 2020.

Mr. Chow obtained his bachelor degree in Business Administration
(Accounting) from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 1995. Mr. Chow is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified Internal
Auditor. Mr. Chow has over 27 years working experience in various
industries in auditing, corporate governance and risk management
advisory where he was the advisory partner of Ernst & Young (China)
Advisory Limited since 2007 and was responsible for managing the
Risk Advisory sub-service line's strategic growth and development
in various regions of Mainland China since 2011. From 2014 to 2016,
Mr. Chow became the Committee member of The Internal Controls
General Standards Committee of The Ministry of Finance (PRC) (#
BB B AR A BRI S iZEZ B ® % 8), the only Hong Kong resident
and Big Four partner being appointed as a committee member.
Mr. Chow is also involved in promoting innovation where he acts
as start-up coach of over 20 incubators and accelerators in China
and Hong Kong to assist young entrepreneurs in enhancing their
business from financial and strategic development perspectives.
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EELSAEREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GUO Wenju, aged 52, is the secretary of the Party Committee
of the Group. Mr. Guo joined the Group in July 2021. He served
as the deputy secretary of the Party Committee in Mengniu Group
from March 2010 to June 2017, and served as the deputy secretary
of the Party Committee and secretary of the disciplinary committee
in Mengniu Group from July 2017 to December 2020. In 2017,
he obtained a master’s degree from the graduate school of the
Central Party School.

Mr. HAN Chunlin, aged 50, is the vice president and general
manager of the second operation center of the Group. Mr. Han is
also a director of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. and Helinger
Modern Farming Co., Ltd., both of which are subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Han joined the Group in September 2008 and was
appointed as executive director of the Company on 14 November
2008 until 1 April 2020. From February 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Han
served as the deputy general manager of marketing in Crayon
Xiaoxin (Fujian) Food Co., Ltd. From January 1999 to September
2004, Mr. Han worked as a marketing manager in the liquid milk
department of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Before that, Mr. Han
worked as the branch manager of the milk powder department
of Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Co., Ltd. from July 1994
to January 1999. Mr. Han has over 17 years of experience in
the Chinese catering industry and has extensive experience in
marketing and ranching operations. Mr. Han obtained a bachelor’s
degree in biology from Inner Mongolia University, China in July
1994, and a master’s degree in agricultural promotion from China
Agricultural University in 2015.

Mr. ZHANG Xue, aged 55, is the vice president of the Group, the
chief engineer of the technical department of the Group. Before
joining the Group in 2021, Mr. Zhang has been working in ranch
technical positions and ranch management for more than 20 years.
From November 2014 to November 2016, Mr. Zhang served as
the chief livestock pastor and assistant vice president of Fuyuan
International; from December 2016 to November 2019, he served
as the vice president of Fuyuan International, and from November
2019 to August 2021, he worked for Fuyuan International as the
chief operating officer, responsible for the overall technical and
operational work of Fuyuan International. He obtained a doctorate
degree in animal nutrition from the Bingen Institute, Germany in
2001.

52 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022

SNEEE

XBEE 5257 BAKEELZER A%k
ER2021F7 A MAREE - 2010563 5 £2017
FORESRFSEETEZEIER 2017872
220 N2AGEERSEEIETEZRER ££E
30 0 2017 F R RERITEPTIE LB o

BEMEE 505k 0 AAEERILFELE —F L
ARRIB o BB A TRAARNNTIMB AT A E (S
E)AERARIRMMERERKERTRARNE
£ BBEAER2008F A MBAREE W HRF11
R14BEZREAAR R HITEESEZ 20206441
Bk o 8854200652 8 £ 200847 A BRI &
SNHEBDRBRERADHTLHEIALIE -
R19994 1 A E2004F98 » BEERATEHSF
HORAEINERPI T S - IR 2 AT » BB
RI1994F7 B E1999F 1 A ERSEFFEEEE
B ERARNIH IR D MEIE - 8BEA
RPESFEERA17FER  ELELEHAINS
BIEKES o BEAMI9AETAETERNSE E X
BREBEYB L BN BELER2015FERRZ
EpNEFEEL i AT = VA

REBELE 555 0 AASEEIBE - SR
@ TRRAD - SRAEAEMR2021FMALREERE - Eit
Z B —E R EHUS FEIT E A RS B R T {E208%
F - 2014F 11 AR2016F 1M A ETEREREE
A~ BhIRBIAREL ¢ 20165F12 A E 2019511 AL
EREERIAEE - 2019F 11 AE2021F8 AT E
FEREREEEE  BESREBRENAESS
HET{E - 2001 FESZERERERSYMEEFTE
BB o



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SONG Weizheng, aged 42, is the vice president of the Group
and the person in charge of purchasing and sales. Mr. Song joined
the Group in January 2020 and was in-charge-of the procurement
center of the Group, and in August 2021, he was in charge of
procurement and sales. Before joining the Group, Mr. Song
worked in Mengniu Group from December 2001 to December
2019 as the head of the quality inspection department, the head
of the production department, the manager of the milk source
department, the general manager of the milk source region, and
the general manager of the big dairy unified procurement. Mr.
Song has extensive experience in procurement and sales. Mr. Song
obtained a master’s degree in bioengineering from Inner Mongolia
University in July 2010.

Ms. YUAN Li, aged 47, is the vice president and head of human
resources & administration of the Group. Ms. Yuan joined the
Group in July 2021. Before joining the Group, she served as
manager, deputy director, director of operation management
department, project director of sharing center, and general
manager of human resources center of milk source business
department of Mengniu Group Headquarters Human Resources
Center. She has participated in and successfully led important
projects such as organizational reform at all levels, human
resources system construction, mechanism innovation, and process
optimization of Mengniu Group for many times. She has rich
theoretical and practical experience in the field of human resources
management. Ms. Yuan obtained a master’s degree from Inner
Mongolia University of Technology in 2014.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREABE

The board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and the management
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are
committed to upholding a high standard of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) and the Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited has announced
amendments to Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) which has been applied to corporate governance
reports for financial years commencing on or after 1 January
2022. Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules has been restructured
and renamed from “Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report” to “Corporate Governance Code” and the
code provision numbers are updated. As such, the code provision
numbers mentioned in this report are referring to the code
provision numbers in the predecessor Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules unless otherwise stated.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code ("CG Code"”) contained in the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance practices.
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, and up to the date
of this report, the Board has reviewed the Company's corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the Company has been
in compliance with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code,
except for the deviation from code provisions C.1.6 which provides
that non-executive Directors should attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of the shareholders
of the Company. One non-executive Director was not able to
attend the annual general meeting and the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company both of which were held on 8 June 2022
due to other business engagements.

Save as disclosed above, the Board has reviewed the Company's
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has been in compliance with all applicable code provisions of the
CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Adoption of the New Memorandum and Articles of
Association

By a special resolution passed at the 2022 annual general
meeting dated 8 June 2022, the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”) were adopted. The purpose of
the adoption was to, among others, conform with the Core
Shareholders Protection Standards as set out in the amended
Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules effective from 1 January 2022
and the relevant changes to the applicable laws of the Cayman
Islands and the Listing Rules. Other minor amendments to the
Articles were also made for corresponding as well as housekeeping
changes. For the full text of the proposed Articles of Association,
please refer to the Articles of Association and announcement of the
Company both released on and dated 8 June 2022.

THE BOARD

Role of Directors

The Company is headed by the Board which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising the Company's affairs. The Board is accountable to
the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) for managing
the Company in a responsible and effective manner. Every Director
is committed to act in the best interest of the Company and to
contribute their expertise and knowledge to the Company. The
Board formulate strategic and holistic strategies, and monitors the
Group's performance on behalf of the Shareholders.

The Board determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the
Group. In addition, the Board monitors and controls operating and
financial performance in pursuit of the Group's strategic objectives.
The day-to-day management of the Group's business is delegated
to the chief executive officer and the management of the Group
under the supervision of the executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Matters reserved for the Board and Board Committees are those
affecting the Group's overall strategic policies, financial objectives,
dividend policy, changes in accounting policies, material acquisition
and disposal of assets, investments and other significant matters.
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For the year, the Board has established the Group’s Corporate
Culture Panorama which aligns with the Group's mission, vision,
core value and strategy. Leading by enterprise spirt “Born to
be strong and go beyond ourselves”, the Directors and the
management team promote the corporate culture, sharing the
same vision and philosophy, together we strive for the better future

of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Sun Yugang, Mr.
Zhu Xiaohui, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang,
Mr. Zhao Jiejun, Mr. Zhang Ping and Ms. Gan Lu, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Shengli, Mr.
Lee Kong Wai, Conway, and Mr. Chow Ming Sang.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual
responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties
of care, skill and diligence. Comprehensive directors and officers
liability insurance coverage is in place to provide protection to the
Company, the Directors and senior management.

The Company has maintained on its website (www.moderndairyir.com)
(the “"Company Website"”) and the website of Hong Kong Exchange
and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) (the "HKEX Website")
an updated list of its Directors identifying their roles and functions.
Composition of the Board, by category of directors, is explicitly
identified in all the Company’s corporate communications.

There was no financial, business, family, or other material
relationship between the Directors of the Company and in
particular, between the Chairman of the Board of the Company
and the Chief Executive Officer.

The biographical details of the Board members are set out in the

"Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 46
to 53 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise, varied
background and experiences. Through active participation in Board
meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision making of the Group.

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term
of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under the Articles of
Association.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for
a specific term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under
the Articles of Association. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr.
Chow Ming Sang, two of the independent non-executive Directors,
have the appropriate accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
Board has received from each independent non-executive Director
a written annual confirmation of their independence and is satisfied
with their independence in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all independent non-executive Directors
meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors
of the Company is three and represents at least one-third of the
Board as required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules.

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway holds eight listed issuer directorships
as the date of this annual report. As advised by Mr. Lee that he is a
full time professional director and has high attendance for all kind
of board meetings, such that the Company believes Mr. Lee can
devote sufficient time to the Board and each of Board Committee
he engaged with listed issuers and in compliance with Appendix
14 C.1.6 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore, although Mr. Li Shengli
and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway have served as independent non-
executive Directors for more than 9 years. As independent non-
executive Directors with in-depth understanding of the Company's
operations and business, Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai have
expressed objective views and given independent guidance to
the Company over the years, and they continue demonstrating a
firm commitment to their roles. The Board considers that the long
service of Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway would not
affect their exercise of independent judgement and is satisfied that
Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway have the required
character, integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of
independent non-executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate

governance of the Company and performing the corporate

governance duties including:

(a)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

to review existing employee incentive schemes of the
Company; and

to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules (CG Code) and Appendix 27 (Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide).

During the year, the Board has fulfilled the corporate governance

functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate governance
practices.
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Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) and Chief Executive
Officer ("CEQ")

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices
and procedures. The Chairman also steers the Board and the
Company towards its corporate goals.

The CEO is responsible for the effective implementation of the
overall strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board as well as
the daily operation of the Group. For the year, the Chairman of
the Board was Mr. Lu Minfang, and the CEO was Mr. Sun Yugang,
the executive Director, who was promoted by the Board from
acting CEO to CEO of the Group with effect from June 30, 2022.
Mr. Lu Minfang resigned as non-executive Director and Chairman
of the Board, and Mr. Zhao Jiejun, the non-executive Director
was promoted by the Board as the Chairman of the Board, both
changes took effect from February 1, 2023.

With the support of the CEO and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues brought up at Board meetings and that they receive
adequate and reliable information in relation to matters discussed
at Board meetings and also other affairs of the Group on a monthly
basis in order to enable the Directors to assess the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Li Kwok Fat, has been the company secretary and financial
controller of the Company since 2016. During the year, Mr. Li
undertook not less than 15 hours of the relevant professional
training to update his skills and knowledge. The company
secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board process, as well
as communication among Board members, with Shareholders and
management.

All Directors have access to the advice and service of the Company
Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures, all applicable rules
and regulations are followed.
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BOARD PROCEDURES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has held four
meetings to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operations
and financial performance of the Group. The Directors participated
in person or through electronic means of communication. Details
of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022 are set out
as follows:

EESER
HE2022F12A31MHIEFE - EF 8T
G IR ERERBANLKER £ LIMER
B -EFARINEBETEAHIRES - BF
HEEEE  EXLZELEBREARFINR2022F
6ASHBITHREAF AT RBRRER RSB
HFBRINT

Number of Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and

general meetings attended/held during the year

FRLE/BHESEEH EFZEETHERRRAGRY

General Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director BEpg BRAE Exge FHZRE FMZERE REZRE
Executive Directors WTES
Mr. Sun Yugang (Chief Executive Officer) " RIS (#31)7 22 44 N/A N/A N/A
TEm TEH ok
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer) REBRE(BEHFE) 22 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TER A TR
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board) "o+ BEMEL(EFSLRE) 12 4/4 N/A N/A 171
Taf A
Mr. Zhang Ping REEE 22 4/4 33 22 N/A
TER
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Vice Chairman of the Board) =2 HEZ K4 (ZF 25/ E)"™ 22 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TR ik ok
Ms. Gan Lu BRat 22 4/ N/A N/A N/A
TEm TEH TEm
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Li Shengli Xy 1 22 4/4 N/A 22 N/A
TEH TR
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway TEERE 22 4/4 33 N/A 1/1
TER
Mr. Chow Ming Sang RRERE 22 44 33 22 /1
Notes: B3

(1) Mr. Sun Yugang was promoted to CEO of the Group on 30 June
2022.

2) Mr. Lu Minfang resigned as non-executive Director and Chairman of

the Board on 1 February 2023 and Mr. Zhao Jiejun was redesignated
as the Chairman of the Board on the same date.
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The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for information and
may make inquiries if necessary. Directors of the Company who
considers it necessary to seek independent professional advice in
order to perform his/her duties as a Director of the Company may
convene, or request the Company Secretary to convene, a meeting
of the Board to approve the consultation of independent legal
or other professional advisor for advice at Company’s expenses.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers of the meeting are sent to all Directors before
the proposed date of a meeting. Additional Board meetings, if
necessary, are arranged and held as and when required. During the
year, the Chairman met with the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors to exchange views on matters concerning the
business development, management and corporate governance of
the Group.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
The Board recognizes the importance and benefits of conducting
regular evaluation of its performance. An internal Board evaluation
would conduct annually in the form of questionnaire or other
methods with the aim of soliciting valuable feedback, improving
the effectiveness and enhancing accountability of the Board.

Every Director is entitled to access the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are complied
with. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by any Director during normal office hours with
reasonable advance notice.
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Appointment, Re-election of Directors and Removal

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with article 17.18 of the
articles of association of the Company. Directors appointed as an
addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be
subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the following annual
general meeting or the following general meeting of the Company
after the appointment and be subject to election at such meeting
pursuant to Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association. Also, when
an independent non-executive Director proposed for re-election
has served the Company for more than nine years, his or her re-
election will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved at
the annual general meeting.

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted board diversity policy (available on the
Company Website), which sets out the approach to diversity of
Board members. In determining the Board’s composition, the
Company considers a range of diversity elements, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and education, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. All appointments of the Board
will be made based on meritocracy and objective criteria while
taking into full account of the interest of Board's diversity. The
Company highly recognizes the benefits of having a diverse
Board with various insights from different perspectives. The
Nomination Committee has primary responsibility for identifying
and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board.
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As at date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors with
one lady and eight gentlemen with different backgrounds and
professionalism. Three of the Directors are independent non
executive Directors, each of whom promoting a critical review and
control of the board management process. Having reviewed the
board diversity policy and the Board’s composition, the Nomination
Committee considered that the requirements of the board diversity
policy had been met and no measurable objective had been set to
implement the board diversity policy.

In 2022, the Company'’s gender ratio of the workforce (including
senior management) is 67.32%:32.68% (male to female),
maintaining a good and healthy gender ratio of the workforce.
The Company endeavours to eliminate gender discrimination,
supports gender equality, and protects the legal rights and benefits
of female employees. The Company follows all internationally
recognised human rights policies stated in the United Nations
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Bill of
Human Rights and other core conventions of the International
Labor Organization. The Company treats employees with different
nationalities, ethnicities, races, genders, religious beliefs and
cultural backgrounds equally and fairly, prohibits the employment
and use of child labour, respects and protects the legitimate rights
and interests of all employees. For details, please refer to the
Company's ESG Report.

The Board will from time to time review the diversity policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL

DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The
Company shall be responsible for arranging suitable training for
all Directors at the Company’s expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. For newly appointed Director, an induction
package will be given to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the operations, business and governance policies of the Group.

A summary of training received by the Directors for the year ended
31 December 2022 according to the records provided by the

SHEEXBR
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Directors is as follows:

Attending briefings,
seminars, conference
and/or reading
materials relevant

to the director’s
duties and
responsibilities

Directors = HEFHAE - NS
B8R HHEEHR
FRESHENEY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Sun Yugang (Chief Executive Officer) BREMISTAE(BE) v
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer) KEBCE(HEYEE) v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board) ESgREE(EFETFE) 4
Mr. Zhang Ping SRS 4
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Vice Chairman of the Board) WBHELE(EF2HEE) v
Ms. Gan Lu Hiz+ v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAEHITES
Mr. Li Shengli FBNEE v
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway FRBEE v
Mr. Chow Ming Sang B R A v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In order to oversee particular aspects of the Group, the Company
had established five Board Committees under the Board,
namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee, Sustainability Committee, and the
Strategy and Development Committee with the defined terms of
reference in line with the CG Code. Except the terms of reference
of Sustainability Committee and the Strategy and Development
Committee, the terms of reference are published on the HKEX
Website and Company Website. The Board Committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances upon request. Details of these Board committees
including their composition, major responsibilities and functions
and work performed are as follows:

Remuneration Committee

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Li Shengli
and other members are Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Chow Ming Sang.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and the majority being independent non-
executive Directors of the Company.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration for all the Directors and senior
management of the Group, and make recommendations of
the remuneration packages for all the executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and the senior management to the Board.

The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees including executive Directors
and senior management of the Group is based on the skills,
knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company'’s
and the Group's affairs, and to uphold a fair and competitive
remuneration assessment mechanism. The remuneration
packages are also determined by reference to the Company's
performance and profitability, remuneration level in the industry
and the prevailing market conditions. The emolument policy for
independent non- executive Directors, mainly comprising Directors’
fees, is subject to annual assessment with reference to the market
standard. Individual Directors and senior management would not
be involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties.
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee has held two
meetings and reviewed, discussed and approved the remuneration
for the executive Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure that the level of remuneration is linked to their level of
responsibilities undertaken, reviewed the remuneration policy and
made recommendation to the Board for the remuneration for the
non-executive Directors for its approval. Remuneration Committee
has also reviewed the remuneration policy and employee incentive
schemes of the Company, as well as reviewing and approving
matters relating to share scheme of the Company under chapter 17
of Listing Rules.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

EWv%Mé%@%ﬁumaﬁ'Iﬁﬁ B
MMEAEBMRTEERSRERE 2 A
RE M*ﬁﬁ& CFIER B (KT I E B
PR - WRIERTES 2 MR EERERE
%uﬁﬁ%moﬁwééﬁﬁ%ﬁ$ﬂﬂ%%w
R R B a8 R A BB iR RIS
17EREARRNRDABEEHETIE -

SREEBKERZE2022F12A318 ILFEE 2 B
SEEWT :

Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) persons
B < S @ (B T) REAE
0-5,500,000

5,500,001-6,000,000
6,000,001-6,500,000
6,500,001-7,000,000

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 12 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai,
Conway and Mr. Chow Ming Sang and one non-executive Director,
Mr. Zhang Ping. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Chow Ming
Sang posses the relevant professional qualifications required under
the Listing rules. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Lee
Kong Wai, Conway.
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The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to oversee
the Group's financial reporting system, risk management system
and internal control procedures, and to review and monitor
the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standard. The Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year. Major
work completed by the Audit Committee during the year includes:

o reviewed the Group's annual report, interim financial
information and annual consolidated financial statements;

o reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

o reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, independence
and performance;

o reviewed the external auditor’'s management letter and the
management’s response;

o reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

o assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of
financial reporting procedures and internal control system;

o reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
systems of internal control and risk management and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function, including advising
on identification of connected parties and formulating
relevant policies;

o reviewed the connected and continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group or subsisting during
the financial year before recommending them to the Board
for approval;

o reviewed the strategies for the development of
environmental, social and governance of the Group;

o reviewed the utilisation of annual caps on certain continuing
connected transactions of the Group; and
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reviewed adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's systems
of anti-corruption policy and whistle-blowing mechanism, and
reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company
and those who deal with the Company can use, in confidence,
to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal controls or other matters.

Nomination Committee

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises one non-
executive Director Mr. Zhao Jiejun and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr.
Chow Ming Sang. Mr. Zhao Jiejun was redesignated by the Board
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee along with the
resignation of Mr. Lu Minfang who resigned on 1 February 2023.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive. The Nomination Committee has
been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meetings
and has reviewed and recommended the structure, diversity, size
and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board. It reviewed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors. It also made recommendations to the Board
on retiring Directors for re-election at the annual general meeting
held on 8 June 2022.

The terms of reference of the nomination committee are available
on the Company Website and the HKEX Website.
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Nomination Policy

The Company adopted a nomination policy for directorship (the
“Nomination Policy”,
which supplemental to the Terms of Reference of the Nomination

available on the Company Website) in 2018

Committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”). It aims
at setting out the processes and criteria for the nomination of a
candidate for directorship in the Company and ensures that all
nominations of Board members are fair and transparent in order
to facilitate the constitution of the Board with a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that is appropriate to the
requirements of the Company'’s business.

Strategy and Development Committee

The Strategy and Development Committee comprised one
executive Director, Mr. Sun Yugang, three non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Zhao Jiejun, Mr. Chen Yiyi and Ms. Gan Lu, and one
independent non- executive Director, Mr. Li Shengli. The Strategy
and Development Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhao Jiejun

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include advising on long-term development strategies and
significant investments of the Group, and conducting studies and
making recommendations on important matters that would affect
the development of the Company.

Sustainability Committee

The Board has established the Sustainability Committee on
August 24, 2022. The principal responsibilities of the Sustainability
Committee include evaluating and making decisions on the
Group's sustainability, environmental, social and governance
development strategies, reviewing the Group's sustainability
strategies, objectives and risk identification and monitoring the
performance of implementing ESG strategies.
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Members of the Sustainability Committee comprise Mr. Sun
Yugang and Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (executive Directors), Mr. Zhang Ping
(non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai,
Conway (independent non-executive Directors). Mr. Zhang Ping
was appointed as the chairman of the Sustainability Committee.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group's external auditors are Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit services (including any
potential conflict of interest) performed by the external auditors.
The amount of fees charged by the auditor generally depends
on the scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year, the
remuneration to the auditor of the Company were approximately
RMB3.00 million (2021: RMB2.60 million) for audit services and
RMB1.79 million for non-audit services, including RMB1.40 million
for interim review and RMBO0.39 million for other service (2021:
RMB1.89 million, including RMBO0.75 million for interim review,
RMBO0.95 million for other assurance service and RMB0.19 million
for other service).

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the Directors are
responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies
are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments and
estimates made are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022, the requirements of the International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations
(collectively "IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the applicable laws were complied with.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group's ability to continue as going concern. The Board has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The reporting responsibilities of external auditors of the Company

are disclosed in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 117 to
122 of this annual report.
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Pursuant to code provision D.1.2 of the CG Code, the management
of the Company has provided all members with monthly updates
giving a fair and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 3 of the Listing Rules during
the year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for annually reviewing the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system of the Group.
The scope of the review is determined and recommended by
the Audit Committee. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. Such review also considers the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Company in relation to its accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget. Risk
management and internal control review reports are circulated to
the Audit Committee members and the Board in accordance with
the approved scope.

During the year, the Group has complied with Code Provision
D.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The major features of
the risk management and internal control systems are set out as
below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

J Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.
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The Board together with senior management monitor and assess
risk regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. Based on the risk assessments conducted for
the year under review, no significant risk was identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system. The
framework of the system enables the Group to achieve objectives
regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

. Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

J Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

. Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Audit
Committee and senior management of the Group. It provides an
independent and objective assurance to safeguard the Group's
operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the Group's process on risk management,
internal control and governance. The risk based audit plans ensure
that high risk areas of the Group’s operations and resources are
specifically attended to ad hoc reviews are conducted on areas of
concern where necessary.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill
the requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and
internal control systems in general. During the year, the internal
audit department has conducted audit on farms at different regions
of the Group and reported to the senior management. The internal
audit department of the Group has also reviewed the connected
transaction of the Group and report to Audit Committee.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the year,
no significant control deficiency was identified, and the financial
internal control system, and risk management system, procedures
and policies are in place.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the risk management system
and internal control system maintained by the Group are sufficient
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use
or disposition, and that transactions are properly authorized and
proper accounting records are properly maintained.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

- basic principles of information disclosure

- information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria
thereof

- duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

- procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of

information
- confidentiality of the undisclosed information

- information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

- accountability and handling measures
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The senior management has reviewed the risk management and
internal control system of the Group for the year and considered
them to be effective and adequate.

The Group will continue to enhance the system to cope with the

changes in the business environment.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy on 17 December 2018 (the
"Dividend Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. The Company’s ability to distribute dividends will
depend on, among others, the profits, operating results, cash flow,
financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements
and other factors of the Company which the Directors consider
relevant, and the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The
remaining profit will be used for the development and operation of
the Group.

The Company's distribution of dividends shall also comply with any
restrictions under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
of the Company, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders
of the Company.

MECHANISMS ENSURING INDEPENDENT
VIEWS AVAILABLE TO THE BOARD

The Company has put in place a mechanism as set out below to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board
during the year.

Composition of the Board and Board Committees

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors (“INED(s)”) and at least one-
third of its members being INEDs (or such higher threshold as may
be required by the Listing Rules from time to time). Apart from
complying with the requirements prescribed by the Listing Rules
as to the composition of certain Board committees, INEDs will
be appointed to other Board committees as far as practicable to

ensure independent views are available.
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Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee must strictly adhere to the Nomination
Policy and the independence assessment criteria as set out in
the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment
of INEDs. Each INED is also required to inform the Company as
soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal
particulars that may materially affect his/her independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the
independence of all INEDs by reference to the independence
criteria as set out in the Listing Rules to ensure that they can
continually exercise independent judgement.

Compensation

No equity-based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) with
performance related elements will be granted to INEDs as this
may lead to bias in their decision making and compromise their
objectivity and independence.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
above mechanisms on an annual basis.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company attaches great importance to the construction of
clean government and anti-corruption work. We have established
management systems and set up the discipline inspection office
to implement various requirements on anti-corruption work to
strictly manage corruption issues and ensure that every member of
the Company adheres to the bottom line of business ethics. The
Company has perfected the anti-corruption policy, strictly prohibits
the employees from accepting any form of rebates, agency fees,
facilitation fees and gifts, and strictly prohibits management
personnel from taking advantage of their positions to seek personal
benefits for relatives and specific related persons to prevent
conflicts of interest. The Company strengthens the supervision
and inspection of high-risk nodes and fields, encourages internal
mutual supervision, and continues to carry out training to deepen
the awareness of integrity.
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Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group always upholds the practice of integrity and law-abiding
spirit among the Group from all levels. All employees all well aware
and supported about the importance of anti-corruption. The Group
has along well established whistle-blowing policy so encourage and
allow employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
matters of financial reporting, compliance, and other malpractices
at the earliest. Employees can raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties such as misconduct and malpractice
in any matter related to the Group. Complaints received will be
handled in a prompt and fair manner. The policy aims at protecting
the whistle-blowers from unfair dismissal, victimisation, and
unwarranted disciplinary actions. Anti-corruption-related trainings
are conducted annually among all farms and subsidiaries. During
the year, all employees have received anti-corruption training,
including seminars, online training and publicity articles. The Group
will reviewed the mechanism and whistle-blowing policy annually
and to ensure its effectiveness.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Effective Communication

The Company discloses relevant information to Shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and consolidated financial
statements, the interim report, as well as the annual general
meeting. The section under “CEQ's Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of the annual report facilitate the
Shareholders’ understanding of the Company’s activities.
The annual general meeting allows the Directors to meet and
communicate with the Shareholders. The Company’s consolidated
financial statements and each of the required disclosure of
information are dispatched within the prescribed period imposed
by laws and regulations.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the
Group meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and
participates frequently in other conferences and presentations.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a

timely basis.

Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries and
concerns to the Company, either by post or facsimiles, together
with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email address
or fax number, via the company secretary whose contact details are
as follows:
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The Company Secretary
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
Room A, 32/F., COFCO Tower
262 Gloucester Road

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 28510525

Fax: (852) 2851-6980

SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings may require an extraordinary general meeting by a
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary either
via personal delivery or mail (Attn: Board of Directors/Company
Secretary, at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong “Hong Kong Principal Office"”)
or via email (info@moderndairyir. com). The Board shall proceed
duly within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition to
convene a general meeting to be held within a further 21 days.

Procedures for Director’'s Nomination and Election by
Shareholders

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
director for election as a director at a general meeting, the
shareholder should lodge at Hong Kong Principal Office, (a) a
written notice signed by such shareholder (other than the proposed
person) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting of his/
her intention to propose such person for election; and (b) a written
notice by the proposed person indicating his/her willingness to be
elected together with the personal information of the proposed
person as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and consent
of publication of his/her personal information. The period during
which the aforesaid notice may be given shall be seven days (or
such other period as determined and announced by the Board).
Such period will commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of general meeting and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such general meeting. The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, once valid
notice is received.
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Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s Hong Kong
Office. The Company Secretary forwards communications relating
to matters within the Board's purview to the Board.

Procedures for Making Proposals at Shareholder’s Meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to
the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to
be discussed at general meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the
Board pursuant to the following address via personal delivery, mail
or courier to: Attention: Shareholder Communication, Board of
Directors, Hong Kong Office.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals
are appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for
approval at next annual general meeting or at an extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate.

Voting by Way of Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting must be taken by
poll. The chairman of the meeting will therefore demand a poll
for every resolution put to the vote of the annual general meeting
pursuant to article 14.6 of the Articles of Association. The relevant
details of the proposed resolutions, including biographies of each
Director standing for re-election, will be included in the circular
to Shareholders dispatched together with this annual report.
The Company will announce the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. When the Company announces its
interim and annual results, management will normally meet with
institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media, provide
briefings on the business progress and recent developments of
the Company. The Company has regularly participated in investor
summits and conferences to enhance communication with the
investment community. Investors are welcomed to send their
enquiries to our investor relation at info@moderndairyir.com or
browse the Company’s website (http://www.moderndairyir.com) for
latest update information of the Group. Therefore, the Company
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the above
shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the year
and is satisfied that the policy has been implemented effectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to
present its report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “year” or
"2022") which were approved by the Board on 28 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries is production and sale of raw
milk to customers for processing into dairy products, and trading,
production, and the sales of feeds business which was incorporated
into the Group after the acquisition of Fuyuan International last year
and started generating significant revenue to the Group during the
year.

The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year and the state of affairs of
the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements and the notes on pages 123 to
306.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, including a fair review of
the Group's business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties faced the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year, an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, key performance indicators, environmental
policies and performance, and the Group's key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group's success
depends, is set out in the sections of this annual report headed
"CEQO's Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”.
"Corporate Governance Report”) and in the notes to the financial
statements.
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Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building
up a good corporate and social relationship and motivating
staff and creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are
committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment
and community in which we conduct business and where our
stakeholders live.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries operating in the PRC while the Company itself is
incorporated in Cayman Islands its shares listed on Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. The Group's operations are mainly regulated by
the applicable laws and regulations of Cayman Islands, Hong Kong
and PRC. For the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this report, the Board was not aware of any non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “"Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group's compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In view of the Board, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules the year under
review. Details of the Company’s work in corporate governance
during the year are disclosed in the “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 54 to 79 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group strictly endeavoured to comply with laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection and adopted
effective environmental technologies to ensure our products meet
the required standards and ethics. A discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance is contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report ("ESG Report”)
prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide of Stock
Exchange will be released separately in April 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s
listed securities during the year, except that the trustee of the
share award scheme of the Company, pursuant to the rules of
which, purchased on the open market a total of 9,200,000 (2021:
36,526,000 shares) ordinary shares of the Company as restricted
shares at a consideration of approximately HK$10,962,000
(equivalent to RMB9,073,000) (2021: HK$54,689,000 (equivalent to
RMB45,468,000)).

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMB0.0142 (2021: RMB0.026) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Upon shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, which
will be held on Tuesday, 6 June 2023 (the “2023 AGM"), the
proposed final dividend will be paid on or about Friday, 30 June
2023 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Wednesday, 14 June 2023. Currently,
the Company is not aware of any arrangement under which a
Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2021: nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 1 June 2023 to Tuesday, 6 June 2023, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ eligibility
to attend and vote at 2023 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at 2023 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
17121716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 31
May 2023.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 12 June 2023 to Wednesday, 14 June 2023, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to the proposed final dividend. In order to establish entitlements to
the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at the same
address as set out above not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9 June
2023.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to approximately RMB6.71 million (2021: RMBO0.35

million).

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as
the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options, restricted share award,
employee partnership program and cash-based incentive award
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS

The Company adopts an open, fair and impartial procurement
policies, and takes the lead in formulating industry standards
as a win-win approach for a healthy development of the dairy
industry. The quality and safety of feed are always our primary
consideration. We have established long-term cooperation
relationship with a number of suppliers, and strived to ensure that
they are in compliance with our undertaking on quality and ethics.
We require the suppliers to observe our undertaking on integrity.
We have stringent requirements in supplier selection and that
they must satisfy the qualification requirements in quality, safety,
nutrients, historical record and overall performance etc. and pass
our constant examination and evaluation before becoming our

qualified suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS

To provide high quality products and services to customers are
always our mission. Customers’ need and demand are always
our top consideration. With the increase of income and the
popularization of health concepts, the demand of dairy products
is increasingly augmented with a growing tendency for diversified
products.

We, together with Mengniu Group expand the sales network and
increase sale forms, setting up outlets in large supermarkets. By
doing so, we hope to gradually develop customers, deliver our
fresh milk products in time, and meet consumers’ demand.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all loss or liabilities (to the fullest extent
permitted by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands) which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of
his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of each Director is determined with reference
to the duties, responsibilities, performance of the Directors, the
results of the Group and the prevailing market rate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in page 54 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 127 and note 49 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Company's distributable reserves,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately RMB7,762.63 million as at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB8,210.86 million).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 307 to 308.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Particulars of the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2022 are set out in notes 28, 29, 30 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The turnover attributable to the Group’s primary customers,
Mengniu Group, accounted for approximately 74.8% (2021: 84.5%)
of the Group's total turnover for the year. The Group's five largest
customers contributed in aggregate 81.6% (2021: 97.0%) of the
Group's total turnover for the year.

During the year, the five largest suppliers of the Group in
aggregate represented 15.2% (2021: 11.6%) of the Group's total
purchases. Purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 5.5% (2021: 2.8%) of the Group's total purchases.
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Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the interest in Mengniu of Mr.
Lu Minfang, Mr. Zhang Ping, Mr. Zhao Jiejun and Chen Yiyi as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives'
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” below of this report, none of the Directors or any of
their associates or any shareholder (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's top five largest
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Sun Yugang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board,
resigned on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Vice Chairman of the Board,
re-designated as Chairman of the Board on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Zhang Ping
Mr. Chen Yiyi (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Ms. Gan Lu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Shengli

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. Chow Mang Sang

By virtue of Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Mr. Chen Yiyi
had been appointed by the Board as a non-executive Director on
1 February 2023. As such, Mr. Chen Yiyi shall be eligible to offer
himself for re-election at the 2023 AGM.

In accordance with Article 17.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Mr. Zhao Jiejun, Mr. Li Shengli and Lee Kong Wai,
Conway will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming 2023 AGM as at the date of this
report.
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Long Servicing INEDs

Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway have served as
independent non-executive Directors for more than 9 years and re-
election of each of them will be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the Shareholders pursuant to the Listing Rules. The
Board considers that the long service of Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee
Kong Wai, Conway would not affect their exercise of independent
judgement and is satisfied that Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong
Wai, Conway have the required character, integrity and experience
to continue fulfilling the role of independent non-executive
Directors.

Further, Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway has been holding 8
listed company directorships including the directorship as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee Kong
Wai, Conway attended all the meetings of the Board and the Board
committees held in the past year. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway has
remained responsible for his performance functions and discharged
his duties to the Company through active participation on the
Board and by bringing balance of views as well as knowledge,
experience and expertise. With Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway’s
extensive experience and knowledge, particularly on corporate
governance acquired and developed from his background and past
experience as set out in the biographical information, he is fully
aware of the responsibilities and expected time involvements as an
independent non-executive Director. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway
has confirmed that he will continue to devote sufficient time for the
discharge of his functions and responsibilities as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. Based on the foregoing,
the Board believes that Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway’s position
outside the Company will not affect him in maintaining his current
role in, and his functions and responsibilities for, the Company

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out
in Rule3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of
independence has been received from each of them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages
46 to 53.

Directors’ Services Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2023
AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
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RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transaction” from page 99 to 108 in this report, none
of the "Related Parties Transactions” as disclosed in note 46 to
the consolidated financial statements for the year under review
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS — LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the

BT X5

BT XENAREFEIOE108EHEMERH | —
BAWESN  SEEE SRS (REBEFELGS
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BERBEHESRLKPEEHIEIS2EBEELRAR T
GFEaEMZEMOESERAR  REEMEITA
EEHETELRR SR ETRI([ZEEFA]) BN
RN NEBHMIFINER AR INT ¢

REQRTARGREBROOFR

Company
Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage of
underlying shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares interest
IR

EEfE REmME HEARGEE REMOB DL
Mr. Sun Yugang Beneficial owner 6,428,287 0.08%

BREMEE ERFAA
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui Beneficial owner 3,535,593 0.04%

REEEEE

BERBEA
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Interest in Associated Corporation
Long positions in the shares of the associated corporation are set

out below:

Name of Director

ESHR

Name of associated corporation

B EZEERE
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RIEEE B R R
RAABOEEBR DRI T

Number of Approximate
shares in percentage of
associated shareholdings
corporation interest
RIEESEE Y

R EE RESNEDTE

Mr. Lu Minfang Nete?
E SR A

Mr. Zhao Jiejun
HEE L

Mr. Zhang Ping
RFSEE

Mr. Chen Yiyi Nete2
B 5 — s ez

Notes:

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
FESFIEERAT

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
TERFIAEERAT

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
FESFIEBRAT

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
PERFIEERDA

B EE

20,515,046 0.52%
3,411,619 0.09%
3,090,357 0.08%
2,224,120 0.06%

Mr. Lu Mingang has resigned as non-executive Director on 1 February
2023.

Mr. Chen Yiyi was appointed as non-executive Director on 1 February
2023.

Mr. Lu Minfang was the non-executive Directors until 1 February 2023,
Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Zhao Jiejun are non-executive Directors
of the Company. Mr. Lu Minfang is an executive director and chief
executive officer of Mengniu Group. Mr. Zhang Ping is the executive
director and chief financial officer of Mengniu Group. Mr. Zhao
Jiejun is the vice president and the head of milk sourcing and animal
husbandry industry chain business unit of Mengniu Group. Mr. Chen
Yiyi, a non-executive Director, is also a vice president and head of
strategy management of Mengniu Group, and is responsible for the
strategic and investment management of Mengniu Group. As at the
date of this report, Mengniu holds 56.36% of the issued share capital
of the Company.
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS,
OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

There is no conversion or subscription rights under any convertible
securities, warrants or options or similar rights issued or granted by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year or subsisted
at the end of the year. In addition, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company, or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Director named in the paragraphs below have interests in
businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during
the year.

As mentioned above, each of Mr. Lu Minfang (resigned as non-
executive Director and Chairman of the Board subsequently on 1
February 2023), Mr. Zhao Jiejun and Mr. Zhang Ping held offices in
Mengniu during the year. Mengniu is a substantial shareholder of
the Company and is engaged in the dairy industry. In addition, Mr.
Lu Minfang, Mr. Zhao Jiejun and Mr. Zhang Ping are the directors
of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (stock code: 1432.HK)
which operates dairy farming business. Mr. Li Shengli was also one
of the independent non-executive directors of China Zhongdi Dairy
Holdings Company Limited (delisted, prior stock code: 1492.HK),
which operates dairy farming business. Mr. Li Shengli is currently
also an independent non-executive director of Australia Asia
Group Limited (stock code: 2425.HK). It is also engaged in the dairy
industry.
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The above-mentioned competing business is managed by separate
entities with independent management and administration. The
Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying on
its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length basis, the
businesses of these entities. When making decisions, the relevant
Directors, in performance of his duty as Director, have acted and
will continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any interest in any company or business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share incentive scheme as set out below, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 November 2011
(“Share Option Scheme 1”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 17 November 2011, which expired on 16 November 2014. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 5 June 2014 (“Share
Option Scheme I1”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 5 June 2014, which was terminated on 9 September 2016. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.
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Share Option Scheme adopted on 30 September 2016
("Share Option Scheme 111")

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 30 September 2016. All the outstanding share options were
cancelled as a result of the acceptance of the mandatory cash offer
made by Mengniu which was completed on 21 March 2017 and no
new share option has been granted under Share Option Scheme IlI

since.

As at the date of this report, there was no outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme |, Share Option Scheme Il
and Share Option Scheme III.

SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme which was
adopted by the Company on 9 September 2016 (the “Share Award
Scheme 1”), and on 26 March 2018 the Company adopted a new
share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme II”) which shall
remain effective for ten years. The goal of the share award schemes
are to motivate the employees to maximize the value of and share
the results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group.

Share Award Scheme |

As at 31 December 2022, there were no outstanding awarded
shares being unvested (2021: nil). For the avoidance of doubt,
any restricted share granted prior to 26 March 2018, shall for
all purposes continue to be administered and take effect in
accordance with the rules of Share Award Scheme I.

Share Award Scheme I

As the total contributed amount of the Share Award Scheme |
has reached its limit in 2017, the Company adopted Share Award
Scheme Il on 26 March 2018.
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The purpose of the Share Award Scheme |l

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme Il is to recognise
and motivate the contribution of certain members of
management of the Group and to provide incentives and help
the Group in retaining its existing members of management
and to provide them with a direct economic interest in
attaining the long-term business objectives of the Group.

Eligible Participants
The eligible participants include all members of the middle
and senior management of any member of the Group.

Maximum number of shares available under the Share Award
Scheme |l

The maximum number of Shares which may be purchased
by the scheme trustee each year is set at 1% of the number
of issued ordinary shares of the Company at the preceding
annual general meeting.

The maximum number of share award that may be granted
under the Share Award Scheme Il in aggregate shall be such
number of Shares held or to be held by the scheme trustee
from time to time.

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of Shares held by
the scheme trustee was 53,345,422, and 56,642,000 Shares
had been granted or agreed to be granted.

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be subject to the
administration of the Board and the scheme trustee in
accordance with the scheme rules and the trust deed
between the Company and the scheme trustee. The scheme
trustee is an independent third party to the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant under the
Share Award Scheme Il

There is no specific limit on the maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Share Award Scheme Il.Accordingly,
the maximum entitlement of each participant is subject to the
limits imposed under the Listing Rules.
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Vesting and Payment

Subject to the terms and condition of the Share Award
Scheme Il, upon fulfillment of all vesting conditions (if any) as
specified in the scheme rules of the Share Award Scheme
(the “Scheme Rules”) and the grant notice (as the case may
be), the respective awarded shares (the “Awarded Shares”)
held by the scheme trustee pursuant to the provision of the
Scheme Rules shall vest in such selected participants (the
"Selected Participants”) on such date(s) determined in
accordance with the vesting schedule as set out in the grant
notice or otherwise as communicated by the Company to the
Selected Participant. The Awarded Shares will be transferred
to such Selected Participant (or his nominee) by the scheme
trustee on the vesting date.

Within the 12 months following the vesting date (the “Lock-
up Period”), a Selected Participant may only dispose of
up to fifty percent (50%) of the Awarded Shares vested to
such Selected Participant on the Vesting Date (the “Vested
Shares”); and subject to the above, a Selected Participant
may dispose of his/her remaining Vested Shares at any time
following the expiry of Lock-Up Period.

Selected Participants are not required to pay purchase price
for the Awarded Shares granted under the Share Award
Scheme Il.

Period of the Share Award Scheme I

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be effective from the
adoption date, being 26 March 2018, and shall continue in full
force and effect for an initial term of ten (10) years.
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MOVEMENT OF THE SHARE AWARD DURING

THE YEAR

Details of the awarded Shares and their movements during the year

are set out below:
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Average Weighted
No. of Share Purchase Average
Award Priceof  Closing Price  Closing Price
No. of Share Outstanding Share  Immediately  Immediately
Award During the Year Unvested Share Award Vesting Date Awards Before the Before the
Outstanding REEE asat ROZBERES (vested) ~ Date of Grant Vesting Date
as of 1.1.2022 31.12.2022 One-off ~ Bybatch:  Bybatch:  RARME ZERT SHER
Name of Grantee or R2022F Cancelled/ R2022% vesting: M M FHEEE REAG  REANNE
Type of Type Date of 1818 Lapsed 128318 -kt First Second CHEEHA WBE  FHREE
Grantees BHERASHE Grant HASE  Granted Vested  Bit#/  HAEEN g8 Bt péis (HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
BEFARH LEH RURE Rit%E 254 258 Pl R %R 100% 50% 50% (B7) (&7) (B7)
Directors Sun Yugang 25/3/2021 900,000 900,000) 0 3PN NAMER  NAMER 1345 188 131
iz xR 120412022 4,994,000 4994000 NARER 12041203 242004 NIATER 124 NATER
Zhu Xiaohui 9122021 700,000 (700,000) 0 N3N2  NATER  NATER 1.345 130 131
BB 12/4/2022 2,997,000 2997000 NARER 12041203 12402004 NIATER 124 NATER
Gao Lina (Note *) 250312021 1,500,000 (750,000) (750,000) 0 N2 NARER  NATER 1.345 188 131
REAG
Other Grantees  Five highest paid 25032021 1,400,000 (1,400,000) 0 3PN NAER  NAMER 1345 188 131
AHERTA individuals in 9122021 2,100,000 (2,100,000) 0 NRN2  NAER  NATER 1.345 130 131
aggregate 12/4/2022 12,087,000 12087000  NATER 12041203 12402004 NIATER 124 NATER
(excluding
Directors)
nEsRFHALA
(Fafigs)
Other employees 25/3/2021 19,140,000 (17554991 (1,585,009 0 N3N NAER  NIARER 1.345 188 131
EitES 9122021 5,765,000 (5,733.829) 31.171) 0 N3N2  NAER  NIARER 1.345 130 131
12/4/2022 32,149,000 149000 NIATER 12041203 12402004 NIATER 124 NATER
25/11/2022 4415000 445000  NARER 12141203 12402004 NIATER 094 NATER
31505000 56642000 (291388200 (2.366,180) 56,642,000
Note * :  Ms. Gao Lina resigned as Director on July 1, 2021. 2 BERBAZER2021F7AIBEREAEERS

The fair values of Award Shares were determined based on the
market price of the Company's shares at the grant date.
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For details of the Share Award Scheme I, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 27 March 2018. The related
accounting policy for the fair values of the share-based payments
and further details of the share award schemes are also set out in
note 3 and 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Pre-IPO
Management Options”, “Share Options” and “Share Award
Schemes” above, at no time during the Reporting Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company to
have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any
or its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other corporate.

UPDATE ON INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE
LISTING RULES

Mr. Chow Ming Sang, an independent non-executive Director
of the Board, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Redco Healthy Living Company Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong (stock code: 2370.HK) with effect from 14
March 2022.

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway, an independent non-executive Director
of the Board, resigned as an independent non-executive director
of WH Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (stock
code: 288.HK) with effect from 1 June 2022. Mr. Lee has also been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Intchains
Group Limited (a company listed on NASDAQ Stock Market, stock
code: ICG) since March 2023.

Mr. Li Shengli was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Australia Asia Group (stock code: 2425.HK) on
December 5, 2022.

Save for disclosed above, there were no changes in the information
of Directors since the date of the 2022 annual report of the
Company and the Company’s announcement, in relation to,
among others, the resignation, appointment and re-designation
of Directors, which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

There is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE
SFO

As at 31 December 2022 the interests or short positions of
substantial Shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief
executives of the Company and their respective associates, in
the shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company or
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REIFSZRPERINRRATHRE

BERAR

MR2022% 128310 » TEWR(BHH AR E

BITHABMFEES BMBEARINRAQE K
HAREEEE (F & B35 LA E IR FI B XVER) H %
%~ WG REFP A RIEESF RS IE

its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFQO), as recorded in the register required to be maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of substantial

EIBHAB TN ELMONERIOAB LT :

Percentage of
the Company's
issued Share

shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares Capital®
r NS
ERITRE
TERRER B/ ERtE RABE BOH®
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited  Beneficial interest 1,246,079,369 (L) 15.74%
FESFIAERRRAR Exkn
Interest in controlled corporation (through 3214,962,513 (L@ 40.62%
Future Discovery Limited)
AR R
(i&BFuture Discovery Limited)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation (through 542,053,596 (L) 6.85%
BOCI Financial Products Limited)
FRESEEERETATA G EE RS 542,053,596 (S) 6.85%
(FRTHRERERERARAF)
Interest in controlled corporation (through 1,500,000 (L) 0.02%
Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)
REHEE R
(BRRMEBETREARRR)
Bank of China Limited Interest in controlled corporation (through 542,053,596 (L) 6.85%
BOCI Financial Products Limited)
PERITRIDAR DA Rt EEES 542,053,596 (S) 6.85%
(FERTHREReRERERAR)
Interest in controlled corporation (through 1,500,000 (L) 0.02%

Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)
TEHLEEER
(BERRMERETREERAR)
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Name of substantial

Percentage of
the Company's
issued Share

shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares Capital®
L UNE
ERITRAE
TERREE B EENY R E R BOL®
BOC International Holdings Limited Interest in controlled corporation (through 542,053,596 (L) 6.85%
BOCI Financial Products Limited)
R IFR AR AR RIEHEE RS 542,053,596 (S) 6.85%
(BERTREESHERERAF)
BOCI Financial Products Limited Beneficial interest 542,053,596 (L) 6.85%
FIREESRERERAA Enikn 542,053,596 (S) 6.85%
New Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation (through 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
GGG Holdings Limited)
MR LAERNEBRAA YR AE R (EBGGG Holdings Limited)
New Century Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation (through 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
GGG Holdings Limited)
A B (FBGGG Holdings Limited)
Liu Chang Interest in controlled corporation (through 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
GGG Holdings Limited)
LT 5 (E BGGG Holdings Limited)
GGG Holdings Limited Beneficial interest 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%

Y
EnEn

Notes:

O] Among which up to 613,877,227 shares of the Company have been (O]
lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited pursuant to a securities
lending agreement dated 17 June 2020 entered into between
Mengniu as lender and BOCI Financial Products Limited as borrower.

As at 31 December 2022, the number of Shares that had been lent to
BOCI Financial Products has decreased to 542,053,596.

(2)  Future Discovery Limited is a subsidiary of Mengniu. 2)

(3) Based on 7,915,662,048 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022. (3)

(4)  (S) Indicates a short position.

(5) (L) Indicates a long position.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company or as recorded in the register required to be maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2022.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted the following transactions
with certain connected persons of the Company including
Mengniu, the controlling shareholder of the Company, and its
subsidiaries (collectively the "Mengniu Group”) and Mengniu's
associates. These transactions constituted connected transaction
or continuing continued transactions and are subject to reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Off-Take Agreement

The Company started to sell raw milk to Mengniu Group in 2006,
and in 23 October 2008 following arm’s length negotiations,
Modern Farming entered into an off-take agreement (the “Off-
Take Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), pursuant to which
the Company shall supply raw milk to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Date: 24 October 2008

Parties: (i) Modern Farming, a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company

(i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Mengniu

Nature of the
Transaction:

Modern Farming shall supply raw milk to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu.

Committed
Purchase:

Both parties shall start to discuss estimates
of annual supply three months prior to the
beginning of each calendar year.

Should the parties fail to reach an agreed
amount, Modern Farming shall be entitled to
require Inner Mongolia Mengniu to purchase,
subject to certain limitations, all of its raw milk
production in the upcoming calendar year.
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Right to sell to
other parties:

Pricing:

100

Modern Farming may sell up to 30% of its
raw milk produced daily at each dairy farm
to third parties at its discretion, except to
two of Mengniu’s competitors. Other than
the aforesaid, the Off-Take Agreement
contains no other restrictions on Modern
Farming's sales of raw milk to third parties or
development of its own dairy products.

The pricing of the raw milk sold to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu is determined through
a formula which is calculated with reference
to a base price with upward adjustment for
meeting certain quality standards, such as
the level of fat and protein content and other
upward adjustments if the Modern Farming's
farms are within an agreed proximity to
Mengniu Group' s dairy processing plants.
The base price is based on the price which
Mengniu Group at the relevant time offers
to buy raw milk from other mid-to-large-
scale dairy farms (which can offer raw milk of
comparable quality) or, if there are no such
mid-to-large-scale dairy farms in such region,
other comparable dairy farms in nearby
regions with adjustments (reflecting the prices
in different regions).
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The base price and upward adjustment
payable by Mengniu Group under the Off-
Take Agreement shall not be lower than the
base price and upward adjustment it pays
respectively to other mid-to-large-scale
dairy farms in the same region (other than
short-term reward programs offered to milk
suppliers that only account for a small portion
of Mengniu Group's total raw milk purchases).
Inner Mongolia Mengniu also grants Modern
Farming an option to sell to Inner Mongolia
Mengniu the same amount of raw milk at
the same terms and prices Inner Mongolia
Mengniu offers to any third party suppliers.
Term: The Off-Take Agreement shall be for an term
of 10 years commencing from 24 October
2008 and was automatically extended for
another 10 years on 24 October 2018 in the
absence of any force majeure or events of
default to 23 October 2028.

Details of the Off-Take Agreement have been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2013. The Off-Take
Agreement was automatically extended on 24 October 2018 for
another ten years in accordance with its terms.

Based on the terms of the Off-Take Agreement as well as the raw
milk sales agreement signed by the newly acquired dairy farming
companies of the Group, the Off-Take Agreement is applicable
to such newly acquired dairy farming companies (except Fuyuan
International).

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Off-take Agreement
during the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB7,455,042,000 (2021: RMB5,821,454,000).
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Framework Supply Agreement | & Il with Keniule

Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co., Ltd. (“"Modern Faming Wuhe"),
a company incorporated in the PRC and a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Supply Agreement
with Keniule, pursuant to which Modern Faming Wuhe agreed
to supply, and Keniule Dairy Products Co., Ltd. ("Keniule”), a
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and an
associate of Mengniu, Keniule agreed to purchase, fresh raw milk
produced by Modern Farming Wuhe from time to time during the

term.
U]
Date: 31 December 2021.
Parties: () Modern Farming Wuhe as the supplier;
and
(i) Keniule as the purchaser.
Duration: From 1 January 2022 to 31 March 2022.

Principal Terms: Modern Farming Wuhe agreed to supply, and
Keniule agreed to purchase, fresh raw milk
produced by Modern Farming Wuhe during
the term.

Pricing: The price of the fresh raw milk supplied under
the Supply Agreement shall be negotiated
and determined between the parties on the
grounds of fairness and by reference to (i)
the price of fresh raw milk of the same or
substantially similar quality standards which
Modern Farming Wuhe supplies to its other
major customers in the same region; and (ii)
the market guidance prices published by dairy
associations in the East China region in 2022.

Maximum The maximum transaction amount in respect
transaction of the supply and purchase of fresh raw milk
amount: during the term under the Supply Agreement

is RMB20,000,000.
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(N

Date: 1 April 2022.
Parties: (1) Modern Farming Wuhe (as the supplier);
and

(2)  Keniule (as the purchaser).

Duration: From 1 April 2022 to 31 December 2022.

Principal Terms: Modern Farming Wuhe agreed to supply, and
Keniule agreed to purchase, fresh raw milk
produced by Modern Farming Wuhe during
the term from time to time.

Pricing: The price of the fresh raw milk supplied under
the supply agreement shall be negotiated
and determined between the parties on the
grounds of fairness and by reference to (i)
the price of fresh raw milk of the same or
substantially similar quality standards at which
Modern Farming Wuhe supplies to its other
major customers in the same region; and (ii)
the market guidance prices published by dairy
associations in the East China region in 2022.

Maximum The Company expects that the maximum
transaction transaction amount under the Supply
amount: Agreement is RMB130,000,000.

Annual Capacity: The annual cap in respect of the supply
and purchase of fresh raw milk during
the term under the Supply Agreement
is RMB140,000,000. The annual cap was
determined with reference to the estimated
unit price of fresh raw milk and the expected
volume to be purchased by Keniule during
the term.

The sales amount pursuant to the Framework Supply Agreement
| the period 1 January 2022 to 31 March 2022 was RMB?,648,000,
and for the period 1 April 2022 to 31 December 2022 was
RMB23,296,000. The aggregate sales the year ended 31 December
2022 amounted to approximately RMB32,944,000 ( 2021:
RMB13,735,000).
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Farm Supplies Framework Supply Agreement with Aiyuanniu
Modern Farming, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Farm Supplies Framework Agreement
with Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu Technology Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Mengniu (“ Aiyangniu Technology”),

in relation to the supply of Farm Supplies by the Aiyangniu & °

Technology Group to the Modern Farming.

Date: 31 December 2021. HE] - 20214F12A31H °
Parties: (i)  Modern Farming as the buyer; and HESVE i)y BERHKE(ER) EAE
7)o K
(i) Aiyangniu Technology as the supplier. (il ERFNMRUERHER) -

Duration: For a term commencing from 1 January 2022  HAfR : B202291A1B#EZE2022F12H4
to 31 December 2022. 3MHLE -

Principal Terms: The Modern Farming group agrees to FZ{EX BREEEBEREBERSY
purchase, and the Aiyangniu Technology B HERFHMBEEEREHE
group agrees to supply and deliver to MEBXHBSMEERRBEEER
designated farms of Modern Farming group, RIIETE S - ERMBISZWE R
farm supplies which shall meet the quality REERHEHEAMBNEEE
requirements as set out in the framework Koo
supply agreement.

Pricing: The price payable by the Modern Farming JEfE : BREEGEER REEFHEE
to the Aiyangniu Technology Group shall EENNESE2ZRABEE
be determined by reference to the lowest E) st EEBUSMEMBIE=7
quoted price at which the Modern Farming (\Ewm R A IO RS &K
could obtain from independent third parties WEET - BMUmE  FRBE
(whether local or overseas) for the same (EBDBBIXMELWEBIRER
types of Farm Supplies. For this purpose, the HYOSWMENB LR = 7S 5KW
Modern Farming will seek quotations from at B
least two independent third parties offering
the same types of Farm Supplies each time.

Annual Capacity: ~ The annual cap in respect of the transactions ~ F/E LR : E2022F1H1B B E2022F12

contemplated under the framework supply
agreement commencing from 1 January 2022
to 31 December 2022 is RMB200,000,000.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the framework supply

agreement the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB116,914,000 (2021: RMB35,372,000).
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Milk Supply Agreement between Fuyuan International and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Fuyuan International entered into a milk supply agreement on
February 27, 2014 (“Milk Supply Agreement 2014") with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Inner Mongolia
mengniu”), a subsidiary of Mengniu, pursuant to which Inner
Mongolia Mengniu agreed to purchase fresh raw milk from Fuyuan
International and its subsidiaries, and Fuyuan International agreed
to supply fresh raw milk it produces to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.
Fuyuan International has become the subsidiary of the Company
on 29 November 2021, and therefore, the transactions between
the Fuyuan International and Inner Mongolia Mengniu under the
Milk Supply Agreement 2014 will constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.
Date: February 27, 2014
Parties: (1) Fuyuan International
(2)  Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Duration: From February 27, 2014 to February 28, 2034
Pricing policy: The final purchase price of fresh raw milk shall

be calculated with reference to a base price
on the basis of regions, adjusted based on
the quality standards of the fresh raw milk
supplied (such as level of fat and protein
content, acidity and microbial content). The
base price will be adjusted in accordance with
movements in market price. Inner Mongolia
Mengniu undertakes that the base price
payable under the Milk Supply Agreement
2014 shall not be lower than the price it pays
for purchasing fresh raw milk of the same
physicochemical indices from any third party
in the area where Fuyuan International is
located.

Settlement terms: (1) Fuyuan International shall issue an invoice
for the confirmed settlement amount of the
previous month to Inner Mongolia Mengniu
before the 10th day of each month; and
(2) Inner Mongolia Mengniu shall pay the
invoiced amount to the designated account
of Fuyuan International before the 30th day of
each month.
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Details of the Milk Supply Agreement 2014 have been disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 29 November 2021.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Milk Supply
Agreement 2014 from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2022 amounted to approximately RMB1,746,468,000 (2021:
RMB156,461,000).

Fuyuan International was acquired by the Company on 29
November 2021 and become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company then. The transaction between the Company and Fuyuan
International ceased to be defined as a connected transaction
thereafter under the Listing Rules.

Intelligent loT Software and hardware Procurement and
Supply Framework Agreement with Yunyangniu Technology
Modern Farming, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, and Hainan Yunyangniu Technology Co., Ltd.
("Yunyangniu Technology”, a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liabilities) (being a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
Modern Dairy and an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
Mengniu) entered into the Intelligent loT Software and Hardware
Procurement and Supply Framework Agreement in relation to the
supply of intelligent loT software and hardware and the provision of
supporting services by Yunyangniu Technology Group to Modern
Farming Group.

Date: 7 July 2022.
Parties: (i) Modern Farming (as the purchaser)

(i) Yunyangniu Technology (as the supplier)
Duration: From 7 July 2022 to 31 December 2022

Principal Terms: Modern Farming group agrees to purchase,
and Yunyangniu Technology group agrees to
supply and deliver to the designated farms
of Modern Farming group, the intelligent loT
software and hardware which shall meet the
relevant specifications, along with supporting

services.
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Pricing:

Specifications:

Annual Cap:

The price payable by Modern Farming
Group to Yunyangniu Technology Group
shall be determined by way of price inquiry
and comparison, and with reference to the
lowest quotation that Modern Farming
Group could obtain from independent
suppliers (whether domestic or foreign) for
the intelligent loT software and hardware
with the same standards and specifications
and similar quality. Yunyangniu Technology
Group will assist Modern Farming Group
to estimate its specific needs of relevant
software and hardware according to the
relevant business needs and requirements
(including, but not limited to, standards,
quantities, specifications and quality). Modern
Farming Group will seek price quotation
from at least three independent sizeable
suppliers with relevant qualifications, and will
determine the purchase price through price
consultation with suppliers to ensure that the
price and terms of the provision of software
and hardware equipment by Yunyangniu
Technology Group to Modern Farming Group
are no less favorable than those offered
by other independent suppliers. The price
mentioned above refers to the on-site price.

The intelligent loT software and hardware
supplied by Yunyangniu Technology Group
shall (i) satisfy the quality standards as
specified in the purchase orders; and (ii)
comply with national and local laws and
regulations of the PRC.

The maximum transaction amount in respect
of the transactions contemplated under
the intelligent loT software and hardware
procurement and supply framework
agreement commencing from 7 July 2022 to
31 December 2022 is RMB30,000,000.
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From 7 July 2022 to 31 December 2022, the total sales amount
under the intelligent loT software and hardware procurement
and supply framework agreement reached approximately
RMB8,572,000.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected transactions
of the Company that are subjected to be reported in the annual
report in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Reviewed By Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (consists of three independent non-executive
Directors) have reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the
non-exempt continuing connected transactions have been entered
into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

() in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules”), the Board engaged the auditor of the Company
to report the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Acquisition of 75% Equity Interests in Aiyangniu
Technology

On 15 March 2022, the Company (as the purchaser) entered into
the equity transfer agreement with the shareholder sellers and
Aiyangniu Technology, pursuant to which the shareholder sellers
agreed to sell, and the purchaser agreed to purchase, 75% equity
interests in Aiyangniu Technology at a total consideration of
RMB287,774,900. Aiyangniu Technology was 73.66% owned by
Mengniu, which was a substantial shareholder and connected
person of the Company and therefore, Aiyangniu Technology
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu were associates of Mengniu and
connected persons of the Company. Accordingly, the acquisition
contemplated under the equity transfer agreement also constituted
a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company completed the acquisition of Aiyangniu
Technology on 28 June 2022.

For details of the Aiyangniu Technology Acquisition Agreement
and the transaction contemplated thereunder, please refer the
Company'’s announcement dated 15 March 2022 and circular dated
15 May 2022.
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The Provision of Guarantee for Aiyangniu Technology

On 25 July 2022, Modern Farming, an indirect non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company entered into the letter of guarantee

in favour of the suppliers for Aiyangniu Technology, an indirect

non-wholly owned subsidiary and a connected subsidiary of the

Company, in respect of the due performance of the payment

obligations arising from Aiyangniu Technology under the purchase

orders commencing from 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2023 between

Aiyangniu Technology and one or more of the suppliers.

Date:

Form of guarantee:

Amount of guarantee:

Scope of guarantee:

Terms of guarantee:

July 25, 2022

Upon the expiry of the credit
period under the purchase orders,
Modern Farming shall become
liable in the event of a default by
Aiyangniu Technology of its payment
obligations to the suppliers within
the scope of guarantee set out in the
letter of guarantee.

The maximum amount of the
guarantee shall be RMB55.5 million.

All payables of Aiyangniu Technology
under the purchase orders, including
but not limited to the principal,
interest, penalty interest, liquidated
damages and all other reasonable
expenses incurred by the Suppliers
from the realization of its rights over
the debts in connection with the
Purchase Orders.

From the date on which the letter
of guarantee becomes effective to
the date falling three years after the
expiry of the period of settlement of
overdue trade payables by Aiyangniu
Technology under the purchase
orders.
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The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of all of
its continuing connected transactions and connected transactions.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions have been disclosed in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are set out in the
announcements of the Company which are available at the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange's website and the Company's website at
www.moderndairyir.com.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react changes in dairy product quality, food
safety, production, animal disease, environment pollution,
market developments and financial risks. The Audit Committee
reviews risk-related policies and scrutinizes that management has
performed its duty to have effective risk management and internal
control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling risks
arising from the Group's business activities, changing external risks
and regulatory environment, and report to the Board on the above.

Strategic Risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge on
the dairy industry. The Group will invest in good grass plantation,
good dairy cows, quality milk production and promotion of
integrated operation that based on the strategic plan in order to
cope with the market demand and expectation. The Group will
closely review and monitor its short and long-term strategies and
strives for the best interests to its shareholders.

Operational Risks

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by failure
of internal processes, people, system or external events, such
risk is mitigated by and controlled by establishing sound internal
control, setting out clear lines of responsibility, proper segregation
of duties and effective internal reporting. Management regularly
reviews the Group's operations to ensure that the Group's risk of
losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from fraud, errors,
omissions and other operational and compliance matters, are
adequately managed.
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Financial Risks

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures
and may enter into currency forward contracts or currency option
contracts, when necessary, to manage its foreign exchange
exposure. Furthermore, with aim to tackle the risk of interest rate
fluctuation, the management regularly reviews and assesses the
Group's exposure to interest rate movement and may consider
entering into interest rate swap contracts or other hedging
strategies when necessary.

The principal financial risks are set out in Notes 40 and 41 to
the consolidated financial statements headed “Capital Risk
Management” and “Financial Instrument”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Chow Ming
Sang and one non-executive Director, Mr. Zhang Ping. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company, and discussed
the risk management and internal control systems and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited results for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Saved as disclosed in this report, no other material events of the
Group occurred after 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditors of the Company
and, is eligible to, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 2023 AGM. The
Company has not changed its auditor in the past 3 years.

On behalf of the Board
Zhao Jiejun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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Executive Directors

Mr. Sun Yugang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Chen Yiyi

Ms. Gan Lu

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Li Shengli

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. Chow Ming Sang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Chow Ming Sang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Li Shengli (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Chow Ming Sang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. Chow Ming Sang

STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Chairman)
Mr. Sun Yugang

Mr. Chen Yiyi
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Ms. Gan Lu

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
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Mr. SUN Yugang
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Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA MODERN DAIRY HOLDINGS LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 123
to 306, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
8 3% BN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BEREEREE

AREEZEZEEW

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAEERTERERARELSERNSGE

Fair value of milkable cows

PR FE

We identified the fair value of milkable cows as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance on the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2022 and the significant degree of estimates made by the
management in determining such fair values.

The Group reported milkable cows of Renminbi (“RMB")
6,571 million as at 31 December 2022. These biological assets
are measured at fair value less costs to sell at the end of the
reporting period.

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 44 to the consolidated financial
statements, fair values of milkable cows are determined by
using the multi-period excess earnings method, which is based
on the discounted future cash flows to be generated by such
milkable cows. The management’s estimation is primarily based
on the discount rate, the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kilogram ("kg"”) of raw
milk. The management has engaged an independent valuer to
assist in assessing the fair values of milkable cows.

Details of milkable cows and the related estimation uncertainty
on their fair values are set out in Notes 4, 22 and 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Qur procedures in relation to the fair value of
milkable cows included:

Understanding and evaluating the Group's
relevant internal controls over the fair value
determination of milkable cows;

Evaluating the independent valuer’s
objectivity, qualifications and competence;

Involving our internal valuation specialists to
assess the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and comparing the discount
rates applied in the discounted future
cash flows calculation with the acceptable
range calculated by out internal valuation
specialists;

Comparing the key assumptions, including
the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield
at each lactation cycle and the estimated
feed costs per kg of raw milk to historical
and industry data; and

Comparing the actual results for the
current year with management'’s cash flow
projections prepared in the previous review
to evaluate the accuracy of management's
budgeting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
8 3% BN RS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

8 N 1% B RN R &
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ZEE M BRGREMERRAREN

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BEfw

STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with HEBEEARREETEEBNETEF  BHMETY
governance, we determine those matters that were of most AHMGAMBRENELZAEENSTIE -
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements ~ E MK EEEZEE - RMEZEEREPHE
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. MZEZEEIE - RIEERIER T A FAMBEEZ
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or % Z18 » ERIKFERMEBERT @ WEIETEHE
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, FHEfImEF BEBESTHEENNEARRBHES
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter AR @ BRI E T EEREFEEZSE
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 18

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent HEBIY ZHARENBEZEBEARALSE

auditor’s report is Lung Kwok Hung. W o

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu EEBAERS AT
Certified Public Accountants HESTAD

Hong Kong BE

28 March 2023 202393 H28H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REREaRkEMEEKRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

2022 2021
2022% 20214F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
M & ARET T ARET T
Revenue A 5 12,295,091 7,078,470
Cost of sales SHE AR 8 (11,915,660) (6,907,441)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw K BUER1Z A F AR 8
milk at fair value less costs to sell at B KA ¥ 9A FERREE A W
the point of harvest 22 2,887,548 2,378,446
Gross profit EF 3,266,979 2,549,475
Loss arising from changes in fair value AN EFEFHAFHEK
less costs to sell of dairy cows REERERE 22 (988,215) (956,011)
Other income E A A 7 201,559 123,835
Impairment losses under expected credit FBEIEEEIE(AHEE
loss (“ECL") model, net of reversal B8 DIEA TR EEE
BB 10 (1,995) (476)
Other gains and losses, net Hh e & B8 55 8 (376,662) 51,103
Selling and distribution costs HERDHMAX (369,887) (183,732)
Administrative expenses THEX (730,203) (379,065)
Other expenses HhFA (42,386) (8,703)
Share of results of associates and a joint  JE{REtE NG MA S EEE
venture 15,410 36,928
Profit before finance costs and tax Bt & AN I B TE A ) 8 974,600 1,233,354
Finance costs A& B AR 9 (379,559) (198,132)
Profit before tax BR3¢ AT A1 595,041 1,035,222
Income tax expense FriS®if X 1 (14,775) (2,023)
Profit for the year F R K| 580,266 1,033,199
Other comprehensive (expense) Ht2mEEEX), WA :
income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit & E# 7 B AIEmAIER -
or loss:
Fair value loss on investments in equity  EAFETAEMEEUA
instruments at fair value through other ([ AFEFF AHZEIK
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") ADNBEZTAEREATFE
BB (14,573) (2,425)
Items that may be reclassified HiZ A E X A8 m i E
subsequently to profit or loss: g :
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINERREENES =58
translation of foreign operations 21,332 (40)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FREMEEBA () -
for the year, net of income tax R PTEHR 6,759 (2,465)
Total comprehensive income for the year F R Z EURA 4258 587,025 1,030,734
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEEakEMEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
i = ARBTR ARETT
Profit for the year attributable to: A& T EIEFRER
Owners of the Company EN/NCIEZ DN 562,497 1,018,832
Non-controlling interests e 17,769 14,367
580,266 1,033,199
Total comprehensive income for the year A &7 EIEFAE2EKA
attributable to: 4R -
Owners of the Company EN/NCIEZ ZEDN 569,067 1,016,407
Non-controlling interests SRR = 17,958 14,327
587,205 1,030,734
Earnings per share (RMB) FREF(ARE) 15
Basic AR 7.16 cents 73 14.43 cents 73
Diluted BE 7.13 cents 7 14.39 cents 73

1 24 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A MR R R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 72022512 H31H

2022 2021
2022 20214F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
M AR®T R AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE REE 16 5,702,907 5,312,970
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 1,256,949 725,164
Goodwill EES 18 2,406,658 2,075,591
Other intangible assets HEtEEEE 19 45,258 3,777
Interests in associates and a joint venture REEE A FINEE D ENER 20 458,917 353,278
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRATFE AEMZEBAL
EmIT A 21 106,229 2,655
Biological assets EMEE 22 10,631,171 9,404,924
Prepayments SN ] 24 29,936 54,238
Derivative financial instruments PTEERIA 25 19,154 67,537
Pledged bank deposits EERRITIFH 26 - 127,043
Bank balances RITREER 26 236,281 201,881
Deferred tax assets EIET I E E 11 827 2,337
20,894,287 18,331,395
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 23 3,379,346 2,191,269
Trade and other receivables and FEUUE 5 BR 3 N E b FE W Sk IE
prepayments LA R FE AT 5/I8 24 2,183,907 1,221,871
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTA 25 22,202 -
Pledged bank deposits EERRITER 26 187,339 41,631
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR IR 26 2,125,628 1,887,744
7,898,422 5,342,515
Assets classified as held for sale DEABELENEE 16 28,644 -
7,927,066 5,342,515
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Derivative financial instruments TESBMITA 25 14,388 17,758
Trade and other payables ERE SERREMERRE 27 3,288,701 3,144,194
Tax payable FERRTIIE 5,004 1,903
Bank borrowings RITHERK 28 4,831,164 2,380,683
Other borrowings HA B 29 22,704 433,676
Short term debenture MHImE S 30 100,522 -
Long term bonds RHES 31 34,944 31,989
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 111,392 50,435
Other liabilities Hthafk 38(b) 4,573 -
Contract liabilities aHaE 33 43,204 5,343
Deferred income EEUTA 34 11,563 -
8,468,159 6,065,981
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR B B IR &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 72022512 H431H

2022 2021
20224 20214
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
M EE ARET T ARBTIT
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFEHE (541,093) (723,4606)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEERTBERE
LIABILITIES 20,353,194 17,607,929
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXK#HE
Share capital [N 35 675,869 675,869
Reserves 1 10,588,248 10,189,062
Equity attributable to owners of the RAREAANEERER
Company 11,264,117 10,864,931
Non-controlling interests AR = 379,183 249,803
TOTAL EQUITY miER 11,643,300 11,114,734
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kREBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTESmIA 25 43,646 98,330
Trade and other payables BNESERREMERNKIE 27 - 23,967
Bank borrowings RITHERK 28 3,752,421 2,285,333
Other borrowings HAb A 29 271,115 203,328
Long term bonds RHES 31 3,458,072 3,159,730
Lease liabilities HEHE 32 956,653 517,077
Deferred tax liabilities RIER I B E 11 22,454 20,868
Deferred income PRIEUT A 34 205,533 184,562
8,709,894 6,493,195
20,353,194 17,607,929

The consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to 306 were R F 123E 306 B Mir & B %58 &= 1202363 B
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 28 & E =S ERBETIZITARESE ¢
March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

ZHAO Jiejun SUN Yugang
R E BER
Director Director
EF EF

1 26 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROAFEAER
Shares
held under Fair value
Share the Share  through other Non-
Share Share Other  Statutory ~ award Award  comprehensive Translation ~ Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve Scheme incomereserve  Reserve  earnings  Subtotal interests Total
ROXE ROXE:EE  RATERA FER
R&  ROEE EfBE  iERRE G THEENRG HH2EUARE HERE REEW gt Bi ait
RMBI000  RMB'000  RMB0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBIO00  RMBOO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARMTR ARETR  ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARMTT ARETT ARETR
(Note 35 (Note 39)
() ()
At 1 January 2021 RAOE1R1R 595535 4985082 969268 210139 7489 (47,344) (20593 - 1037 789693 WS 803844
Profit for the year ERgR - - - - - - - - 101882 1018832 14367 1033199
Other comprehensive expense  FAEMZEHR
forthe year - - - - - - (2,389 (40) - (242 (4o) (2465
Total comprehensive [expense) A2 E(FX)RALE
income for the year - - - - - - (2389 (W) 1018832 1016407 1431 103073
Share purchase for the Share ~ SERI B EIMR I
Award Scheme (25 defined B(EEAMHY)
inNote 37) - - - - - (53052 - - - [308) - 3308
Vesting of award shares RERAEE ()
(Note 37) - - - - (9.447) 13,865 - - (4418 - - -
Recogiton of equity-settled ~ BRERELEN R
share-hased payments R ()
(Note 37) - - - - 224 - - - - 224 - 224
Eouity transactions related o~ EE£EEHNRERS
interest free loans (6,69 (6,690) 6,694 -
lsue of shares (Note 3] SR (i) 120334 205378 - - - - - - - 20410 - 21410
Dividends disrbution (Note 14) 12 2 (i 14) - (5 - - - - - - - (M%) 16308 (158840
Acoisition of subsidiaries  WEHER ()
(Note 38) - - - - - - - - - - 95,795 95,75
Establishment of anon-wholly- ~ Fii32 ENERF
owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 29,000 29,000
Acquisition of non-controllng W SE AR HER (F1E39)
interests (Note 35) - - (B46) - - - - - - 45 21180 (38)
Transfer to statutory reserves ERTITRE - - - 31163 - - - - (31,163 - - -
At 31 December 2021 RANE12A31A o589 68%33% 90109 241302 20266 (86,531) (22978 (00) 220059 10864931 249803 11,114,734
Profitfor the year EREH| - - - - - - - - 5491 562497 17769 580266
Other comprehensive (expense)  FMEHZE(FEIHA
income for the year - - - - - - (14412 20982 - 6510 189 6759
Total comprehensive (expense) A2 E(F)NAEE
income for the year - - - - - - (14412 20982 562491 569,067 1798 587025
Share purchase forthe Share ~ SERHEEE MR
Award Scheme (Note 37) BE(I3) - - - - - (13,300) - - - (13300 - (13300
Vesting of award shares RERAEE ()
(Note 37) - - - - (7 3212 - - 1504 - - -
Recognition of equitysettled ~ ETFRRELENRH
share-hased payments SUEREALRS)
(Note 37) - - - - 44950 - - - - 44950 - 44950
Eauity transactions related to ~ BHEEEFMRER S
interest free loans - - 2859 - - - - - - 2859 (2859) -
Dividends distrioution (Note 14)  [R82 R (H14) -0 - - - - - - - 043%) - )
Acquisition of subsidlaries WENE LT (H30)
(Note 38) - - - - - - - - - - 76481 76481
Establishment of nonwholl- U2 EKBAR
owned subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 37800 37800
Translerto statutory reserves ~ BEZATRRE - - ) - - - - BN - - -
At 31 December 2022 RARENANA 05869 669196 9298 217199 27440 63,559) (37390 0942 27471909 1126417 379,183 11,643,300
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

2022 2021
202245 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETE
Profit before tax BR3¢ AT A 595,041 1,035,222
Adjustments for: BLATFIEEL T -
Depreciation of property, plant and BESNBRNTE  BER
equipment charged to profit or loss RETE 352,032 281,624
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BIEENRE L A EE
charged to profit or loss 3 42,520 13,899
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~ Efth 2 & E & 85 4,207 54
Impairment losses under expected BHEEEERE T RES
credit loss model, net of reversal 18 - HkREE 1,995 476
Impairment loss on property, M - R RRERERS
plant and equipment, net BF5E 1,895 -
Bank interest income FRITHBHBA (60,393) (46,143)
Government grants released to BEEWA BT EL
income (78,506) (47,733)
Finance costs BE KA 379,559 198,132
Share of results of associates and a BB E N B A e EE
joint venture 4& (15,410) (36,928)
Loss on fair value changes of derivative T &R T AR FEZEE
financial instruments B 18,695 25,346
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEWME - BB RHE
plant and equipment m) E1E (15,322) 9,659
Loss on disposal of other intangible HEHMBETLEERR
assets 165 -
Gain on termination of lease HIFHE RO E
agreements (3,652) -
Gains on fair value changes of mBEERATEZS S
structured deposits (2,465) (1,821)
Net foreign exchange losses (gains) SN 5 18 (M e ) JF =8 380,181 (86,186)
Equity-settled share-based payments R AR 4 E UARR 9 A &Y
(NEN 44,950 22,224
Loss arising from changes in fair value AT EZESFIAFTIHE
less costs to sell of dairy cows RANE LR EE 988,215 956,011
Operating cash flows before HEEEHANLERS
movements in working capital mE 2,633,707 2,323,836
Increase in inventories FEIELM (940,089) (309,389)
Increase in trade and other receivables  EUE 5870 N H Ath fE Uk 3k
and prepayments T8 A N B A5 R IE 48 0 (585,679) (167,762)
Increase in trade and other payables FEHE 2 8RR S L At FE A 5K
TEIE N 399,185 19,828
Increase in contract liabilities BB EEMN 37,861 4,175
Increase in deferred income IEFEU AE N 52,283 -
Cash generated from operations EBREFLNIRE 1,597,268 1,870,688
Income taxes paid BEFTEHE (20,160) (1,982)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING RETHAEBREFH
ACTIVITIES 1,577,108 1,868,706

128

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

/\/\

fﬁimb%%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %@i2022¢12ﬂ MBEIEFE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
MiaE AR®T T ARBTT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received 2HFE 49,228 42,989
Purchases of property, plant and Eﬁj\%% = Tk 58
equipment (1,112,602) (489,318)
Purchases of other intangible assets BAHMBLEE (8,272) (451)
Payments for right-of-use assets e B ENRK (34,243) (9.324)
Purchases of biological assets BAEMEE (232,070) -
Addition in biological assets in relation & B f1& & H ith 48 B K A HY
to feeding and other related costs EYBEEILE (2,714,285) (1,503,301)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FADEHIETER (14,748) (13,893)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits B ERRITIER 5,886 27,807
Placement of term deposits with GARIBEBA=-ERMN
original maturity over three months EHF R R R
and restricted bank deposits IRITIFER (229,359) (330,000)
Withdrawal of term deposits with RERRISEBA=EAN
original maturity over three months EHFER 150,000 20,000
Placement of structured deposits TFABBEETR (1,293,000) (577,000)
Withdrawal of structured deposits IREVEEMTR 1,295,465 627,000
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME - BERZBRS
plant and equipment FRIE 85,720 15,588
Proceeds from disposal of dairy cows u”j A4 FS A 1,060,659 789,226
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use %ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ#\
assets - 394
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries &M B R R ATEHIE - 7,406
Government grants received B UK BT 8 B 49,386 59,433
Investment in associates and a joint BaNmREEDERE
venture (86,641) (7,721)
Net cash outflow on business REEEBEHREM
combination in current year b 38 (398,019) -
Net cash outflow on business BTFEEBEHRESRE
combination in prior years FEE 38 (378,700) (1,537,006)
Net cash outflow on asset acquisitions ~ BEFEEERBRE R
in prior years HER (1,750) (1,659)
Purchases of equity instruments at BARXFEFAHMEE
FVTOCI WA R TA (118,147) -
Loans to associates MEE R RIER (68,000) -
Loan repayment from a third party E=HEEREX 2,000 6,000
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZEIARESFE
ACTIVITIES (3,991,492) (2,873,830)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,m fﬁ k57 //HJE i‘%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #2022 12 A31 B [t F &

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTFT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BE LB
Dividends paid B E (204,390) (142,532)
Interest paid ERFE (384,625) (191,672)
New bank borrowings raised MEBIRITER 8,099,765 3,506,705
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (4,467,747) (5,936,189)
New other borrowings raised MBS EMER 183,365 -
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMER (584,486) (21,573)
Proceeds on issue of short term BATR AR E A PSR
debenture 100,000 -
Proceeds on issue of bonds BITIESATEFE - 3,200,760
Repayments of leases liabilities BEERMHERE (66,650) (14,458
Payment for repurchase of ordinary B o] 3m AR 1~ R
shares (13,300) (53,052)
Settlement of interest rate swaps 45 E T 2 4 B 5,760 -
Gross cash inflow from foreign SNEEES HMBR SR
currency option contracts 264,256 9,146
Gross cash outflow from foreign SNEHIRS NN RIR SR
currency option contracts (270,800) (9,316)
Gross cash inflow from capped HIEHEX XN EBE L
and floored cross currency swap ([CFCCshm#i e m
("CFCCS") 55,753 -
Gross cash outflow from CFCCS CFCCSH#B3R &t (77,214) -
Gross cash inflow from foreign SMNERBIGHNAIRSIRA
currency forward contracts 135,640 -
Gross cash outflow from foreign SNER Bl A AR IR R
currency forward contracts (137,812) -
Proceeds from issue of shares BT PR RIA - 1,294,845
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  URBBIEIE AR AE ZE (20,894) (25,459)
Payments for acquisition of original Wt B 1 M BB BT BB A R A IR 46
non-controlling interests in an SR AR AR M ) A5F 3R
acquired subsidiary (43,680) -
Dividends paid to the original A4 B Y B A B R G IR
shareholders of an acquired AT AR B
subsidiary (17,155) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling A FEHE AR AR BRI A AR,
shareholders (5,341) (6,530)
Capital contribution from KEIFERRERR L E
non-controlling shareholders 37,800 29,000
NET CASH FROM FINANCING MEEEAEREFE
ACTIVITIES 2,588,245 1,639,675
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BERReSEMEMERE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 173,861 634,551
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FmeaBHeEnRER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 & % 2022612331 B I £ &

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MB1BNESRESEEY
AT 1 JANUARY 1,737,683 1,103,132
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes & =& &) 222 12,865 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R12A3MENESRESSE
AT 31 DECEMBER BY 1,924,409 1,737,683
Represented by AT &EIEZT
Bank balances and cash WITHEB LIRS 2,361,909 2,089,625
Less: restricted bank deposits and term & @ PR HIERITF KL
deposits with original maturity REBAR BB =(EA
over three months 5 BT 3K (437,500) (351,942)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E MR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

132

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the "Company”) was
incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Its shares have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) since 26 November 2010. The registered
office of the Company is Maples Corporate Services Limited,
PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KYI-1104,
Cayman Islands.

As at 31 December 2022, China Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd.
("Mengniu”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary together owned
56.36% of the issued share capital of the Company. Mengniu
and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively referred to as
“Mengniu Group”.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in production and
sales of milk, trading, production and sales of feeds. The
Company and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “"Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

(a)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group's annual
period beginning on 1 January 2022 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendment to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to |AS 37

Amendments to IFRS
Standards

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards 2018-2020

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

e A I B o g e o 2 R ([ I Bt
B EER ) WIEET

(a)

A2 57 B2 38 I A R Y B R Bt 3 R
HEERIMEET

RAFE  AEECDBEREAHER
SRR EE ((EREFTERES
B DEMI R 2022F1 A1 HFHREA
5 ) 4F 5 A 08 1 A R0 DA T B BR B
BHREEANER] - UWRHEEATT
W -

BRI R B iEZRES
BB 38R A ER]

BRI ISRE%E 20216 A30H 2
BB 165RH0 & BT & S A
Hi BHSER

Bt ERE Y% - BELEE
1657 S E] ~- FERRATA

Fri8 518

B e ERE BHEEeN-BY
37IERT AR

BRI a2  BERREI SRS 2R
BIEERT F[E (2018

FE20204F)
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N(BJ'ES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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W

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (MIFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

134

(a)

2.1

Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to
business combinations for which the acquisition
date was on or after 1 January 2022. The
amendments update a reference in IFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued by IASB
in March 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework")
instead of the International Accounting Standards
Committee’s Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in September 2010), add a requirement
that, for transactions and events within the
scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies, an
acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it
has assumed in a business combination and add
an explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The Group applies the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after 1 January 2022. The application of
the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(@) Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily

(continued)

2.2

Impacts on application of Amendments to

IFRS Standards Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2018-2020

The Group has applied the amendments for
the first time in the current year. The annual
improvements make amendments to the following
standards which are relevant to the Group:

IAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the
requirements in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
by removing the requirement in paragraph 22
of IAS 41 to exclude taxation cash flows when
measuring the fair value of a biological asset using
a present value technique.

The application of the amendments in the
current year has had no impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (MIFRSS") (continued)

(b) New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

IFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts'
the June 2020
and December 2021
Amendments to
IFRS 17)

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and IAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint
Venture?
Amendments to IFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and IFRS Practice Policies'

Statement 2

Amendments to IAS8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
anticipate that the application of new and amendments
to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Directors have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by RMB541,093,000 (2021: RMB723,466,000).
Taking into account, (i) the available credit facilities
of approximately RMB5,759,918,000 which remain
unutilised as at 31 December 2022 and of which, an
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 is from Inner Mongolia
Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner
Mongolia Mengniu”), a subsidiary of Mengniu, and
the remaining facilities are from licensed banks); (i) the
expected net cash inflows generated from the Group's
operations for the next twelve months, the Directors
are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
biological assets, which are measured at fair value less
costs to sell and certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period as explained in the accounting policies set out in
Note 3.2.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with IFRS 16 Leases ("IFRS 16"), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS
2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets ("IAS 36").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments ("IFRS 9") or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

1 42 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations
A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework except for transactions and events within the
scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, in which the Group applies
IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

J deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income
Taxes;

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured

at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

1 44 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. The subsequent
accounting for the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DT BER @

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
("CGU") (or group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets
of the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share
of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint
venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset
is available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DT BER @

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EERTBE®
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEHBA
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a PSR E 7N & B E K B 40 B (A HE R UK
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” A BNg R FRAEEEENEm
of the goods or services underlying the particular S ARTE A [ Il | 887 TR P o
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

BHETETRDNE B RRRE
(R R MR LARBAER A —
3| AR 7 B am S AR

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

fid i B A T AR — IRARAE - RS2
BEEREMEY  X2ET2EXM
7 B #) & 1T #0 E [2 B8 = IS [ B AR UK

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant

performance obligation if one of the following criteria is A
met:
e the customer simultaneously receives and o KPP RRUEIFEAREREREL

BB KO3

consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances o  AEEMBAILRIIEMNALE
ERAOREFEGRINEE 3

an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an . REBEHBAOWEIGRHAREE
BRINBENEE  MAKER
& T TR W EE 5 B TR EY
performance completed to date. BRI -

asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for

BRI WAREFERB AR AmK
PR 755 O 122 1) #E O 5 BA RERR

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of IFRS 16, or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land, property, machinery, motor
vehicles and office equipment that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability; and
. any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives
received.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

1 52 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022

GEMBHRRNEREEREE
TR @)

3.2 EESHBERw®w

HEWm
KEFERATNA (55)
FRAEEE
FRABEENNREBIE

e MEREBEWIISHESRE K

o AR B EE Z AT ATERY (AT
ENF O BEMEREHEEE
% o

ERREERKANRIMNRFINER
MEBEE  YHESEREENE
et EFHFE -

EREEEREGF AT ERAFHRE
B WEEENERENTE -

REBMPNER A BB R P 5 E A E
BEBIZY -

REEERS
ENAREHEER S RIEBERY R
HEAERARR - L FE A FER
B - R F R E R FEMEARE
WRABIMEENRLFAEREER
EERKTR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments); and

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market
rental rates are initially measured using the market
rental rates as at the commencement date. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

1 54 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under "“other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.

A government grant related to a biological asset
measured at its fair value less costs to sell was
recognised in profit or loss when, and only when, the
conditions attaching to the government grant are met.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
under the state-managed retirement benefit schemes
in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") are
recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

1 56 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Short-term employee benefits (continued)
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration of all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share award reserve).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share award reserve.

When the award shares are vested, the amount
previously recognised in share award reserve and the
amount of the relevant treasury shares included in
equity under the heading of shares held under the share
award scheme is reversed and the differences arising
from the reversal is adjusted to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill.

1 58 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DT BER @

n

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than freehold lands and properties under
construction as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes (classified as
construction in progress) are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment other than freehold land
and construction in progress less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DT BER @

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost). Subsequent to initial
recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and other intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S BER®

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and other intangible assets other than
gOOdWi” (continued)
The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and other intangible
assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and other intangible assets other than
gOOdWi” (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. MEMBBRNEREERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B Ew®
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 EESTEHR®

Cash and cash equivalents RERESEEY

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash gEaBengkms  RekRe

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of: ZEYBE -

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and @ Be 2EFHEASRKEHT
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that FAABREIEERGIEHEH
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in ERTBENERESEENRITLE
such balances no longer meeting the definition of g &
cash; and

(o) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term b) BHEeEEY EERBHEGEERE
(generally with original maturity of three months REBMER=ZEAER) 7
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily FERERSDMBERS AEE
convertible to a known amount of cash and which gPRB T AN RBERE
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in BeEBEYRERRERE &
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose - MIEARNRESEMBR -
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

Inventories 78

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net FETRKAET S HEME T &

realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined RIEEF| IR - FEXARANEF X

on weighted average method. Net realisable value EE - ABRFEEFEMAEER

represents the estimated selling price for inventories FIB T TR AN R E TR o

less all estimated costs of completion and costs EITHEMFTORABEEERBRR

necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make HEMIEEN AR AEBRETHE
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable A JEEE A B FEIE BRI ©

to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Biological assets

The Group's biological assets comprise dairy cows.
Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves,
are measured on initial recognition and at the end of
the reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell,
with any resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss for the year in which it arises.

The feeding costs and other related costs including
staff costs, depreciation charge, utility costs and
consumables incurred for raising of heifers and calves
are capitalised, until such time as the heifers and calves
begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Raw milk is
recognised at the point of harvest at its fair value less
costs to sell. A gain or loss arising from agricultural
produce at the point of harvest measuring at fair value
less costs to sell is included in profit or loss for the
period in which it arises.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15"). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

1 68 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022

3.

GBEVERRNEREEREE
S BEE®

3.2 EESHBERw®w

ERMIAE®

SHEERSBBEVI SR A FE
2 MEABHTEFPANNERES
IR SR (W) 25 42 B B B 765 4 #5 22 RI 56 155
EFPAOBA(ERMEREEDNSE
155 DFTE) BRI - WEBEITESHE
EremBEHEAFEF AR (&
AFEFABRDHNEREES S
BERINEZERIEHRFHKAR
FTHEARNEREEISREEE
BB RAFEF AR E o WEEA
FEFAEBENESHEEXSHERE
HERBENRZEAERIEEPE

X7
e

BEAEANHEERAERSBE
18 0 8 B8P T 275 BB A 0 TR
BWARFIEHMEMITE - BIFIE
PRNSBREREBEEREBE
{078 5 7 0 PR 4 B (43 FR) B0
HR P BB TR 5 R R S AR
$O (45 M AR B 5 A R
MFAENRERBARES - 25
B T B B T 25 BR B A A
IR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets of the Group are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

J on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

(i)

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %@i2022¢12ﬂ MBEIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. MEVBBRRNGHREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S EE®

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 EESHBERw®w

Financial instruments (continued) EMIA@
Financial assets (continued) A E )
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREENSBAREZTE®

assets (continued)

(i)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

(iii)

(continued)

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line
item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL

model on financial assets (including trade and other

receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances)

which are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS

9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date

to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DT BER @

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 EESHBERw®w

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022

$RMIAE®W

T EEE )

IR B B B T e S E R 2B 9578 T H#E 1T
BENGHNSREERE®
HEREEFEENEETIANTE
BFHAMBAREEENENSHE
ERMEHBREEEE - R2 12887
HMEEEE(12EAEHEEEE)
IETEBRE R R4 B HER1R 121 A WAl e
BAEMBAOSHEENE D 2 HITER
EEEE - M IRBEASEENBE
EEBEBLERET  UREBEEBAR
BHAZE - BRELERLARERS
B HA & AR K R AR AR 5 T8 R A9 5T A
TERFEE -

AEBRELEKE 5 RRER 2 H
BEHMEERE -

AR MTAMNSE - AREFER
BRESM2EABRREEEE K
FEMREREEERARBEZEM
ERERT @ AEERIZ2HERE
EEE -FHEHBRACERERD
FEHERDER B R ERARELE
KIS R R AV RT BEIERRZ G N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Definition of default

(iii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv)

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022

3.

GREVKRRNEREEREE
S BEE®

3.2 EESTHHE®

$RMIAE®W

T EEE )

IR B B B T e S E R 2B 9578 T H#E 1T

BENGHNSREERE®

(i) EERELHBHEE

e [ERAMNERARBEE

RAMBRBEHLERE
HEHAMAEERARLDLE
RATEBTERNE
=

o ERAKAIRERARESN
Hip B EA 3k

s HRMBRESINTE
BEBRBMZHERK -

(iv)  HEHBCR
EERBTHTFTENEEV R
K EBBRUE AT AR - PlansF

THRBERNDEARERRFE
(AR ERE)  AEBEAIMH
TRMEE - KBERELAEBERR
(H&E)  EMHENSREER
BEDZAIR A SR B B A2 Fr #E 1T 58
HITTIEE) - MEHEARBUERER
FI7 o HAERKE LR GT E

7
e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. MEMBBRNEREERER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B Ew®
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 EESTEHR®
Financial instruments (continued) SRIT R @
Financial assets (continued) 2 EEE (B
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment R AR B PR B R R 5 R RI SE 997 28 T 1T
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued) BB & RE ERE®
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL v) FEHEEEENGTE RER
The measurement of ECL is a function of the TEHREEEBNEEUARELN
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. BMx - BHOBRX(MEZORH
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) BEREE) MENRRAE - &
and the exposure at default. The assessment AMERBHABBEENTELE
of the probability of default and loss given B EUR R ATE I EEHED -
default is based on historical data and forward- EHEEEBENEMGREER
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects BMEMESRE  UFEEEED
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount WERSEEET - AEEES
that is determined with the respective risks of BRTEEEBRERRERAE
default occurring as the weights. The Group uses PR ES HEN RIS R ATIE M &
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade BIEERAT - SRR BB
receivables of feeds using a provision matrix R EWE ZERNBEREER
taking into consideration historical credit loss 8o
experience and forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all —RimE - BHEEEEARE
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group BHRENAEENMBEEHR S
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows e B B T R A IR 2R
that the Group expects to receive, discounted ERRVBRERREETNER
at the effective interest rate determined at initial FIEAEIR) 2 MW ZRE - ZFE
recognition. The ECL on these assets are assessed ENEHEERRRBEEDE
individually or collectively with appropriate BB L EE R BT -
groupings.
For collective assessment, the Group takes into HRNEBTE  AEBTEFES
consideration the following characteristics when AREZRT AT
formulating the grouping:
e Past-due status; o EHRRE
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and D BEBEAMEE « BERT
E 53
e External credit ratings where available. o TAMINEMEAFTAR -
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross

carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the "FVTOCI" reserve is
not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBERRNEREEREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DT BER @

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 BEESTEER®

Financial instruments (continued) SRIT R @

Financial liabilities and equity (continued) DEEERE @)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued) BRAVEFABRNEREE®

A financial liability is held for trading if: HEBLATERL 2RABAFKEER

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of . WEERBENFZBNANE
repurchasing it in the near term; or HAREED ;3

e oninitial recognition it is part of a portfolio of o  RYIFHRE  HAAEEER
identified financial instruments that the Group BEMEHNeRTAAEN—
manages together and has a recent actual pattern o - WwEA R HARRAEL R
of short-term profit-taking; or HERERN %

e itis a derivative, except for a derivative that is a e BRITATAR  EERUBER
financial guarantee contract or a designated and BRREEERERATAENITE
effective hedging instrument. TEARRH -

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKATENTREE

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, TRAEGEEEEMNESRERLHME

bank borrowings, other borrowings, short term NFIE - RITRER - EMER - 25

debenture and long term bonds are subsequently MEFRERHAGESF HEFABERME

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest SRR AR E o

method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities BEBEREMBE

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and REBEETEETESR - BUEZE

only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, IER - FERUEBRRermAE - BUS

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the BRCHAGBMNREERD N RER
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised RENEZFNERFESR -

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 are
not separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified
and subsequently measured in its entirety as either
amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when, the
Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements of biological assets

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the end of the reporting period. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on market observable data to estimate the fair value
of biological assets. For heifers and calves, the fair value is
determined based on the 14 months old heifers’ local market
selling prices and adjusted by estimated feeding costs for
heifers and calves older or younger than 14 months. For
milkable cows, the fair value is determined by using the multi-
period excess earning method with key inputs including the
discount rate, the estimated feed costs per kilogram (“kg") of
raw milk, estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated future market price of raw milk.
Any changes in the inputs may affect the fair value of the
Group's biological assets significantly. The carrying amount
of the Group's biological assets as at 31 December 2022 was
RMB10,631,171,000 (2021: RMB9,404,924,000). Further details
are set out in Notes 22 and 44.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCE RTAI NTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of its value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable pre-
tax discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected or
when there is a downward revision to the estimated future
cash flows due to changes in facts and circumstances, further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill
is RMB2,406,658,000 (2021: RMB2,075,591,000), net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB213,429,000 (2021:
RMB213,429,000). Details of the impairment test are disclosed
in Note 18.

BT THEEENEERR®

BB MG EHRE
ErTRERLRERHENAENREE
BRI ESRIEE L R AR ERE
BRAFHERHEREANRZERE - £5
BEAEEFAKEGFRHELEREGE
EEBEUMARKRERE RSBV RIREIR R
UHERE - WERNRRRSRERNE
HI AR EE RSN E F i HEFH R KR
TREETHERR - AAeghRE—F
R EET1E o

MR2022% 128310 BEMNETEAA
R#2,406,658,0007T (20214 1 AR
2,075,591,0007T) + B 2 RERBE
ANR#213,429,0007C (20214 1 AR
213,429,0007T) ° BRI BB R K18

REVENUE WA
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) EBFEEEHWAMD
customers
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
Types of goods mmiEa
Raw milk R 9,945,090 7,005,012
Feeds gkt 2,350,001 73,458
12,295,091 7,078,470
Timing of revenue recognition LN s
A point in time SR 12,295,091 7,078,470
Geographical markets IR TS
Mainland China B A i, 11,944,167 7,059,603
Other countries HA R 350,924 18,867
12,295,091 7,078,470
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REVE N U E (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

For the sales of raw milk, revenue is recognised when
control of the raw milk has been transferred, being at
the point the customer received and accepted the raw
milk, the normal credit term of which is 30 days. For
the sales of feeds, revenue is recognised when control
of the feeds has been transferred, being at the point
the customers received the feeds or at the point being
despatched, depending on the terms of the contracts,
the normal credit term is generally 30 to 90 days.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Sales of raw milk and feeds are for periods of one year
or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the
total sales of the Group is as follows:

5. T Awm

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BEFENNENES

REERBNME - WARBEBR
4% il B JE e 27 (B &8 P U B %
RRENE) - —RIEEH/I0K - FH
HEFAMS  WAREEBREHE
) 4 ey JEE e 2R (B 30 P LA 30 S e By e
HE (BURR B KER)) - —RIEEH
730E90K ©

TREREFENRTEARERN
R E®E

FERDHERAMNHERRS —FXHE
2 o EBIERE B S ERIE 155 10 5F
WERT  KREBEDEEZSTRED
REMNRFHER -

EBRTEEFMNER
WAEEHEEHLFESRI0%A LT
FRAMT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Customer A ZEA
Raw milk business GEESUES 9,201,510 5,977,915
Feed business fRF TS - 3,125
9,201,510 5,981,040
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments
to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker (the “"CODM"), in order to
allocate resources and assess performance. In December
2021, the Group commenced the business of sales of feeds,
which is regarded as a new operating segment by the CODM.
Information reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resources allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on the types of goods delivered.

The Group's reportable segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:
Raw milk business — raising and breeding dairy cows to
produce and sell raw milk.

Feed business — trading, production and sales of feeds.
Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 EER

BRI 75 3R 5 R £ 8WAL & 5 AR E IR IR
TBLERRE(EREERRE ) EHE
BB R AR BAR A B0 0 1O O BB 3R 5 8 BIIAR
EnE - U BB IR RFFERR - 2021F
12A - ARBEFRARHRHEERS - ZXBR
TBELERRERR/TNEEDH - BOR
BEREFEDBREMAEBLEREER
FHEREPRAZNEDNER -

AEBRBERM B RS
DEBEAS

ERFEBFE T E M

B - MBERBENFAEE
KSR E R o

=

FARER -8  FENRHESAM -
PR Y E S
AT RIR2HO 2O ARNEEAOWA K E

AT

BZE2022F 128318 LEE

Total
Raw Feed reportable
milk business business segments  Eliminations  Consolidated
YIS S MAEE E2RIPLE H &8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue pix:i ON
External sales HIMNEE 9,945,090 2,350,001 12,295,091 - 12,295,091
Inter-segment sales D EEEE - 1,882,062 1,882,062 (1,882,062) -
9,945,090 4,232,063 14,177,153 (1,882,062) 12,295,091
Segment profit aR=0idi 1,264,352 70,896 1,335,248 (9,278) 1,325,970
Share of profit of associates  FEG & 72 A& 7l 15,018
Unallocated other income KA EEEAMA 8,255
Unallocated other gains and &7 Bt H o fias &
losses BR (369,429)
Unallocated expenses FOEHEY (384,773)
Profit before tax BRI A& A 595,041
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

6.

7o 2 E Bl
TENE R EE@®
BZE2021F12831BLLEE

Total
Raw Feed reportable
milk business business segments Eliminations  Consolidated
RRHNER FREE 2O HER B e
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARBTT
Segment revenue P EHA
External sales HoNEE 7,005,012 73,458 7,078,470 - 7,078,470
Inter-segment sales DEEEE - 368,142 368,142 (368,142) -
7,005,012 441,600 7,446,612 (368,142) 7,078,470
Segment profit SPEH 1,127,828 418 103195 - 11319%
Share of profits of associates FE{H & 2 Bl & 7l 36,928
Unallocated otherincome  FA B EMEA 2,733
Unallocated other gains and &7 B E s &
losses BB 60,778
Unallocated expenses FOEAZ (197,173)
Profit before tax B 250 3 5 1,035,222
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the RED B G BUER BT3P A EEE
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note EETBORAER 2 EaFIE % 5 5P AT HRELY
3. Segment profit represents the profit before tax earned by BRIADGEN » RORPRITHAX - BEK
each segment without allocation of central administration ARF - ETHMW S R EE M EEEE
expenses, corporate income and expenses, certain other RENEM (L IFEERBREEDED) - 1tTh
gains and losses and share of profit of associates that are RERTEEERREANERDE RS H
not directly attributable to operating segments. This is the RIMFTEMERE - D HHARARERERE 2

measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance. Inter-
segment revenue is charged at prices agreed between group
entities, which are determined by reference to the prices
offered to third party customers.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEEF @

Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERAE

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results FEREBRARERBEDINLEEEIELY
of each segment. No analysis of segment assets and segment AR BAREZELEARARETGERNERD
liabilities is presented as the CODM does not regularly review e R FRF A2 BT BHEELEER
such information for the purposes of resources allocation and IREINDHEERDFBEST ©
performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue It - B2 HRA RS EES -

and segment results are presented.

Other segment information Hith 2 & & #
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZ2022F12831HILEE
Total
Raw Feed reportable
milk business business segments  Unallocated  Consolidated
GERYIES)S FRER ZRIPAHE AAE )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE  ARBTR  AR®TR  AR®Tx ARBT R

Amounts includedinthe  FFADEERFEN

measure of segment Ea

profit or loss:
Depreciation and TREBRNTER

amortisation charged to i

profit or loss 370,880 17,584 388,464 10,295 398,759
Impairment losses of trade ~ [EMNE S8R R H At

and other receivables RS IBRREER - 1,965 1,965 30 1,995
Impairment losses on 0E - BE kBB

property, plant and REEE

equipment 1,895 - 1,895 - 1,895
Loss (gain) on disposal of HENE BER

property, plant and FENEE W)

equipment 5,978 - 5,978 (21,300) (15,322)
Gain on termination of LIRS REN

lease agreements (3,652) - (3,652) - (3,652)
Loss on disposal of other  HEH BT EEM

intangible assets B8 165 - 165 - 165
Finance costs BEMAK 362,455 17,104 379,559 - 379,559
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. DEHER @

Other segment information (continued) Hth 2 # & #
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE2021F12A318ILFE
Total
Raw Feed reportable
milk business business segments Unallocated  Consolidated
RRHNER ARERE 2RHODEE ROHE e
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTFT AREFT ARETFT ARBTT
Amountsincludedinthe — FTADHIBHEM
measure of segment ek
profit or loss:
Depreciation and TG EBENTER
amortisation charged to B
profit or loss 289,694 2,866 292,560 3,017 295,577
Impairment losses of trade  [EME S IR H
and other receivables FEWFIER BB E B - - - 476 476
Loss (gain) on disposal HENE  BER
of property, plant and R R (k)
equipment 9,680 (5) 9,675 (16) 9,659
Finance costs BEKA 196,107 2,025 198,132 - 198,132

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. THER @
Geographical information B E R
The Group's operations are located in Mainland China and AEEBMEBURFRBRAMEREE([E
the United States of America (“USA"). Bl -
Information about the Group’s revenue from external EEASEBEREMNTEFLHBRAERTHIRE
customers is presented based on the location of the EMEEY c BRREEIERDEENER
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets TIREENMIBLEZT -
is presented based on the geographical location of the
assets.
Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (Note)
RENBEFHBA FEMEE E (B 5E)
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022%F 20214 2022%F 20214

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETRT ARETRT ARBTRT ARBTRT

Mainland China hE A 11,877,865 7,057,441 20,429,080 17,810,823
USA ESE 417,226 21,029 102,716 119,119

12,295,091 7,078,470 20,531,796 17,929,942

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred Wit : ERBEETRESRITEMELERE
tax assets. BEE o
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OTHER INCOME HAt g A
2022 2021
2022% 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTIT
Bank interest income IRITHALEHA 60,393 46,143
Government grants related to BELAT - IE 5% B9 BT #8 B
~ Assets (Note 34) - BE (H7E34) 78,506 47,733
- Others (Note) - Bt (Bt =) 31,391 16,394
109,897 64,127
Others Hh 31,269 13,565
201,559 123,835
Note: These government grants are unconditional government MieE : R BB AL AR EBEYE BT B

subsidies received by the Group from relevant government
bodies for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group's operation.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND 8. BREMERARBIEAER
TAX
Profit before finance costs and tax is arrived at after charging B B & B 7N R B TR A K T9 F1 Bk (BT A T 51
(crediting): ZIEZFTESSL -
2022 2021
2022% 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Cost of sales: SHEM A -
Breeding costs to produce raw milk FEREH R ETA AR 6,850,047 4,470,101
Raw milk fair value adjustments included in  5F ASHE KA B ERHN A FE
cost of sales = 2,887,548 2,378,446
Cost of feeds sold BE H SRR A 2,178,065 58,894
11,915,660 6,907,441
Other gains and losses, net: E b es KR B HRFER ¢
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) SNE 5 18 (M e ) F /8 377,346 (84,287)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE M&E W)
plant and equipment B8 (15,322) 9,659
Gain on termination of lease agreements LIFEE R RO R E (3,652) -
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets & H A EEREIE 165 -
Impairment losses of property, plant M -~ BB KRR ERREE R
and equipment 1,895 -
Fair value gain on structured deposits EEMTFRN AT ERE (2,465) (1,821)
Fair value loss (gain) on derivative financial T4 ¢RI T AR F(EEIE
instruments: Mz -
Foreign currency forward contracts HNERHBIE A 2,172 1,999
Foreign currency option contracts SNEERRES X (53,321) 90,884
CFCCS CFCCS 69,844 (67,537)
18,695 25,346
376,662 (51,103)
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PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND 8.

TAX (continued)

Profit before finance costs and tax is arrived at after charging

(crediting): (continued)

BREUE A R BLIRAD

BREAESL - (8

)

B b B AR R AR TR AR A 5 F0ER GEA) T3

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T AREFTT
Depreciation of property, plant and M -~ BB RREITE
equipment 656,706 495,263
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRREENE 73,924 22,296
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 4,207 54
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMBEEEN e (336,078) (222,036)
Depreciation and amortisation charged MR BiEmaITE RN
to profit or loss 398,759 295,577
Short-term lease expense CHIEERY 39,687 21,301
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEENMEER (16,577) (9,070)
Short-term lease expense charged to profit 1k BBz KEHHEER S
or loss 23,110 12,231
Employee benefits expense: EEBMFX
Salaries and allowances e KRR 907,665 599,645
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 3R R1& FIFT B 5K 68,368 39,635
Equity-settled share award expense VAR HE 45 B ) iR 1) 22 B el =2 44,950 22,224
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEENME e (272,379) (173,506)
Employee benefits charged to profit or loss 0Bk B Bz K& B & F 748,604 487,998
Auditors’ remuneration 2 &R 2 B 4,400 3,350
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9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BERA

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFTT

Interest expenses on: FEFMZ :
Bank borrowings IRITHERK 277,311 187,924
Long term bonds EHIES 79,117 34,994
Short term debenture ISR 522 -
Other borrowings EfEmk 11,920 11,142
Lease liabilities HEAE 36,840 12,890
Total borrowing cost ERN® NG 405,710 246,950
Fair value gain on interest rate swaps MRz IR T ER (26,151) (48,818)
379,559 198,132

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

10. FHIEEBERE TRERSSE

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL HIBRER [EI
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Impairment losses recognised in respect of: Tt 51| & BHERHRERIE

Trade receivables JEUE Z BRI 1,965 -
Other receivables H b U sk I8 30 476
1,995 476

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.

BAERHE IR EIINHIES -

SEo—EER FERRNEBREEATE 193



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

11.

194

INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED 1. FiEBiA X RIELERIE
TAXATION
Income tax expense BRI X
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Current tax: BNHARLIA -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax RS 11,295 2,279
Other jurisdiction Hith Bl AR 1,820 124
Under provision in respect of prior years: BTFEMNRETR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRI 5,969 -
Deferred tax: EIEFIA (4,309) (380)
14,775 2,023

The Company is incorporated as an exempted company and
as such is not subject to Cayman Islands taxation.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from Hong
Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory income tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

According to the prevailing tax rules and regulation of the
EIT Law, 42 subsidiaries of the Group is exempted from
enterprise income tax for taxable profit from the operation
of agricultural business in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: 31 subsidiaries).

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED
TAXATION (continued)

Income tax expense (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to RMB4,448,225,000 as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: RMB3,383,399,000) as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The income tax expense for the current year can be
reconciled to profit before tax per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

1. FriS BB 32 S SE B 8 o

ERBAX@®

BEBEFECEMESRZE - RPREAMA
RINERERIINEREES KRR EBHNR
10%HITEHFL © 5% FRE B 200851 A1 B e A
o WEAR2007F12A31HENETF -
i BN IR E B TR R ERERET LT
FRIBGY - BT REENPRBE - XEEH
B L R B5%5810% ° 12022412 A 31
B WARBFEKBRR R a8 AR
4,448,225,0007C (202141283180 1 AR
3,383,399,0007T) A &R & M IS SR pLiIEERL
TRIEBE - ThAR R A& B aE S5 fil % = 8

B R ROBS B M S E R Z RN A R KA
e ERm o
NTRAFEMERAX BREEm MEM

2HEME %WVF%RHM St A B B -

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFTT
Profit before tax B& 5 A1t 7 595,041 1,035,222
Tax at applicable income tax rate at 25%  1REAMB T E25%TER
(2021: 25%) B8 (20214F © 25%) 148,760 258,806
Effect of tax exemption granted to BEERGTFENTE
agricultural entities (377,081) (318,643)
Effect of unutilised losses incurred from #%%%FE*@J%EE&
agricultural business and other non- Ht AR E
deductible expenses 234,352 54,782
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries )5’3 Lt B0 M [ 4 2 e Bl /BB
operating in other jurisdictions RENTRRENZE (234) (26)
Effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEEBENTE 6,817 7,105
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FABERERTIAERE
recognised (3,808) m
Under provision in respect of prior years BEFENBETR 5,969 -
Income tax expense TSR = 14,775 2,023
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED
TAXATION (continued)

Income tax expense (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's PRC subsidiaries had
unused tax losses of RMB109,898,000 (2021: RMB154,575,000)
incurred by non-agricultural business in the PRC. These
unused tax losses as at 31 December 2022 will expire in
year 2023 to year 2027 as disclosed in the following table if
not utilised. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such tax losses as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the tax losses can be

1. ISR RELEREw

ERBAX@®

720226128318 AEBNFRKEAQ
AP RAEREERELENABDARIES
B A AR#109,898,0007T (20214 : AR
154,575,0007T) ° fifi72022F 12 A31H#Z S
REBARBEBAESH - HER2023F%2
2027F fEim  MMNRFTIEE - AR A e
ESERT A M BAHESE - Bkl
ERARREREERRELREEE

utilised.
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
2022 20224 - 71,748
2023 20234 31,624 31,684
2024 20244 592 596
2025 20254 15,547 15,550
2026 20264F 34,867 34,997
2027 20274 27,268 -
109,898 154,575

Deferred taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis
of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

IEFER R
RREAMBRARTHZIIME - ETE
ERIBEEENBBECLENE - AT EHRE
BiE B R IR AR DA

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Deferred tax assets RIEFHIEEE 827 2,337
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE (22,454) (20,868)
(21,627) (18,531)
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED
TAXATION (continued)

1. IEBAXREZER Ew

Deferred taxation (continued) iRy AT )
Temporary
difference Fair value
of property, adjustments
plant and upon
equipment  acquisition Others Total
W - BB
RBHEH  WBREL
EREE QAVERER Ht st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥FTR AR®BTRT AR®TR AR¥F T
(Note i) (Note ii)
(B =) (B =Eii)
At 1 January 2021 MR2021F171H - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries IR BE T B A 7 (15,071) (5,357) 1,509 (18,919)
Exchange adjustments RIS 9 - (1) 8
Credit to profit or loss FFAE=E - 380 - 380
At 31 December 2021 720215128 31H (15,062) (4,977) 1,508 (18,531)
Acquisition of subsidiaries  UREEHI B A A - (6,563) 345 (6,218)
Exchange adjustments [ 5 38 & (1,290) - 103 (1,187)
Credit (charge) to profitor ~ FF AIB&
loss (BE&EHR) 2,284 2,351 (326) 4,309
At 31 December 2022 20224124318 (14,068) (9,189) 1,630 (21,627)
Notes: M3 -

The deferred tax for fair value adjustments related to the fair
value adjustments of certain freehold land, property, plant and
equipment upon acquisition of subsidiaries.

Others mainly comprised the temporary differences arising
from allowance for credit losses in the PRC and accrued
expenses, inventory capitalization adjustment etc., due to the
temporary differences under federal and state income tax in

the USA.

NP EHR AR IR SR B A F 6
FUAA KL - WE - BB REREN
N EHARER -

i EOTEeRERXEBARMASRE R
EHEBWTEEEBRERNIARE
B FEEAMBEEELNERZE -

“EC_S5% PEARKURERFRAR
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHRAEMNE

EMOLUMENTS

Details of the directors’ and the chief executive’'s emoluments

198

are as follows:

EERTBTRABMEFHBNT

2022
2022F
Salaries, Performance Retirement
Directors'  allowances and related benefits scheme
fees  benefits-in-kind bonuses contributions Total
¥o 2ER RARH BIRER
¥ kA BNEHN i HERR o
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTR AR%TR ARETR ARETR AR¥ETR
(Note v)
(Mztv)
Executive directors BIES
Mr. Sun Yugang (Note iv) BERESE ) - 2,147 4,200 108 6,455
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Note iv) RS () - 1,535 2,280 108 3923
Non-executive directors FNTES
Mr. Lu Minfang ESMELE - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping RTEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiejun BEEEE - - - - -
Ms. Gan Lu HELt - - - - -
Independent non-executive  BUIERTEE
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ ZAELAE 205 - - - 205
Mr. Li Shengli EHREE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Chow Ming Sang ERZERE 205 - - - 205
610 3,682 6,480 216 10,988
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHRAEMEw
E MOLU M E NTS (continued)
201
2021F
Salaries, Performance Retirement
Directors’  allowances and related  benefits scheme
fees  benefits-in-kind bonuses contributions Total
e RER FIEH RAREN
EE Yk B e Sl Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTT ARETR YN ARBFR
(Note v)
(Bi33v)
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Gao Lina (Note ii&iv) ARt (friTigiv) - 1,157 - - 1,157
Mr. Sun Yugang (Note iv) FERI% 4 (Ftstv) - 1,825 5,020 86 6,931
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Note ii&v) BRI A (T Hii&iv) - 128 43 8 879
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Lu Minfang ESMEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping RTEEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiejun BEELE - - - - -
Ms. Gan Lu "Rt - - - - -
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Note ii) REEB A (M) - - - - -
Independent non-executive  BUFH{TEE
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway FhERE 199 - - - 199
Mr. Li Shengi EEFEE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Chow Ming Sang R L4 (i)
(Note iii) 100 - - - 100
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul% £
(Note iii) (B i) - - - - -
499 3,110 5763 94 9,466
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments disclosed above for executive directors
were for the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Notes:

No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

ii. Ms. Gao Lina resigned from her position with effect from 1 July
2021, while Mr. Zhu Xiaohui was appointed as a non-executive
director on the same day and subsequently appointed as an
executive director with effect from 30 November 2021. Mr. Zhu
Xiaohui is also the chief financial officer of the Company.

iii. Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul resigned from his position of
independent non-executive director with effect from 1
July 2021, while Mr. Chow Ming Sang was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on the same day.

iv. As of 31 December 2022, certain directors were granted share
awards in respect of their services to the Group under the
share award scheme of the Company, further details of which
are set out in Note 37. During the year, the equity-settled share
based payments relating to the share awards granted to Mr.
Sun Yugang who is also the chief executive, Mr. Zhu Xiaohui
and Ms. Gao Lina were RMB3,172,000 (2021: RMB923,000),
RMB2,170,000 (2021: RMB134,000), and RMB393,000 (2021:
RMB895,000), respectively. The equity-settled share-based
payments relating to the share award granted to these
directors are not included in the details of emoluments above.

V. Performance related bonuses are determined based on the
Group's performance, performance of the relevant individual
within the Group and comparable market statistics.

ZOO China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022

12. EERFETHAEMEw®

EXFBEBEATEEHEREEARA LA
SEEHEHHE -

EXFIBLIFATESNME REEIER
ARREBFNRBME -

GEX

i HE2022F12A31BIEFE  EEENR
2ok BB ETAZ (20214 « &) o

ii. SEMZEEERS - B2021F7A18#
AW KREBEERABREZTAIENT
FE O HEEZTAWITES  B2021F
11A30B AR - KREELEINARDQR]
NERVEE °

ii.  Wolhardt Julian JuulZc £ BHEB IEBNTT
EFWHS - B2021F7ABRBRER W
ARELERFABEZEARBILIENITE
$ °

iv. EiE2022%12A318  REAQIFTNK
NS BETESREAREERHE
HIPR SR IR 15 22/ - FEIB IR I 3E37 -
FR - HBRABAIBEE(RAEEBITERA
8) - KEBEEReBBLTREORN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included two (2021: one) directors of the Company, details of
whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in Note
12 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three
(2021: four) highest paid individuals for the year are as follows:

13. EEBAEFMAL
AEBENRLSSHMALTREARTM
Z(Q021F  —R)ESE - HFEMEBERER
HEE12 o EREB =R (Q0214F - mAR)
SEHMALHOHMEBET

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AREFT T AREFIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind e EZMEEYRET 4,478 5113
Performance related bonuses FIRHMNTEAT 6,474 9,130
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR Rf&FI5H I FX 335 334
Equity-settled share award expense RIBREBE R SRR X 5,235 2,930
16,522 17,507

No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors nor chief executive of the Company whose
remuneration (including equity-settled share-based payments)
fell within the following bands in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD")
is as follows:

HZE2022F12A31B LG E - AEEBER
EERRAERSFIMA TN - 15
BN A EE KB e EE R AE AT
B (20214 : &) -

BT (T T DEHER M (B R IR RS
B AR AD SIS 50 BIA T &E M IEA R
RAEEIFTETBRABREHMIER AR
L

2022 2021

2022%F 20214F

HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 4,500,001 7T & 5,000,000/ 7T - 1
HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 5,000,001 7T 2 5,500,000/ 7T - 2
HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000 5,500,001 7T 2 6,000,000 7T 1 -
HKD6,000,001 to HKDé,500,000 6,000,0017% 7T & 6,500,000 7T 1 1
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000 6,500,001 7T & 7,000,000 7T 1 -
3 4

“EC_S5% PEARKURERFRAR

201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

13

14.

202

. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees were granted share awards, in respect of their
services to the Group under the share award scheme of the
Company. Details of the share award scheme are set out in
Note 37.

DIVIDENDS

During the year, a final dividend of RMB0.026 per share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 (2021: RMB0.02
per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020)
was declared and paid to the owners of the Company. The
aggregate amount of the final dividend declared and paid
in the current year amounted to RMB204,390,000 (2021:
RMB142,532,000) and was appropriated from the Company's
distributable share premium.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of
RMBO0.0142 per ordinary share has been proposed by the
Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming general meeting.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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EEBREFHFMA L@
BEARAFINRMDERE - BTIEEER
FEETHAENZSFIEESREHAE
B 5 AR IS IER 0 2B - M BB ET BIFEIB
BRI FE3T o

RE

FR - BREE2021F12A31B IEFEE AR
REEBATREENTZRARE0.026
JC(20214F : BLEE 2020128318 15
EzERARKE0.027T) 2 KREKE o &
FETSRERNOKRBREBEAARE
204,390,0007T (20214F = AR %142,532,000
JT) ¢ I B AR B A R B9 IR D i (B A
5o

REpEEARE - EFEERBEE2022F12H
SMNELEFERERBRETRLTBIRARE
0.01427t - BEBRBARRRNEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

15. BIRER

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

RRRHE NEHERERNNEGE R TR
BEATNBUERRE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBTTT
Profit s F
Profit for the year attributable to owners of A2 R H A &N F R 5
the Company 562,497 1,018,832
Profit for the purpose of basic and diluted AR ESRERNLEE
earnings per share paebill=obiawil 562,497 1,018,832
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
Shares Shares
B &
Number of shares RHEHE
Weighted average number of ordinary BRETEERERETH
shares for the purpose of basic earnings TR I 5 8
per share 7,859,032,978 7,062,840,875
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:  #8/B/E L MR A&
Share awards P& tn B2 25,269,600 17,603,554
7,884,302,578 7,080,444,429

The number of shares adopted in the calculation of the basic
earnings per share has been arrived at after adjusting the
effect of shares repurchased by the Company and the shares

held under the Company'’s share award scheme.

A EERERBA RN RN EE R AR
RN BB R D R AN AR SR m 8 AT RS
BRI EBRSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

W

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

204

16. Y% - BERRE

Freehold Motor Plant and Construction in
land Buildings vehicles equipment progress Total
KAEE ) . X
i BF RE BERZE ERIR a;
RVBOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT ARETR
Cost A
Balance at 1 January 2021 RONE1A1BMER - 5141287 21,494 1,818,461 52450 7,033,692
Additions AE - 24,659 6,051 157,687 347 442 535,839
Transfer @;Tﬁ - 264,566 799 76,608 (341.973) -
Acquired on asset acquisitions BEWERNE - - - 47 3116 33163
Acquired on business combination £ AHENE 48228 1422343 2946 421,862 50452 1,945,831
Exchange adjustments B 8% (17 ) ) 53 o) (123
Disposals e - (73,680) (8,311) (82753 - (164,744)
Balance at 31 December 2021 R0NF12R31 AN 48,211 6,779,126 2971 2,391,859 141,485 9,383,658
Additions NE - 128623 59,839 251,867 595,409 1,035,738
Transfer ?ﬁfﬁ - 266,061 2,861 55438 (324,360) -
Reclassification L - 62919) 142,926 (80,011) - -
Acquired on business combination  EEAHENE - 73989 3848 18,042 1871 97750
Exchange adjustments 5 ER 5,150 73714 315 9,247 604 22690
Disposals ﬁfﬁ ) - (27,767) (8,728) (239.482) - (27597
Reclassified as held for sale (Note) ENNBABENE() (26,620) (8,259) - - - (34,878)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RANRE1ANBHES 26,741 7,156,233 224,038 2,406,960 415,009 10,228,981
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE
Balance at 1 January 2021 RONENANBHES - (2,383,337) (8,538) (1,141,068) - (3,532,943)
Charge for the year ERAX - (314463) (1,760) (179,040) - (495.263)
Exchange adjustments B 5 % - 19 1 R - 52
Eliminated on disposals irk 6z - 57,208 6547 76,508 - 140,263
Balance at 31 December 2021 RANE12ANBNER - (2,640,573) (3750) (1,243,568) - (3,887,891)
Charge for the year EMREX - (399,83¢) (30,779) (226,091) - (656,706)
Reclassification BNNE - 18,990 (68,327) 49,337 - -
Exchange adjustments R A% - (2,760) (230 (5,608) - (8,598)
Eliminated on disposals ﬁf_ﬁmfﬁ o - 7999 4,384 132,450 - 144,833
Redlassified as held for sale (Note) BN EARELE(D - 6,234 - - - 6,234
Balance at 31 December 2022 RAVF12ANBNER - (3,009,946) (98,702) (1,293,480) - (4,402,128)
Impairment AE
Balance at 1 January 2021 E/Q\ZOﬂ F12R3BMNES - (113459 63) (69,508) - (183,030)
Eliminated on disposals HEME - - 63 170 - 233
Balance at 31 December 2021 RONE1RNBHES - (113459 - (69,338) - (182.79)
Charge for the year EREY - (1,532 - (363) - (1,899)
Eliminated on disposals firks b - - - 60,746 - 60,746
Balance at 31 December 2022 RORFE1R3NBNES - (114,991) - (8,955) - (123,946)
Carrying amounts REE
Balance at 31 December 2022 RAVEANBNER 26,141 4,031,296 125,336 1,104,525 415,009 5,702,907
Balance at 31 December 2021 RONE1R3NBNES 48211 4,025,094 19227 1,078,953 141,485 5312970

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Note: In 2022, certain land and buildings of Haykingdom
International, Inc (“Haykingdom”) were classified as non-
current assets held for sale as the Group ceased operations
at two non-major locations in the USA and has initiated
actions to locate a buyer, and expects to sell the land and
buildings in 2023. These assets are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position at its carrying
amount of RMB28,644,000 and the net proceeds of disposal
are expected to exceed the carrying amount of the relevant
assets.

Depreciation is charged using straight-line method over the
expected useful life other than freehold land and construction
in progress, after taking into account its estimated residual
value, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 4.75%-9.50%
9.50%-19.00%
9.50%-19.00%

Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's properties of
RMB126,988,000 (2021: RMB112,057,000) were pledged to
secure bank and other borrowings of the Group (Notes 28
and 29).

16. V¥ - BRERRZRE®

MizE © 420224 + #Haykingdom International,
Inc([Haykingdom]) 897 F + ith &2 1 F 4
DERFHELEN ERDEE - RERAK
SEEFIFEEEMEFEZMEHONER
WERKRSKER @ BFR2023FHE
THIRIETF c ZEEENERAEARYK
28 644,0007T A &7 & B 5 R Sl % 7 B8 51

HEMSRIBEFEERBAEEE
E’UEEETE

FEREMAERFHOKARE LI RE
BITRERINALE REMGFRSRERRE
FREARER T 5 M EGHE -

BF 4.75%-9.50%
RE 9.50%-19.00%
= M & 9.50%-19.00%

R2022F 128318 AEB2BEAA
K#126,988,0007C (20214 : AR
112,057,00070) K ¥ B G H A RA LB
RYSRTT R E A 5 5K (FI5E28 % 29) »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAEEE
Leased
machinery
Leasehold Leased and Leased
land property  equipment farms Total
HEHN
HELH HENE T HEHE a@st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR AREBTT ARETR ARRTX

Cost 7S
Balance at 1 January 2021 20211 A1 B R &8 310,781 707 48,993 - 360,481
Additions RE 28,010 1,653 - - 29,663
Disposals HE (544) - - - (544)
Acquired on business EBAMEYE
combination 386,234 8,082 - - 394,316
Acquired on asset acquisitions BEWERKE 20,026 - - - 20,026
Balance at 31 December 2021 20215 12831 A &gk 744,507 10,442 48,993 - 803,942
Additions NE 98,353 1,786 - 439,682 539,821
Termination of leases (Note) IR E (3 (3,279) - (48,993) - (52,272)
Acquired on business EBAGENE
combination 4,075 3,456 - 92,040 99,571
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022%12831R
Hikes 843,656 15,684 - 531,722 1,391,062
Accumulated depreciation R
Balance at 1 January 2021 20211 A1E RS (45,587) (593) (10,452) - (56,632)
Charge for the year FRER (16,847) 223) (5,226) - (22,296)
Eliminated on disposals & 3 150 - - - 150
Balance at 31 December 2021 2021 12 A 31 B8k (62,284) (816) (15,678) - (78,778)
Charge for the year FREY (52,180) (1,508) (2,554) (17,682) (73,924)
Eliminated on termination of RS
leases 357 - 18,232 - 18,589
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A 31 B8k (114,107) (2,324) - (17,682) (134,113)
Carrying amounts RHE
Balance at 31 December 2022 20226 12 A 31 A& gk 729,549 13,360 - 514,040 1,256,949
Balance at 31 December 2021 202112831 B &R 682,223 9,626 33,315 - 725,164
Note: During the current year, the Group negotiated with the lessors G 5:\;\2’& FEAN AEEEL Tﬁf\ﬁ%?&'ﬁﬂﬁ‘%
and early terminated certain leases. The Group derecognised ﬁﬂ,\%@ﬁ:%?fﬁ% ° $%§§¢ﬁ§§@f§ﬁﬁ
the right-of-use assets of RMB33,683,000 and lease liabilities of *E%EAEMQL&%,OOOK)\S}U“E%E1?-\{}
RMB37,335,000, resulting in gain of RMB3,652,000 in profit or FR#37,335,0007T - BEEEH BB
loss. ANR#£3,652,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %@i2022¢12ﬂ MBEIEFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 17. FFEEE®

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Expense relating to short-term leases BB EENAX 39,687 21,301
Variable lease payments not included in the WEF AT EAETEN

measurement of lease liabilities AIEREERK 136 272

Total cash outflow for leases HERSRNERE 167,194 46,913

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

The Group leases land, property, farms, machinery and
equipment to operate its business. These leases are
typically made for fixed terms of 2 to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
payment terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group's lease agreements do not contain any extension,
early termination option or purchase option for lessee.

As at 31 December 2022, leasehold lands with a carrying
amount of RMB23,855,000 (31 December 2021: nil) were
pledged to other borrowings of the Group (Note 29).

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for land,
property, machinery, motor vehicles and office equipment.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed in Note 8.

o

EREEERERAERENE

AREERELH - WX - 5 - W ERE
NEEHER - ZEHEAFETEHR A2
E50%F - MERADREFNELEER - 28
PR FRIGER B - BEEREH MFHET
AREERENRER - AEEEBEHNE
EWHETE SR A MITHR -

AEBE WA E TR S EABRANER
TR ki%t%:ﬁﬁ,\% °

R2022F12A31H  FEEAARE
23,855,0007C (20214512 A31H : E)HIKA
¥R HBEEE - (EARERMEMMER
RIFEIR (FF5E29) o

REE TR T - W - B - RE R
NI EEAE - $20228%20214612
A318 - Lﬁﬂfﬂfi\iﬂm/\hﬁﬂﬁi{ﬁﬁfiﬁf\w
ST ERMERHERAA RS
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18. GOODWILL 18. BE
Modern ADH
Farming ~ Companies Fuyuan  Aiyangniu Others Total
BR%E

(%E)  ADHAF
RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR

ER BEL it H

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREBTT ARETT ARETR ARBTR
Note 38(e) Note 38(c)
BrsE38(e) Bir5¥38(c)

Cost B
Balance at 1 January 2021 RANETR1BNES 310,426 1,225,460 - - - 1,535,886
Avising on acquisition of WENBATIREL

subsidiaries (Note 38) (Fii5£38) - - 695,329 - 57,805 753,134
Balance at 31 December 2021 RANE12731BM &R 310,426 1,225,460 695,329 - 57,805 2,289,020
Arising on acquisition of WENE L AIREE

subsidiaries (Note 38) (Fir3£38) - - - 231,647 95,532 327,179
Exchange adjustments i - - 3,888 - - 3,888
Balance at 31 December 2022 202212731 A 424 310,426 1,225,460 699,217 231,647 153,337 2,620,087
Impairment HE
Balance at 1 January 2021, RANEI1R1E

31 December 2021 and 31 2021128318

December 2022 X02F 127318 EH - (213,429) - - - (213,429)
Carrying amounts REE

Balance at 31 December 2022 R02F12831BMES 310,426 1,012,031

699,217 231,647 153,337 2,406,658

Balance at 31 December 2021 R021E12R31BMES 310,426 1,012,031

695,329 - 57,805 2,075,591

The Group's goodwill of RMB310,426,000 arose from
acquisition of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. ("Modern
Farming”) in 2009 and RMB1,225,460,000 arose from
acquisition of the Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings
Il (“ADH Companies”) in 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group acquired certain subsidiaries which resulted in
goodwill arising on acquisitions, further details of which are
set out in Note 38.

208 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %@i2022¢12ﬂ MBEIEFE

18. GOODWILL (continued) 18. %%(%)
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill allocated to HRERAEME - PETEREEEBK
each of the CGU or group of CGUs are as follows: REEABMBRNOEHERT -
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTTT
Modern Farming A EESE ) 310,426 310,426
ADH Companies ADHZA A] 1,012,031 1,012,031
Fuyuan (as defined in Note 35) dairy farming = /R (& & R.MI 5135 H4F&EE 630,271 630,271
Fuyuan feeds — China EREEL - A 22,680 22,680
Fuyuan feeds — USA =IREIE - EE 46,266 42,378
Aiyangniu (as defined in Note 38) BEF(ExRMFE38) 231,647 -
Others HAt 153,337 57,805
2,406,658 2,075,591
The recoverable amount of each CGU or group of CGUs has FEReEESNTIRSEEBLAERIA R
been determined based on value-in-use calculation using Bl EIRBEAEETERTE - %8 E
cash flow projections based on financial budgets or forecasts RAERUBERERSREEREIEN TFH
approved by senior management covering a five-year period. FERRBRERETEA -
Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of each EReEESBUNINEEFEMARNERA
CGU or group of CGUs. The following describes each key BEFERATERSR - UTHELRTEEEAR
assumptions the management has based on in preparing the HETTRE I M 47 IR & 2 78885 PR
cash flow projections for the purpose of impairment test: H) = TE AR R AR
e The estimated future market price of raw milk, the o REMMMEFARRAIZER - FEW
estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation BN T ENERNFE
cycle and estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk for EERANTEREADEEEARIA 0 &
dairy farming; and the estimated revenue and costs for FARE TR A B KA - ZEBRE
feeds — such assumptions are based on the CGU's or RBeEASEMNIRSEEECHET
group of CGUs' past performance and management'’s BENEERBEREEHTSERNE
expectations for the market development. 5o
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

210

o Discount rates — the discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

o Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate
the cash flows beyond the five-year period are based
on the estimated growth rate of each CGU, taking into
account the industry growth rate, past experience and
the medium or long term growth target of each CGU or
group of CGUs.

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the
growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the
period are as follows:

18.

Discount rate (%)

BEw
[ ]

REERER - FTERMRRXERHRATL R
MEAARCELBEUNIRSELE

{37 48 71| 48 B 1O 45 TE LR o

o BEX - AREHBAESFNRIRN
ERRXRAREBEREELEMN
BEtiERx  YEERSERSEL
BUsReELEMMARNNTRER
R pELRIRPRIERERE -

BRI IR 27 E TRR RO RBE IR R o F 0 1 BT 7R

HEMWRSRELREMT

Growth rate (%)

BEER (%) BRE(%)

2022%F 20214 2022%F 20214

20224 20214 20224 20214
Modern Farming WARHBCEE (EE) 12.5 12.6 2.5 2.5
ADH Companies ADHAR] 12.5 12.6 2.5 25
Fuyuan dairy farming 2RI B 12.5 12.6 2.5 25
Fuyuan feeds — China EIREIE - FE 9.2 9.2 2.5 2.5
Fuyuan feeds — USA ERER - EE 10.0 8.8 2.5 2.5
Aiyangniu BEET 14.4  N/ATER 2.5  N/ATEA
Others HAitb 12.5 12.6 2.5 2.5

During the year ended 31 December 2022, management
of the Group determines that there is no impairment on
goodwill, hence no further impairment loss was recognised
(2021 nil).

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of the CGU or group of CGUs to exceed its
recoverable amount as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. Hth B &=
Distribution
channels and
Computer customer
software  relationships Others Total
THEEER
EF T EFB% Hith @gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥T AR®T AR¥TR
Cost B
Balance at 1 January 2021 202151 B 1B R gk - - - -
Acquired on acquisition of =Nl
subsidiaries 3,380 - - 3,380
Additions NE 451 - - 451
Balance at 31 December 2021 R2021512A318H
ik 3,831 - - 3,831
Acquired on acquisition of a NGl
subsidiary 460 26,251 10,870 37,581
Additions NE 6,031 - 2,241 8,272
Disposals HE (394) - - (394)
Balance at 31 December 2022 720221243181
e 9,928 26,251 13,111 49,290
Amortisation i
Balance at 1 January 2021 R2021F1 1B K &84 - - - -
Charge for the year FNRE (54) - - (54)
Balance at 31 December 2021 R2021512A318H
323 (54) - - (54)
Charge for the year FRFAY (862) (2,625) (720) (4,207)
Eliminated on disposals HE i 229 - - 229
Balance at 31 December 2022 7202212 A318H)
i (687) (2,625) (720) (4,032)
Carrying amounts fREE
Balance at 31 December 2022 7202212 A318H)
R 9,241 23,626 12,391 45,258
Balance at 31 December 2021 720211243181
HER 3777 - - 3,777

“EC_S5% PEARKURERFRAR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the following periods:

19. HttBEREEE @
FHEFEENFERSGAR  c ZSEFE
EE NAEIR IR B R A B

Computer software 10 years B E 104
Distribution channels and customer relationships 5years DIHREREFPBIE 5
Others 10 years ) 10
20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 20. REE NAIREELENER
VENTURE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETT
Cost of investments in associates (Note i) PR &R B RIS B A A (B FED 288,657 225,428
Cost of investment in a joint venture RE LR ENRE KA (T
(Note ii) 27,000 -
Share of post-acquisition profits and other 7 {HE & A & AR EEE HEFI &%
comprehensive income in associates Hit2mUA 142,868 127,850
Share of post-acquisition profits and other D15 & & EMUIEE & H &
comprehensive income in a joint venture Hith 2 EWA 392 -
458,917 353,278
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 20. R N NTFIRAEPENERw
VENTU RE (continued)

Details of the Group's interests in associates are as follows: REBREE AR ERABOT
Proportion of Principal
ownership interest Voting rights activities
RRRELLA L IERH
Place of
Name of companies establishment 31112/2022 3171212021 31112/2022 3171212021
EL Rt 0228128310 001ENANAE 20225128318 001F12R318
% % % %
HeFei Mengniu Modern Farming Dairy The PRC 49.18 49.18 49.00 4900 Liquid milk
Products Co Ltd. ("Feidong”) (Note iii i producing
AERFEREEARRERAAER]) #fiti) EERED
Modern Farming (Bengbu) Co,, Ltd. The PRC 49.18 49.18 49.00 4900 Liquid milk
("Bengbu") (Note ii) e producing
RRUE G2) BRAF () (M) EERED
Jiangyin Dairy Energy Environment Technology ~ The PRC 29.51 2951 30.00 3000 Power generation
Co,, Ltd. (*Jiangyin Dairy Energy") H BREE

TRHERRNEARAR(TRYE)

Ma'anshan Changdian Modern Biomass The PRC 19.67 19.67 20.00 2000 Power generation
Energy Co,, Ltd. EF BREE
BRUREARENERRERAAAA

Waulatgian banner menghetala Grass The PRC 14.75 1475 15.00 1500 Feeds production
Industry Co,, Ltd. hE HREE
BURNERREAREZARRA
Hebei Jucarbon Biotechnology Co., Lid. The PRC 39.63 39.63 40.00 4000 Power generation
MR RBRAT] HE RREE
Inner Mongolia Yunyangniu Technology The PRC 47.21 TR 48.00 TER Software
Co, Ltd. ("Yunyangniu") # development
AREERIHNEERAA(ERS)) 41.21 48.00 LSS
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT
VENTURE (continued)

20. REtE N R REETENER @

Proportion of Principal
ownership interest Voting rights activities
RRRRELA EL IERH
Place of
Name of companies establishment 31/12/2022 31/12/2021 311122022 3171212021
ALEL Jvki:E] 202212831 0NENANAE 2022F12A318 001F128318
% % % %
COFCO Feed (Hohhot) Co., Ltd. The PRC 33.44 TR 34,00 TEFA  Feeds business
("COFCO Feed") HE HARER
FRER (FER) ERAR (HEER)
Henan Guoxiangyuan Agricultural The PRC 19.32 TEH 19.64 NER  Breeding
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Guoxiangyuan”) G dairy cows
AERERREHAERLA(RER]) 19.64 RS-V
Modem Farming (Raoyang County) Co,, Ltd. The PRC 29.51 TER 30.00 NER  Breeding
("Raoyang”) mE dairy cows
FRUE BB ARATD(BRAR) hrER

Details of the Group's interest in a joint venture are as follows:

AEERAECENOERFBNT -

Proportion of Principal

ownership interest Voting rights activities

BEEERLA RER TEER

Place of
Name of the company establishment 31/12/2022 317122021 31112/2022 31/12/2021
LAER R 02F12A318  001%F12A318 20225128318 021512A318
% % % %
Modem Feed (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. The PRC 53.11 TEfA 54,00 TER  Feeds business
RREAR(RR)BRLA G AHER
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A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT
VENTU RE (continued)

Notes:

During the current year, Modern Farming invested
RMB8,640,000, RMB13,600,000, RMB14,922,000, and
RMB9,567,000 for 48.00% equity interest in Yunyangniu,
34.00% equity interest in COFCO Feed, 19.64% equity interest
in Guoxiangyuan and 30.00% equity interest in Raoyang,
respectively. Modern Farming can exercise significant
influence over these entities because it has the power to
appoint director under the articles of association and hence
use the equity method to account for the investments in these
entities. Modern Farming also made additional investment of
RMB16,500,000 in Jiangyin Dairy Energy proportionately with
another investor during the current year.

On 31 March 2022, Modern Farming invested RMB27,000,000
for 54% equity interest in Modern Feed (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.
(“Tianjin Feed"). According to the articles of association of
Tianjin Feed, decisions on relevant activities requires 2/3 voting
rights of shareholders, hence the Directors consider the Group
has joint control over Tianjin Feed which is accounted for as a
joint venture of the Group.

For Feidong and Bengbu, the proportion of ownership interest
owned by Modern Farming is 50% and the voting rights held
by Modern Farming is 49%.

Summarised financial information of material
associates
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the

Group's material associates is set out below. The summarised

financial information below represents amounts shown in the

associate's financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

20. REtE N TR E

pf

R

EhENERZ®

RAFE  BREXEBESHIREAR
#£8,640,0007T + AR #13,600,0007T « AR
#14,922,0007T &2 A R #9,567,0007C LA B 1S
EEAH)48.00% M - 2 & 6934.00%
Mt~ REREI9.64%MHE R 85 R FIH
30.00% [ o TR (R B LN ZE
ERBNEATE  EBR/REARREAR
EREMES  FAUEAEREARRZ
EEROKRE  -RAFE BRABEH
)R 5 — R REE R HIRIT KA
& AR #16,500,0007T ©

20229F3A31H F BREEKEE)REAR
# 27,000,000 SAEB IR FR CRF) BR
AR ([ REEHR ) H54%AHE - RIFREH
BHOARER  HHEEHNATETEZES
SO ZHRERRE Bt EERA
REBERZHXZEAN(EAAEENE
BOHEAR) -

HREREEE  BRABRE&EE)EAN
PRHELL 1 5350% » SRR (RBD) R A MK
SRERAI% °

EXRBEATNMBERMRE

TP B AR A T OB B AR
BE - LT AR E AR A RRIEE
BTSSR RS SRR RS -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT
VENTURE (continued)

Summarised financial information of material
associates (continued)

20. RBERTRAELENER @

BEABEQATNHKEERME@

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity N EREMBwEN - MEZEHE R A
method in these consolidated financial statements. BFRAERAEANR -
Feidong fE R
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFT
Current assets mEEE 110,379 85,476
Non-current assets IEMBEE 66,336 132,676
Current liabilities meaE 6,082 19,837
Non-current liabilities IERBEE 2,353 8,309
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR AREFT
Revenue WA 1,926 138,707
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive FREBR R E2E(FEX)
(expense) income for the year LN (21,726) 12,842
Adjustments due to the difference between & B BIALERERH T
the carrying value and fair value of the EEMEREERATEZH
Group's remaining interests in Feidong EREHH R
on the date of disposal (902) (759)
(22,628) 12,083
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 20. R N NTFIRAEPENERw
VENTURE (continued)

Feidong (continued) AR R )
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information Fl B E R B E R AR A B TS TR R R A
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate PRBE N R s O BREE S BR -

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Net assets of Feidong ERFEE 168,280 190,006

Proportion of Modern Farming's ownership IRAHE (2B R ABERAY

interest in Feidong WA R 50% 50%
The Group's share of net assets of Feidong ANEBEDEERFEE 84,140 95,003
Goodwill BES 251 251
Fair value adjustments NEFRE - 451

84,391 95,705
Bengbu iR
2022 2021
2022% 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Current assets MENEE 492,147 380,402
Non-current assets IERBEE 103,905 117,863
Current liabilities iER=YE 171,180 122,338
Non-current liabilities IERBEE 4,891 7,686
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 20. REEE N NFIRAEPENERw
VENTURE (continued)

Bengbu (continued) ﬁﬁ(ﬁg)
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARE T AREFIT
Revenue A 1,062,076 1,001,100

Profit and total comprehensive income for & Wi ) & 2 E U A B 5
the year 51,740 61,664

Adjustments due to the difference between M HE B EIZAR L BN FIEHRT

the carrying value and fair value of the M EREERA T EZHE
Group's remaining interests in Bengbu on  ZF8E KA
the date of disposal (874) (1,310)
50,866 60,354
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information FRB B E R E RS B RS IR FER
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate REE N BRI REESER
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Net assets of Bengbu IR RS B 419,981 368,241

Proportion of Modern Farming’s ownership  ZRAHEE (S E]) R iR A

interest in Bengbu A R R L 50% 50%
The Group's share of net asset of Bengbu ~ AEE S (HHEFIBFEE 209,990 184,121
Goodwill EES 33 33
Fair value adjustments N EFE 2,345 2,781

212,368 186,935

21 8 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 20. R N NFIRAEPENERw
VENTURE (continued)

Information of associates and joint venture that are BERYIFERNBHEATREETLEN
not individually material e
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF T ARET T

The Group's share of profit of other REE I E M EE N E R
associates and a joint venture BEBEN R 1,291 709

Carrying amount of the Group's interests in A5 [B 7 B B &N &) &

other associates and a joint venture AEEMNERIRAE 162,158 70,638

21. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI 21. BAFESFTAHEMBEZE WA RNRE
=TH

2022 2021

2022%F 20214F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBET T

Listed : i i

— Equity securities — Austasia (Note) - RERESE - R (i) 65,635 -

— Equity securities — others - R A — HAh 1,826 -
Unlisted : JEET

- Equity investments - ETIRE 38,768 2,655
Total #Et 106,229 2,655
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21

22.

220

. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI (continued)

Note: In December 2022, the Group acquired 12,154,000 shares,
representing 1.73% equity interest, in Austasia Group
Ltd. ("Austasia”), a dairy farm operator, prior to its shares
being listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
30 December 2022, at a consideration of approximately
HKD78,570,000 (equivalent to RMB70,381,000) as cornerstone
investor. The covenants required the Group not to dispose
of the relevant shares within six months from the listing
date. The Group has engaged an independent firm of
professional valuer, to assist it in assessing the fair values of the
investments and the fair value is HKD73,477,000 (equivalent to
RMB65,635,000) on 31 December 2022.

The Directors have elected to designate these equity
instruments at FVTOCI as the investments are not held for
trading purpose.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

A — Nature of activities
The biological assets of the Group are dairy cows held to
produce raw milk.

The quantity of dairy cows owned by the Group at end of the
reporting period is shown below. The Group’s milkable cows
are dairy cows held for milk production. Heifers and calves
are those dairy cows that have not reached the age that can
produce milk.

21.

22.

BEAFEFAHMEEKRANE

=TI BEmw

MEE : 20229128 AEBRADFHLER
B EEARAR(DRE]) MK 2022
F12A30B B R AT E R _ETHATIAL
78,570,0007% 7t (#8& 7 A R %70,381,000
TOMREEREAREEEWE TBE
#912,154,0000& & {5 + (5 H1.73% A # -
REBERNEBER LT B EENE
BALEHRBRG - AEECREB L
BEMGHEMARABHIEXSRENR
EE - R2022F12A831HHAFEA
73,477,0007% 7t (18 & 1A A R 865,635,000
JL) °

EECEBEEERATERSARMEELA
AEZERATHE  ARRERELIFER
RHBOMEAE -

EMEE

A-RBEME
AREMENEERFAEEERMDOTL
B o

UTRAEENREMREROILTHE -
AREBNDFREREDNIG - NFFR
NEERRMEDFROILT

2022 2021

20224 20214F

heads heads

L] 58

Milkable cows e 199,793 184,304
Heifers and calves INEHE RN 205,565 169,489
Total dairy cows 45T 405,358 353,793
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

22. BlOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

A — Nature of activities (continued)

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes
in price of raw milk. The Group does not anticipate that
the price of the raw milk will decline significantly in the
foreseeable future and the Directors are of the view that there
is no available derivative or other contracts which the Group
can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in the price of
the raw milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After an
approximately nine months’ pregnancy term, a calf is born
and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and the
lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically milked for
approximately 340 days before a dry period of approximately
60 days.

When a heifer begins to produce raw milk, it is transferred
to the category of milkable cows based on the estimated fair
value on the date of transfer.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its
biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following
operating risks:

i Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates plantation and breeding.
The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local
environmental and other laws. Management performs
regular reviews to identify environmental risks and
to ensure that the systems in place are adequate to
manage these risks.

ii. Climate, disease and other natural risks
The Group's biological assets are exposed to the risk
of damage from climatic changes, diseases and other
natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in
place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular inspections and disease controls and
surveys and insurance.

22. £YPEEw

A-EKMEm

AEE AT REHNEREEHERNATEE
BB o IBAREBETERT - A TER A RRR
MERTEABTY® - EERA  AEEY
A AMITE T R EMmA] AR I MAE KA
REIRREHER TR a @R -

—RIERT - DEFERERENTOEA K
HETRRE - WAEANZHBRE - MM
£ AR E R IR o 4
FBEGEDNLZ40K - 2 1BEAKIOKRH
HALH -

BB FIRERANE - TiREE B
T A EEREDFTER -

AEEEBEEETMEERBNSZ AR -
REBERATEERR -

i ERRBRERME
AEEAETHRARESBERER
EB M EER MOER - ARED
HIE B E T EHRR R EMERDN
REBRRELEERF - BEBEETED®R
BEUHEBIRIRE R M EREREA RG R
NEEZFRR -

ii K% - KRkEMB AR
AEENEVEEMRESJIRE
It - EBREEREMEARXEEZENE
B o AEEBERERERKEEZER
SMRF  BREEHRE RERE
BFERIRR o
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22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 22. EMEEm
B — Quantity of the agricultural produce of the B-ZAEBAEVEENEXLEENRE
Group’s biological assets
2022 2021
2022F 202148
kg kg
Fr TR
Volume of milk sold PiHE 2,327,351,000  1,586,857,000
C - Value of dairy cows C-I4MEE
The fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows at end of the E BRI AN B R S B AN 51 a0
reporting period is set out below: N
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Milkable cows RS 6,570,971 6,060,224
Heifers and calves ANSEOUIES 4,060,200 3,344,700
Total dairy cows FLA#ET 10,631,171 9,404,924
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A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

C — Value of dairy cows (continued)

22. EYEEw
C-H4MEEm

Heifers and Milkable
calves cows Total
NEERNE LR et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETIT AREBTIT ARBTTT

Balance at 1 January 2021 FR20214F1 B 1 H #4564 2,016,900 5,084,343 7,101,243
Acquired on acquisition of Ui R BT B 7 ) PR LB

subsidiaries (Note 38) (M97£38) 803,140 1,513,097 2,316,237
Feeding cost and other related 7% A 2N} Bt FE BE A AR

costs 1,748,399 - 1,748,399
Transfer a3 (2,005,285) 2,005,285 -
Decrease due to disposal HEZEUR (111,799) (693,145) (804,944)
Gain (loss) arising from changes A (B & Bk

in fair value less costs to sell SHE KA E £ B

(&518) 893,345 (1,849,356) (956,011)

Balance at 31 December 2021 R2021F 12 A31 B &SR 3,344,700 6,060,224 9,404,924
Acquired on acquisition of W B B A m s U B

subsidiaries (Note 38) (Fft3138) 114,174 215,077 329,251
Increase due to purchase W s A B0 AN 154,570 - 154,570
Feeding cost and other related &% A 75 J2 H 16 B8 A A<

costs 2,855,704 - 2,855,704
Transfer EER (3,156,661) 3,156,661 -
Decrease due to disposal HE B (188,395) (936,668) (1,125,063)
Gain (loss) arising from changes A& % B

in fair value less costs to sell SHERAREERN K=

(&18) 936,108 (1,924,323) (988,215)

Balance at 31 December 2022 72022412 8 31H B4 &4 4,060,200 6,570,971 10,631,171

The Group has engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal And Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuer, to assist it in assessing the fair values
of the Group's dairy cows. The independent valuer and
the management of the Group held meetings periodically
to discuss the valuation techniques and changes in market
information to ensure the valuation was performed properly.
The valuation techniques used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation models
are disclosed in Note 44.

AEBEZRBEAHEBTLETI G RFEABR
NEICBY FEGEEQR) BEEFEAESR
IFHATE - BUAEMEAEEEEE
RIS mEERNTETEERE
&) URREEZAETT - BEATFEMA
HERMT R AEERATHE 2 H ABIEIEE
T EEA4 ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 22. £ PEEmw
C - Value of dairy cows (continued) C-I4MEE®
As at 31 December 2022, the Group's dairy cows with carrying MR20225F12A318 - AEEREEAARE
amount of RMB831,830,000 (2021: RMB770,414,000) were 831,830,0007T (20214 = AR¥770,414,000
pledged to banks to secure certain bank borrowings of the TRMGEERTRT  EAREERE
Group (Note 28). FRITE KA ER (F5E28) ©
The aggregate gain or loss arising on initial recognition of IS AR RN A EEE
raw milk and from the changes in fair value less costs to sell of IHE XN AE LB A TR SRS -

dairy cows is analysed as follows:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Gains arising on initial recognition of raw R EREHUKERIZ A FER
milk at fair value less costs to sell at the SHE AR MR E A 1Y

point of harvest Weas 2,887,548 2,378,446
Loss arising from changes in fair value less  FLERAFEZBRILFHE
costs to sell of dairy cows AN EE £ 1Y e 18 (988,215) (956,011)
1,899,333 1,422,435
23. INVENTORIES 23. FE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Feeds to be consumed #EFER fR R 2,601,037 1,888,090
Feeds held for sale FEH & M Rk 591,049 179,294
Others Hth 187,260 123,885

3,379,346 2,191,269
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

24. B E 5 MR H f FE W R IE BL

PREPAYMENTS RENFRE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Trade receivables BUNE SR 1,633,165 1,044,160
Bills receivables R ES 14,268 1,176
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,965) -
1,645,468 1,045,336
Prepayments for feeds, materials, insurance £94} ~ #¥} « (R R E M)
and others SELNE S 337,218 149,239
Prepayments for property, plant and M - BERERENTERNRIE
equipment 29,936 54,238
Input value added tax recoverable AJ U [B] 3 TH B (E AR 8,364 6,720
Short term loan receivables EHIEEWE R - 2,003
Receivables from the original shareholders — ¥TUsfE T B A &R iR R &Y
of a newly acquired subsidiary FEWRIE 30,000 -
Short term entrusted loans to associates B & A AR R R E 5T
(Note) B () 68,620 -
Receivables from selling biological assets &£ Y& ERIKGIIA 61,915 -
Others H 32,322 18,573
2,213,843 1,276,109
Analysed as: BTN
Current BN ER 2,183,907 1,221,871
Non-current FERNEA 29,936 54,238
2,213,843 1,276,109
Note: As at 31 December 2022, the Group granted entrusted loans to Mizk © PA2022F12A31H - AEEME THE

certain associates with the annual interest rate of 5% which will

mature in 1 year.

REETEFEER
R

CEMERS% - HIR

R2021F 118 - REEFELNERKE S
SR A AR #£631,285,0007T °

As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB631,285,000.

MR20229F12A318 » AEEKREEAARE
19,697,0007t (20214 = AR #7,250,0007T)
HEKRZE SERCEMAERAEENE T
$R1T R EME (I FE28 5. 29) »

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's trade receivables with
carrying amount of RMB19,697,000 (2021: RMB7,250,000)
were pledged to secure certain bank and other borrowings of
the Group (Notes 28 and 29).
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W

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYM ENTS (continued)

226

Trad

e receivables at the end of the reporting period

principally represent receivables from sales of raw milk
and feeds. The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to
its customers of raw milk and no more than 90 days to its
customers of feeds.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables and
bills receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented
based on the invoice dates at the end of the reporting period,
which approximated the respective revenue recognition
dates at the end of the reporting period:

24. EWE SRR KR HE b EWFRIELL

REAFE@®
HEHRNERE SRR T EIEHEERMD
RIEWERTE - KEBESRTFERBINEFI0
AEEHLAEANERP T ZN0XMEER
Hy o

REERARRE T A (BERE ARG
AR BHRE) 2N EKE 5 R E
WEE (R EEEBEBERE) B ERE a0
T~

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTFT

Trade receivables FEWE 5 R
— within 30 days -30KAA 1,295,769 955,222
- beyond 30 days but within 90 days — 830K {BI0R AR 244,447 49,977
- beyond 90 days but within 1 year — EBBOORIE —F LA (B Ei)
(Note i) 90,984 -
—beyond 1 year but within 2 years — HR B —F B M LA (T 7Fii)
(Note ii) - 38,961
Bills receivables e R IR

— within 30 days - 30K AR 7,094 135

- beyond 30 days but within 90 days — EE30R1EBEIOKR AR 7,174 -

—beyond 90 days but within 120 days — EBBIORIE120KRIAA - 500

—beyond 120 days but within 360 days — BB 120K {E360K AR - 541

1,645,468 1,045,336

Notes B 5

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivable from certain MR2022%12AH31H » KEHR THEAR
subsidiaries of seller (“Zhongyuan Seller”) of Zhongyuan AR )BERF((HRES]HE
Muye Company Limited (“Zhongyuan”) amounted to FHBARAMNEREZE ZERBEARKE

Deta

RMB104,380,000, of which RMB40,650,000 was beyond 90 days.
The above balance is secured by consideration payable to
Zhongyuan Seller of RMB188,713,000 as disclosed in Note 38(d)
according to the supplementary agreement with Zhongyuan
Seller.

In 2022, this balance was offset by consideration payable to

Zhongyuan Seller according to a supplementary agreement as
disclosed in Note 38(d).

ils of impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables are set out in Note 41.

China

Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022

104,380,000t * Erh A RE40,650,0007T
FBIBOOK o UNH FE38(d)ATIR TR © 1R 15 &
FILE AW - AR AER
E%%ﬁé@ﬁ%ﬁ/\ﬁﬁm88,713,0007‘1(%

ii. 20229 » 3% #5 S AR U5 4 5T 5 oE R B
EP)TEEEE’\MJ&E?M%](KDW%‘BS(OI)FFTBZ
&) o

JE U Z 5 BR 3 e L Ath 8 U 7k TE B R (B AT A
BEEHH AW LS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. TSR I A

Assets Liabilities
BE af&
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2022 2021
20224 20214F 2022% 20214F
12A31H 12H31H 12A31H 12A31H
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETT

Interest rate swaps (Note i) FI| &2 25 (B &) 16,945 - - (3,446)
Foreign currency option  #NEHARES 4Y
contracts (Note ii) (B 5D 5,257 - (58,034) (112,642)
CFCCS (Note iii) CFCCS(Ff5Eiii) 19,154 67,537 - -
41,356 67,537 (58,034) (116,088)
Analysed as: DA
Current mE 22,202 - (14,388) (17,758)
Non-current IEE 19,154 67,537 (43,646) (98,330)
41,356 67,537 (58,034) (116,088)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

Key terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows:

Nominal amounts Swaps

BREHE =8

25. TTE€m I AEw

FRpg HE 2RI T

At 31 December 2022

R2022F 12H31H

United States dollars (“USD") 80,000,000 From LIBOR to 0.66%-0.945%
80,000,000t ([T )) B mBIRTTRZEF B E0.66%20.945%
USD42,300,000 From LIBOR+1% to 1.50%-1.90%
42,300,000% 7T BMBERITRIZEIRB+1%E1.50% % 1.90%

At 31 December 2021

R2021F128318

USD200,000,000 From LIBOR to 0.66%-0.945%
200,000,000 7T B f BERTT R 77 8 E£0.66%%0.945%
USD42,300,000 From LIBOR+1% to 1.50%-1.90%
42,300,00055 7T B R BURITRZE T B +1%E1.50%21.90%

The Group entered into several interest rate swaps contracts
with certain banks as an economic hedge of the risk of interest
rate fluctuation arising from certain bank borrowings at
floating interest rate. The fair value changes of the swaps were
presented within finance costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B 1% R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %@i2022¢12ﬂ MBEIEFE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

ii. Key items of the foreign currency option contracts are as

. 1T

Y4 TIEm

BieE s ()

SMNEHIRAKNEEBAWT

follows:
Nominal amounts Types Position  Prices
EEHeH B #AKE B
At 31 December 2022
R2022F12H31H
UsD282,300,000* Call Long RMB6.7315 to RMB6.9550: USD1
282,300,000 7T* RS R ARB67315LEAREES.95507T 17T
Put Short  RMB6.7315 to RMB6.9550: USD1
ok KE  ARB67315EARE6.95500T  13E7T
Call Short  RMB7.1000 to RMB7.1500: USD1
R #e  ARM7.10007LE ARE7.15007T1% 7T
At 31 December 2021
R20214F12H31H
UsD342,300,000* Call Long RMB6.7315 to RMB6.9550: USD1
342,300,000% JT* R HE  ARKE67315mE ARE6.95507T © 1E7T
Put Short  RMB6.7315 to RMB6.9550: USD1
Roh #E  ARB67315mE ARE6.95507T  137T
Call Short  RMB7.1000 to RMB7.1500: USD1
R *E  ARE7.1000EARE7.15007T13E 7T

These are foreign currency call put option portfolios.

The Group entered into several foreign currency option
contracts with certain banks as an economic hedge of the
risk arising from certain of its bonds and bank borrowings
denominated in USD. The fair value changes of the foreign
currency option contracts were recognised in other gains and

losses.

* ZERINERIE R REAES -

AEEBETRTALETIHERES
4 ABETURTERHENE S RRITE
%k%iﬂ’]ﬂﬂ’&ﬁﬁ&}a%)qﬂ SMNEHRES
B R EE BN E A st T B 1A P B

5
=7
s °

“EC_S5% PEARKURERFRAR
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W

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

230

Major items of the CFCCS contracts are as follows:

The Company entered into several CFCCS contracts with banks
as an economic hedge of the risk arising from the USD Bonds
(as defined in Note 31) in the amount of USD400,000,000. The
fair value changes of the CFCCS contracts were recognised in
other gains and losses.

According to the CFCCS contracts, at termination date, if the
spot rate is equal to or less than the cap strike rate agreed (the
“Cap Rate”), and equal to or greater than the floor strike rate
(the "Floor”), the Company will exchange RMB for USD at an
exchange rate of 6.478; if the spot rate is greater than the Cap
Rate, the Company will exchange RMB for USD at an exchange
rate of (6.478+(spot rate — Cap Rate)); if the spot rate is less
than the Floor Rate, the Company will exchange RMB for USD
at an exchange rate of (6.478+(spot rate-Floor Rate)). At the
same time, the Company will receive interest on USD nominal
amount at the interest rate of 2.125% and pay interest on RMB
nominal amount (translated from USD to RMB at the rate of
6.478) at the interest rate of fixed rate agreed (the “Fixed
Rate”) semi-annually until the termination date.

Nominal amount

EE =

25. TTE€m I AEw

fsE : (8

CFCCSA#IMEEBAMT ¢

RRAREIRITFILZHCFCCSAL - UH
400,000,000 T HI K TT(E 75 (E & R M 5E
SNEEMEREITREL I - CFCCSARL
AP EE Bt A B A Es R

RIECFCCSEH) - MERIEHE - SRV
ERENKEROERN ERIEX([ LR
Ex|) BERSER TREXR(TRE
K])  RRQFEAGATSHIE R G A R,
BRSETL  EEHIER AR FRER K
NEE A (6.478+ (BIEAME R — PREEZR))HY
EXRgARBHEBKAEL  SHERK
RTRIEX - KA (6.478+ (BN EIE
& - TREXR))REZHARE S BKE
7T © AR - ANRAE) 8 BA2.125%H) FI| U ER
ETRELENNBEWIRLN F S E E M X
(AEMNE)FEFIF—AAREEE
SRR B (R6.478ETHREBARE) -
HEEKRIEAH -

At 31 December 2022

FR2022F 128318

USD400,000,000 Fixed Rate

400,000,000% 7T bz
Floor Rate
TR E =
Cap Rate
ERER

The valuation techniques used in determination of fair values

of the interest rate swaps, foreign currency options and
CFCCS are disclosed in Note 44.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 26. CEHEETERURBITERR
BALANCES AND CASH Be

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Pledged bank deposits EERBRITER

Current MED 187,339 41,631

Non-current FRE - 127,043

187,339 168,674

Note: PEE -
As of 31 December 2022, bank deposits of RMB131,392,000 (31 HE2022F12A310 - 28/ ARE131,392,000
December 2021: RMB127,043,000) carry interest at prevailing market 71_3(2021 fﬂ%ﬂ 318 - /\E%1§7,043,0007E)E\"]$E
rates of 3.58% per annum and were pledged for bank borrowings as TTEﬁk&fﬁf'{ﬁi%gﬂ$3-55\3%E+'§\ © BAnfIEE28
set out in Note 28 which will mature in May 2023. FIELERIRTTIE T #§702023F 5 A 218 -
The remaining pledged bank deposits carry interest at prevailing %TEEW@EG@%E$7|\¥0_25%;?l_35%
market rates ranging from 0.25% to 1.35% (31 December 2021: 0.30% (2921 $1%ﬁ 3\1 B 0;30%5:1 95%) BV RITHI5H
to 1.95%) per annum and represent deposits pledged for letter of KR UERERRERENREOERT

credit and bills payable.
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26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK

232

BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

26.

EERBITERURBITERRK
BT @

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERES
Cash on hand FUEIES - 5
Bank balances RITEEER 2,361,909 2,089,620
Restricted bank deposits (Note i) SRR ISR 1T 7k (MY 3T) 89,081 -
2,361,909 2,089,625
Term deposits with original maturity over — REIEFH BB =18 A K E T
three months (Note ii) GED) 348,419 351,942
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe 4RAREFRERMRB S RES
consolidated statement of cash flows &Y (M axiii)
(Note iii) 1,924,409 1,737,683
2,361,909 2,089,625
Analysed as: DA
Current mE 2,125,628 1,887,744
Non-current IERED 236,281 201,881
2,361,909 2,089,625

Notes:

i Bank deposits of RMB89,081,000 (2021: nil) can be used only to
finance the Group's investments in new dairy farms.

ii. Term deposits with original maturity over three months were
held within banks and carry interest at prevailing market rate
of 3.30% to 3.55% (31 December 2021: 3.08% to 3.81%) per

annum at 31 December 2022.

iii.  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, cash at banks and
term deposits with original maturity of three months or less

which are held within banks and carry interest at prevailing
market rate of 0.01% to 2.1% (31 December 2021: 0.01% to

1.95%) per annum at 31 December 2022.
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i. HRITERARB9,081,0007T (20214 : &)
ERBEARBERENDISNES -

ii. R20225F 128318 » FARITH R EH
ARBBA=-EANTEHTFRIRTFI0%E
3.55%(2021412A31H : 3.08%Z£3.81%)H)
WITTEBFEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 26. EEWHBITERURBITERR
BALANCES AND CASH (continued) REmw
The Group’s bank balances that are denominated in NEASEERNEEE NI EEE
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant RARSEBRITABESWOT ¢

group entities are set out below:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF T ARET T

usb ETT 73,711 182,701
Euro (“EUR") Bt (&) 378 391
HKD ABTT 12,430 46,968
Australian dollar (“AUD") T (RT) 2,939 2,882

SECCFEH ERRNRBRRERAE 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

W

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The credit period granted by suppliers for trade purchases is

234

generally within 120 days. The following is an aged analysis of
trade and bills payables based on invoice dates at the end of

the reporting period:

27. BNEZ R R EMENFKE

HEPDR TREERNEEH R AB120K
AR e AT BRIEHR A HRRE R RAOE
NEZERFLENRIRORE DN

2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTFT
Trade payables JERHE Z R
— within 60 days - 60RAA 1,529,259 1,177,400
- beyond 60 days but within 120 days — HEBO0RI1B 120K LA 547,128 337,617
- beyond 120 days but within 360 days — B8 120 KB 360K AR 50,843 71,546
- beyond 360 days but within 720 days — 38360 R1B720 R AR 21,748 25,359
Bills payables (Note) JEAT = 4% (Bt 1) 67,921 28,632
2,216,899 1,640,554
Payable for acquisition of property, plant B3 - W/FE K& FEER
and equipment IA 277,694 376,012
Accrued staff costs JEFT B TR 314,268 241,636
Receipts in advance from disposal of dairy L H & FLAHTEIRFRIE
cows 15,017 11,375
Guarantee deposit RED 123,742 131,571
Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries U BE B /B 2 B E A~ A 263,536 643,197
Payables for investment in associates g R EIIRE R B FIR 3,588 -
Payables for acquisition of non-controlling W FF 12 A% 7 25 JE (< 50 IE
interests 20,894 38,192
Dividends payable FERTAR B 5,341 9,778
Others Hity 47,722 75,846
3,288,701 3,168,161
Analysed as: DA
Current BN ER 3,288,701 3,144,194
Non-current JERNER - 23,967
3,288,701 3,168,161
Note:  Bills payables are with maturities within twelve months from Mzt - ENERENESEETEHRT @A

the respective issuance dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. SRITER
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF T ARETT

Bank borrowings: HRITER
Unsecured EAR A 7,071,053 4,064,347
Secured (Note) B AR () 1,512,532 601,669
8,583,585 4,666,016
Carrying amounts repayable: JEEERMEE
Within one year —&FR 4,831,164 2,380,683
Between one to two years —FEWMER 1,772,370 1,234,489
Between two to five years MEZRFRN 1,453,997 980,596
Over five years HFEMN 526,054 70,248
8,583,585 4,666,016
Less: Amounts due within one year B RmEBEE TR
shown under current liabilities —FENFIEAFRIE (4,831,164) (2,380,683)
3,752,421 2,285,333
Note:  Certain bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 MizE :  P2022FF &20215F12A31HAE TR
were secured by property, plant and equipment, biological TERAREEREENYE  BFERH&
assets, trade receivables, bank deposits and equity interests B EYEE  BRESER  R1TF
in a subsidiary owned by the Group as set out in Notes 16, A — B A B 8 AR (9 B SRR
22, 24, 26 and 47, respectively. FE16 0 22~ 24~ 26 A7) {EIR IR o
The bank borrowings comprise: RITERELE -
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTIT

Fixed-rate borrowings TEEMER 7,050,995 2,971,548
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 1,532,590 1,694,468
8,583,585 4,666,016
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28. BANK BORROW'NGS (continued)

236

In June 2020, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with several banks, under which the Group was allowed
to borrow USD200,000,000 loan from the banks at floating
interest rate determined as LIBOR+1.65% per annum and
the upfront fee amounted to USD3,600,000 (equivalent
to RMB25,145,000). The Group withdrew USD200,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,368,862,000) in 2020, partially repaid
USD60,000,000 (equivalent to RMB387,612,000) in 2021 and
repaid USD15,000,000 (equivalent to RMB103,35%,000) in
2022, and the effective interest rate is 3.49% per annum (2021:
3.49%) as at 31 December 2022.

Save as set out above, the effective interest rates of the
Group's bank borrowings equal to contractual interest rates.
The effective interest rates per annum are as follows:

28.

BITER@

M2020F 67 + RARIEE TIRITEI Bt
g B AEBEAFRITEAER
7£200,000,000% 7t - BHFZmBUERTTR
B +1.65%H)F B) Fl 2 [z 4 #13,600,0003
T (FEE R AR #E25,145,0007T) B9 AT HA 1 3%
5T o AR &[5 20204F £2 B1 200,000,000
TTHEE R AR1,368,862,0007T) * 2021
FE D E18 60,000,000 7T (HHE RARE
387,612,0007T) & 20224 & 38 15,000,000
TTHEE N AR 103,359,0007T) © H20224

12A31HEMNEREFE E3.49% (20214 -

3.49%) ©
B FatEAN  REBERITETNERANRZE

RREHFE - LT RERFHN X

2022
20224

2021
20214F

Fixed-rate borrowings TE BB
Variable-rate borrowings FEMEK

1.65%-8.16%
1.65%-6.85%

2.85%-7.26%
1.21%-6.85%

Interest rate of variable-rate borrowings are determined
based on the benchmark lending rate and loan prime rate
announced by the People’s Bank of China, the LIBOR and the
Secured Overnight Financing Rate.

FREFMFERTDREFEARRITAME
EREENEXRERREEMNE - REERTT
REFEREEMBERBENETMETE

The Group's bank borrowings denominated in currencies NEREEERNIEEEIAIEEE
other than the functional currencies of the relevant group ARKBRITIEREIIAT -
entities are set out below:
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
usb e 1,048,268 1,152,195
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

29. OTHER BORROWINGS

2022 2021
2022% 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AREFIT
Other borrowings: HAbER
— From Mengniu (Note 46(c)) - KA S (Fi5E46(c) 35,785 495,466
—From a state owned enterprise -RE—FHEAE )
(Note i) 147,615 -
— Others - HAh 110,419 141,538
293,819 637,004
Unsecured AR 268,403 557,217
Secured (Note ii) B AR (PR EED 25,416 79,787
293,819 637,004
Carrying amounts repayable: JEEREREE
Within one year —FR 22,704 433,676
Between one to two years —FERER 79,833 17,511
Between two to five years MEZRFER 43,667 185,817
Over five years FEMNE 147,615 -
293,819 637,004
Less: Amounts due within one year B RmEBEE TR
shown under current liabilities —FREIEAFIE (22,704) (433,676)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities FEREIBEIE NFIRS %2 271,115 203,328
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29. OTHER BORROW'NGS (continued)

Notes:

238

In August 2022, pursuant to an investment agreement entered
into between the Group and an enterprise owned by a local
government of Inner Mongolia (the "SOE") in regard to
the establishment of a target company, the SOE invested
an amount of RMB172,431,000 to the target company, the
objective of which is to invest in new dairy farms in local area
with certain conditions attaching to it. The SOE is entitled to
a fixed return of 2% per annum from its investment and will
not share any variable returns from the target company. The
investment period for each individual dairy farm should not
exceed 7 years from the date the amount is invested. Upon
the end of the investment period the target company will
withdraw the capital from the relevant farm and the Group
is obliged to return the portion of investment amount to
the SOE. In addition, the SOE has the right to request the
Group to purchase its investment in the target company in
any particular invested farm upon the occurrence of certain
contingent events. The target company has been accounted
for as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the
investment from the SOE is regarded as a borrowing granted
to the Group in the consolidated financial statements to reflect
the economic substance of the arrangement as the SOE does
not expose to any risks or entitle to any rewards (including
profit distribution) as equity holder of the target company but
receives fixed return. The borrowing with preferential interest
rate is initially measured at fair value based on prevailing
market interest rate and the difference of RMB26,735,000
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan is
treated as a government grant.

Certain other borrowings as at 31 December 2022 are secured
by property, plant and equipment, leasehold lands and trade
receivables owned by the Group as set out in Notes 16, 17,
and 24, respectively.

Other than the borrowings set out in Note i above, the

Group's other borrowings are loans with fixed interest rates
from 3.59% to 12.00% per annum (31 December 2021: 3.85%
to 12.00%) as at 31 December 2022.
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B £ B RE 1 AT 8L RO B RO

2022%8 A - BEAEEEAS S FIK
FrREtX((BELEDRRTEZAF
FMEERE  BELEMEEZARIE
& ANR#172,431,0007C © B REE R
BENEBSUEEFTHREE TEG - BE
TEERYERETERESF29NETE
B3R - B 5 Z BIEA A KT M) &

e BEPISHEEHRTEBRBERE
SR BRANIFE EEREHER B
TRNRIBRERRSEE  AEEBERE
BEDIRESERETEGME I
EREFREHRLER  BECEAEEE
KAEEEEERBZRREEAE TR
BERIGEWIRE - BERZRRIBEEAARQRMN
2EMBARIAK  KEBRBLEMERE
EHGREMBERETFIHEAER T AEBOE
FUARMZZHNEEEE AARA R
2B B IZA R ETRETMA AR
ZEEEAEFR(BENESE)  MeEES
EE Bk - BRI EEFIRBE TSR X
WA E#ETIEE - WEINATERE
BN FE 2 R =58 AR 26,735,000
TV BT A ERE o

202212 AR E TRMERAAE
BEAHNME  BENRE  KAEEL
oy e E 5 8RR (0 BB FE16 ~ 17 ]
28) VR -

AEEHHE

M & AT 2022E 12 AR EEEN X A
3.59% % 12.00%(2021%12A31H : 3.85% %
12.00%) I EFX »
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30. SHORT TERM DEBENTURE

30. WA

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Short term debenture MHmE S 100,522 -
On 15 November 2022, Modern Farming issued short term 20229118158 @ IMARME(EB)ETT

debenture at a principal amount of RMB100,000,000 with a
term of three months, bearing a fixed interest rate of 4.00%
per annum. The short term debenture was subsequently
repaid in February 2023.

31. LONG TERM BONDS

HHRES  HAS A ARE 100,000,000
T BE=ZEA BEMNERAESF400% -
ROHIR B S MBI 1E2023F 2 AEE -

31. REIES

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETF T
Carrying amounts repayable: FEEZEREE

Within one year —FR 34,944 31,989
Between two to five years MEZRFNR 3,458,072 3,159,730
3,493,016 3,191,719

Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : RRBI&E IET@J/T\
under current liabilities —FRNE| KT (34,944) (31,989)

Amounts shown under non-current EMBBEE T RS
liabilities 3,458,072 3,159,730

On 15 July 2021, the Company issued bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of USD500 million which will mature on
14 July 2026 (the "USD Bonds"). The net proceeds of the
USD Bonds amounted to USD495,165,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,200,760,000) after deducting the underwriting discounts
and commissions. The USD Bonds bear interest at the rate
of 2.125% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The
Company intended to use the proceeds from the USD Bonds
for refinancing and general corporate purposes. The carrying
amount repayable within one year at the balance sheet date
represented interest payable.

R2021F7H158 » R ARIETAER
BARS00BEXTT - R 2026F7H14
HIEMSMMESR((ZExEE]) - MK EH
Mk@aer ETEFNAERE
@%Ez%ws,ws,ooo%m(mEE.EM\EM
3,200,760,0007T) ° ELEHFIZFFI R
2125%F B B¥FXNF—IK o XAF#H
BELEFMEFTEARBERENR —MEE
A REEREXRBHEN—FREEER
H{EIEREMNFE -
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32. LEASE LIABILITIES

240

32. HE&SE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Lease liabilities payable: JENEERRE
Within one year —FLAR 111,392 50,435
Within a period of more than one year but ~ —F A H{B T EBRRIFHY
not exceeding two years HAR ™A 111,165 37,178
Within a period of more than two years but M A FBE BB AFH
not exceeding five years HAfE A 272,505 108,036
Within a period of more than five years HBiEhE M ERAA 572,983 371,863
1,068,045 567,512
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RIRBEEIE TR
12 months shown under current 1218 A REEEFIE
liabilities (111,392) (50,435)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months R IEFE BN B EIR 57~
shown under non-current liabilities 1218 A& 5 E 5008 956,653 517,077

The lease liabilities are measured at the present value of

HE

ERARIANOEENFREFTE - 1

the lease payments that are not yet paid. The incremental
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 3.38%
to 5.90% (31 December 2021: from 4.65% to 5.70%) per
annum as at 31 December 2022.

In May 2022, a subsidiary of the Group leases a parcel
of land for the period from January 2022 to December
2024. According to the lease agreement, the total rent
of RMB9,816,000 is borne by the local government. As
such, no lease liabilities have been recognised for this
lease. The fair value of the lease payments subsidised by
the local government amounting to RMB9,371,000 at the
commencement date was recognised as government grants
related to the right-of-use assets and the same amount was
included in the cost of right-of-use assets correspondingly.
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BREEERZE  SHRNTEAETARE
9,816,000 4T € - Bt WERL I IE
HEERTAHEERRE - HBUTHENAE
ENFERERFHBRENRAFTERARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

33. eEE

2022 2021

2022% 20214

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Sales of raw milk HE R 462 3,762
Sales of feeds 6 B R 42,742 1,581
43,204 5,343

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to

R2021F181H 6B EBAARKE

RMB198,000. 198,0007T °
34. DEFERRED INCOME 34, JEFEW A
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREFIT
Current BNEA 11,563 -
Non-current JEBNER 205,533 184,562
217,096 184,562

“EC_S5% PEARKURERFRAR
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34. DEFERRED INCOME (continued) 34. IEIEWA @

Arising from

government

grants

BFEEE

RMB’000

ARBT T

Balance at 1 January 2021 PR20214E1 B 1 H W46k 172,862
Addition NE 59,433
Release to income BEIWA (47,733)
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12H31H 184,562
Addition =1 111,040
Release to income BERA (78,5006)
At 31 December 2022 2022412 A 31H 217,096
Deferred income represents government grants obtained RIEWAIE AT B IEEFOBAFRHAL - ()
in relation to (i) compensations of the capital expenditure EMEREMAREAREENEARZ HE
incurred for purchase of plant and machinery and right-of- HMEMNEHEEENAERAFHANER) ; (i)
use assets, which are recognised over the useful life of the BEFEWEFEEANEBREANG ABR R
related assets; (ii) the purchase of inventories, which are (NBERATFERHEERAAENEDE
credited to the profit or loss over the periods in which the 72 (PO #6 B BT PR A6 14 7 R R 5T AR ) ©

inventories were consumed and (i) purchase of biological
assets measured at its fair value less costs to sell, which are
credited to the profit or loss, when the conditions attaching
to the government grant are met.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 35. RARf#E
Share capital @S
Number of Share
shares capital
BHEHE [N
TR FExT
‘000 HKD'000
Ordinary shares of HKD0.10 each FRRON0HE T E B
Authorised JEITE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and ~ 7A2021F1H18 » 2021F &
2022 2022912 A31H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1 A1H 6,458,566 645,857
Issue of ordinary shares (Note) BT E B (I EE) 1,457,096 145,709
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 20214 & 2022F12A31H 7,915,662 791,566
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Presented as EH R 675,869 675,869
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35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

244

Note:

On 27 January 2021, an aggregate of 650,000,000 new
shares with par value of HKDO0.10 each of the Company
have been placed to certain independent third parties
at the placing price of HKD2.40 per share, resulting
in an increase of the share capital of HKD65,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB54,223,000). An amount
of HKD1,487,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,240,622,000), being the excess of the net proceeds
from the placing of HKD1,552,200,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,294,845,000) over the par value of
the new shares, was credited to share premium. These
new shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all
respects. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds
from the placing on infrastructure development and herd
expansion, potential mergers and acquisitions and general
working capital.

On 29 November 2021, an aggregate of 807,096,101 new
shares with par value of HKDO0.10 each of the Company
have been issued to the holding vehicle designated by
Mengniu (“Mengniu SPV") as part of the consideration for
acquisition of Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial
(Group) Co. Ltd. ("Fuyuan”). An amount of HKD992,729,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB813,164,000), being
the excess of the market price of the shares issued of
HKD1,073,438,000 (calculated using the market price
of HKD1.33 per share on the issue date, equivalent to
approximately RMB879,275,000) over the par value of the
new shares, was credited to share premium.
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35. BREAR#E@®

P e

R2021F 18278 » AFK2.40% T
MEESERETBYE - REAH
650,000,000/% & A & F A EE0.1078
TCHIFTRR (D - 38 BRAR AN 3 H065,000,000
BT (B8 R4 AR 54,223,0007T) °
1,487,200,000/8 7t (& R & AR
1,240,622,0007T) @ BNEC & AT 15 RIEF
#81,552,200,000/8 7T (FBE R # AR
1,294,845,0007T) iR @ FT AR EE RS -
B ARMDEE o xS HARE S
HEMBEBITRMERREMA - AQR]
BB B & TS BB RE R B R e
BRABIER - BEMHBR —MEES
f_é °

R2021F11 8298 » fEAREARAS
HEREBREX(EE)ERAR(E
BOREN—BH » ARAIEARYF
HEMZER AR ([ERESPV)EITA K
807,096,101 &R X A F X E(EO.1078
TCRIFT AR © 992,729,000 7t (FH & R 49
ARM813,164,0007T) © BIE 1T D
M 1{E1,073,438,000/ 7t (Z 17 H LD
ME1.33B L8 - HEROARE
879,275,0007T) BB EER IS
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35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

35. BRAK @

Other reserve Hih A
Other reserve
HAtb R
RMB’'000
AR¥ET T
(Note i)
(BfHEED
Balance at 1 January 2021 20211 A1 BBk 969,268
Equity transactions related to interest free loans AR R ERMERRZ S B

(Note ii) (6,694)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests in W5 B I 1 = ) S AR pE 2 (PR =)
subsidiaries (Note iii) (42,465)
At 31 December 2021 MR2021%12A318 920,109
Equity transactions related to interest free loans ~ AR EEZNEZER S 2,859
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12A31H 922,968

Notes:

GEE

Other reserve mainly represented the contribution from the
owners of the Company for the operation of the Group.

The amount represented the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the difference between proceeds
received and fair value of interest-free loans granted by
the Company to Modern Farming at initial recognition, a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which was
recognised as deemed contribution by Modern Farming.

In December 2021, Mengao Fuyuan (Hongkong) Co., Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, acquired the remaining 35%
equity interest in Haykingdom, at a cash consideration of
USD10,000,000 (equivalent to RMB63,651,000). The difference
of RMB42,465,000 between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid is debited to other reserve.

EMHEHEI2EARRAEEAGNEEE
EEHAE

ZERELHBRREBERRATRAEIEEE
MEARRERMEGE XENEEER
(ERRRAME (EEEHORIELE)
WERI TS RIR RV ERBO A FEZ
B EBENMDE -

2021128  ARRINBARFRER(E
) BR A EIUHE T Haykingdom #) %l #4
35%HE - IR e {EA10,000,0003 7t (48
BN ARMG3,651,00070) ° D EAE R
FAECHHECNREQATFEZENEZREA
R#42,465,00070 B 5F AE A ©
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35.

36.

246

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the articles of association of the
subsidiaries established in the PRC and relevant PRC laws
and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to transfer
at least 10% of their profit after tax, which is determined
in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises and Financial Regulations applicable in the PRC to
a statutory reserve until the balance of such fund has reached
50% of the registered capital of the respective subsidiaries.
Statutory reserve can only be used to offset accumulated
losses or to increase capital of the relevant subsidiaries.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The PRC employees of the Group are eligible members of
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the government of the PRC. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries of the company are required to contribute in
accordance with employee pension insurance requirements
on monthly basis to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

Other subsidiaries in jurisdictions outside of the PRC
contribute to statutory retirement plans on behalf of their
employees which in many cases are managed by the
government in those jurisdictions. Those subsidiaries make
periodic contributions to the statutory retirement plans as
required and contributions are generally determined as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries or a fixed amount
per employee per calendar year depending on laws and
regulations of the jurisdiction.
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37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no forfeited
contributions under the above retirement benefit scheme
which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions
available at 31 December 2022 and 2021 under such scheme
which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

The retirement benefit cost incurred are disclosed in Note 8.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
On 26 March 2018 (the “Adoption Date"), the Company
adopted a share award scheme (the “ Share Award
Scheme") to motivate and award the contribution of certain
members of management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may be determined
by the board of directors, the Share Award Scheme is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the
Adoption Date.

The shares to be awarded under the Share Award Scheme (the
"Award Shares”) will be acquired by the Company through
Dairy Fortune Limited ("Dairy Fortune”) which is 100%
owned by Dairy Fortune (PTC) Limited (the "Trustee”) from
the open market by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held in trust for the
relevant selected participants until such shares are vested.
The maximum number of shares which may be purchased by
the Trustee is set at no more than 1% of the number of issued
ordinary shares of the Company at the preceding annual
general meeting. Based on the trust arrangements among
the Company, the sole shareholder of the Trustee and the
Trustee, the Company is able to control the Trustee and its
subsidiary, Dairy Fortune, pursuant to IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements. Therefore, the Group accounts for the
Trustee and Dairy Fortune as consolidated structured entities.
The ordinary shares of the Company held by Dairy Fortune
are accounted for as a debit to the Group's reserve and are
presented under the heading of “Shares held under the Share
Award Scheme” in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

36.

37.

BB B @
R20224F K 2021F12 8318 » A&EBE T &
FHURREFRIGT BT THOS U R » KR&E
B 7] g & (5 A 5% 5 FORBR R IR B 30K
oo iRIERZETE] 0 720224 K 2021412 A
31 B INE R AN E B AR D R R FE RS
HRE PR UK -

B HR AR NI A AR MY FE8 R 4R R -

DRSNS
MR2018FE3F26H ([HRHBHE]) - XRFK
M—IER ) R T S ([ 2@ arEll) - A
BB ERAERETEEBRE A ER
EEMNEE - KEEQAREETHEMRR
BRIESN - IR ERENET BB+ F - B R
B E#E AR o

BRI R T 8 B AR5 ([ 5RB
B2 ) B AR AlE #@Dairy Fortune (PTC)
Limited([ZFA1)100%% B B Dairy
Fortune Limited([Dairy Fortune )& AR
AIETRUAREBETENR R ARMIS FIK
B RN EREARARIEAET2HEER
B EERAEBARNEE - XEAFTEAN
BB E FRJ{ERIEBBAERAGN E
—ERFBFAG FERTEARBAN
1% ° REBARAE  XFEANE-—RRERT
FEAZENETRE  NARRIRERI
WEEAR105R4R A M MR EMIEHR X
AR EKE A A Dairy Fortune » AL » At
B 152 5E A & Dairy Fortune ABR%I B4R A 38
EEHE o Dairy FortunefTI AR AR EBRA
RINRAEERBER - WIITRGEER
SBR[ RO EEETEPR T ArRERIAR D 1 1]
To
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

248

(continued)

During the current year, Dairy Fortune purchased 9,200,000
ordinary shares (2021: 36,526,000) from the open market
at a total consideration of approximately HKD10,962,000
(equivalent to RMB9,073,000) (2021: HKD54,689,000
(equivalent to RMB45,468,000).

In addition, the Group retained a total number of 4,112,062
vesting shares (2021: 4,420,482) as a consideration of
approximately HKD5,222,000 (equivalent to RMB4,227,000)
(2021: HKD8,974,000 (equivalent to RMB7,584,000)) for
paying the individual income tax on behalf of those selected
participants under the Share Award Scheme during the
current year. The retained vesting shares were considered as
repurchase from those selected participants and the Group
remits the cash value of the repurchased equity instruments
to the tax authority on behalf of those selected participants to
settle the individual income tax in relation to the share-based
payment.
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RAFEZ R » Dairy Fortuneft AT IHEE
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AN - REEAFEIRERD BT 8IRZ
LRTLEEINEAARGEE  REBA4
#4,112,0620% 55 B A (5 (20214 : 4,420,482
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %@i2022¢12ﬂ MBEIEFE

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Share Award -i

On 27 March 2020, a total number of 20,000,000 Award Shares
("Share Award -i”) were granted to selected participants.
If certain performance and service conditions are met, out
of the total shares granted, 10,000,000 Award Shares would
be vested on 21 April 2021 (the “Award Shares A”), the
remaining Award Shares of 10,000,000 would be vested on 21
April 2021 with one year lock-up period beginning from the
vesting date (the "Award Shares B").

The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares
A and Award Shares B during the prior year:

37.

LB ZNANARRZ@®

B% 17 58 &) -i

72020538278 & #£20,000,0004% 42 &)
B (REOER-iDETETLEE - WA
BB TRRERIEIGHE - BIRATAERERG
# + 10,000,000% #ZE) % 19 #5 72 20214 4 A
218 8RB ([SBRMAAD - MERT 10,000,000
[& i B (D 1§ PA2021F4A 21 B R E - B 5
BHHR—FREH(®RBRHB)) -

TR S AR SR B £ — %
ENED

Outstanding Outstanding

as at Forfeited Vested as at

1 January during during 31 December

Categories 2021 the year the year 2021
EHl R2021% 120214
1A1R 12A31H

RIATTHE FREWR ENEE AT

Award Shares A ZRRINA 9,320,000 (524,100) (8,795,900) -
Award Shares B ZERIB 9,320,000 (524,100) (8,795,900) -
18,640,000 (1,048,200) (17,591,800) -

The Group recognised a share award expense of
RMB1,959,000 in respect of the Share Award -i during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

A total number of 17,591,800 shares of Award Shares A
and Award Shares B were vested during the year ended
31 December 2021, and the difference of RMB4,418,000
between the share award reserve of RMB9,447,000 and shares
held under the Share Award Scheme of RMB13,865,000 for
the shares vested was recognised in retained earnings.

REE2021F12A31HILFEE - KEH
MO EE-iERRO BRI ABARE
1,959,0007T °

REBZ2021F12A31BIEFE - & H
17,591,soo%ﬁﬁbﬁ%ﬁA&ﬁ%@H%ﬁB%Eﬁ
R BB AR, 447,000 T B
‘i‘J’Ffr SFEBROBERMEBTEFENA
R#13,865,000t ki v MR EEARE
4,418,0007C MR BB B FIHERR o
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
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(continued)

Share Award -ii

% 2 82 B -ii

On 25 March 2021, a total number of 23,200,000 Award
Shares (“Share Award -ii”) were granted to selected
participants. If certain performance and service conditions are
met, out of the total shares granted, 11,600,000 Award Shares

will be vested on 31 March 2022 (the “Award Shares C"), the

remaining Award Shares of 11,600,000 will be vested on 31

March 2022 with one year lock-up period beginning from the

vesting date (the “Award Shares D").

The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares

37. MR XN RRZ @

7202193258 - & #£23,200,000/% 22 &
Bty (RO EB-i)XTREESEE - M
R TERRMRBES - RIRMAER LD
#1 » 11,600,0000% 2 &h A% 7 # 72 20224 3 A
JNREE(REBRHBC) - MER T 11,600,000
MR SR AR 19 ¥ PR 20224F3 A3 B 7@ - B8
ERHE-FREH(RBRHD)) -

R FR R R AR 0 C N 2R BN R 17 DI R 5 B4R

C and Award Shares D during the reporting period: il A
Outstanding
Outstanding Forfeited Vested as at
as at during during 31 December
Categories 1 January 2022 the year the year 2022
15 12022 720224
1818 12R318
e RITE FRRK FAEE tef RAT6E
Award Shares C BERNC 10,348,000 (61,000)  (10,287,000) -
Award Shares D ZERIHD 10,348,000 (61,000)  (10,287,000) -
20,696,000 (122,000)  (20,574,000) -
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Forfeited as at
as at during during 31 December
Categories 1 January 2021 the year the year 2021
p] 120214 20215
1A1R 12A31H
RIATTHE FRARL FERRR R ARTTEE
Award Shares C BERNC - 11,600,000 (1,252,000) 10,348,000
Award Shares D ZERIHD - 11,600,000 (1,252,000) 10,348,000
- 23,200,000 (2,504,000) 20,696,000
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Share Award -ii (continued)

The fair values of Award Shares C were HKD21,576,000
(equivalent to RMB18,130,000), which was determined based
on the market price of the Company’s shares at the grant
date. The fair values of Award Shares D were HKD17,529,000
(equivalent to RMB14,730,000) which was determined based
on the market price of the Company's shares at the grant
date after considering the post-vesting transfer restrictions.

The Group recognised a share award expense of
RMB10,784,000 (2021: RMB18,356,000) in respect of the Share
Award -ii during the current year.

A total number of 20,574,000 shares of Award Shares C and
Award Shares D were vested during the current year, and
the difference of RMB3,530,000 between the share award
reserve of RMB29,140,000 and shares held under the Share
Award Scheme of RMB25,610,000 for the shares vested was
recognised in retained earnings.

Share Award -iii
On 9 December 2021, a total number of 8,565,000 Award
Shares (“Share Award -iii”) were granted to the selected

participants. If certain performance and service conditions are
met, out of the total shares granted, 4,282,500 Award Shares
will be vested on 31 March 2022 (the “Award Shares E"). The
remaining Award Shares of 4,282,500 will be vested on 31
March 2022 with one year lock-up period beginning from the
vesting date (the “Award Shares F").

37. MR XN RRZ @

B% 9 88 Bh-ii )

HEENAR (0 CHY A B A21,576,0007 70 (B E
B AR 18,130,0007T) * t JiREAR R A
BHERTENTSERET - BEKRD
DHAF{E A17,529,000/%8 T (HEERARE
14,730,0007T) » 4L E B 57 8 1% 85 12 R
BREBEAQRBRMEETFTANTSERE

on

RAFE - NEE G EE-iERR G, &
B RSz A FR#10,784,0007T (20214 : AR
18,356,0007T) °

MARERE - & 3£20,574,0000% 2B AX () C &
RERMHDESRE WO REHREBARYK
29,140,0007T £ 3t F7 55 8 A% (0 iR 5 A% 19 22 B
sTEIEE R A R25,610,0007T B (5 2 Y
Z% AR #3,530,0007 TR E B AR -

P& 43 8% Bh-iii

202112498 + & #£8,565,0000% 52 B i%
D RBEB-ii)E TETLHEE - WKEE
ATERRERBEME - BIRMBERERKRG
f - 4,282,5008% 2 ENR% 171 74 20224 3 A 31
HERE ([EEBBRHE]) - £ T4,282,5000% £
BB R2022F3A31BERE - BREH
e —FEEH((RBRBF)) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 37. U XA RRZ @

(continued)
Share Award -iii (continued) Hﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁ]-iii(%)
The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares TREERBRNERZRR G FR RS
E and Award Shares F during the reporting period: B
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Vested as at
as at during during 31 December
Categories 1 January 2022 the year the year 2022
£5 20225 20225
1818 12A31H
i RATE FREH ERER i RATRE
Award Shares E RERE 4,282,500 - (4,282,500) -
Award Shares F RERIF 4,282,500 - (4,282,500) -
8,565,000 - (8,565,000) -
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited as at
1 January during during 31 December
Categories 2021 the year the year 2021
£5 20215 20215
1R1H 12A31H
RIATTE FRRE FRRY HAITE
Award Shares E HEEIRDE - 4,282,500 - 4,282,500
Award Shares F RERIDF - 4,282,500 - 4,282,500
- 8,565,000 - 8,565,000
The fair values of Award Shares E were HKD5,739,000 SEE A% 1 ERY A 1B 75,739,000/ 7T (1B E
(equivalent to RMB4,657,000) which were determined based M ARYA,657,0007T) @ TR B AR A A
on the market price of the Company’s shares at the grant BROGCETHNMSGERETE - ZRBIRG
date. The fair values of Award Shares F were HKD4,867,000 FEY A F(E A4,867,0008 L (HEE R AR
(equivalent to RMB3,979,000) which were determined based 3,979,0007T) * 48 E B 57 B 1% EaE R
on the market price of the Company’s shares at the grant BREBEARFRMER THOMISERE
date after considering the post-vesting transfer restrictions. iE °
The Group recognised a share award expense of RARFE - REB R SZRE-ii R AR 5 2
RMB6,727,000 (2021: RMB1,909,000) in respect of the Share BRI Sz AR #6,727,0007C (20214F © AR#E
Award -iii during the current year. 1,909,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Share Award -iii (continued)

A total number of 8,565,000 shares of Award Shares E and
Award Shares F were vested during the current year, and
the difference of RMB2,026,000 between the share award
reserve of RMB8,636,000 and shares held under the Share
Award Scheme of RMB10,662,000 for the shares vested was
recognised in retained earnings.

Share Award -iv

On 12 April 2022, a total number of 52,549,000 Award Shares
("Share Award -iv") were granted to selected participants.
If certain performance and service conditions are met, out
of the total shares granted, 26,274,500 Award Shares will be
vested on the first anniversary of the grant date (the "Award
Shares G"), the remaining Award Shares of 26,274,500 will
be vested on the second anniversary of the grant date (the
“Award Shares H").

The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares
G and Award Shares H during the reporting period:

37. UROXNHNNRRZ

B% 17 5 B -iii )

MRAEE » 4 38,565,0000% #ENAZ 1D E &
REBROFESRE  ROZEBBREARE
8,636,0007T E2 3t F7 55 188 AR (0 1R #5 I 19 22 Bh &t
2B B A R10,662,0007T 1% 15 2 B # =
28 A R ¥62,026,0007T AR B B FIRER

B 17 242 B -iv

72022648128 4 $#£52,549,0000% 22 &)
O (R ER-iv) R TRESEE - HF
GaETERERRBEMS - BIRMEF LR
R 26,274,5000% 22 B IR 10 15 7R HH B 28
ME—EETEE(RBROG)  MHT
26,274,5000% £ EN % 15 48 5 1% HH B BRR 88 —
MBEFFE(EBRHH]) -

TR LB IR G M R AR (0 HIR R 5 B4R
BESE-EIE

Outstanding

Outstanding Granted Forfeited as at

as at during during 31 December

Categories 1 January 2022 the year the year 2022
2022 20225

1R1H 12A31H

5 o R AT FARH FRRK R
Award Shares G ZERING - 26,274,500 (150,000) 26,124,500
Award Shares H BRI H - 26,274,500 (150,000) 26,124,500
- 52,549,000 (300,000) 52,249,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

254

(continued)

Share Award -iv (continued)

The fair values of Award Shares G and Award Shares H
were HKD32,318,000 (equivalent to RMB26,304,000) and
HKD32,318,000 (equivalent to RMB26,304,000), respectively,
which were determined based on the market price of the
Company'’s shares at the grant date.

The Group recognised a share award expense of
RMB26,841,000 in respect of the Share Award -iv during the
current year.

Share Award -v

On 25 November 2022, a total number of 4,415,000 Award
Shares ("Share Award -v”) were granted to selected
participants. If certain performance and service conditions are
met, out of the total shares granted, 2,207,500 Award Shares
will be vested on 12 April 2023 (the “Award Shares 1”), the
remaining Award Shares of 2,207,500 will be vested on 12
April 2024 (the “Award Shares J").

The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares
| and Award Shares J during the reporting period:

37.

LB ZANARRZ®

1 42 82 B -iv ()
BEBEOHGREBMBRNHN D FED FI R
32,318,000/ 7T (1R E 7 A R #26,304,0007T)
32,318,000/ 7T (18 & 7 A R #26,304,000
L) WWIRBAR RO ER T BHTS
BAEEEE °

RAFEE  AEEL I 22E-ivIERR A () 88
NG 2 7 AR #26,841,0007T ©

% 15 22 @ -v

72022911 8258 » A $£4,415,0008% 52 E)
BH((RAER-v)RTREESESE - W
GETRRAEBRBGHE - RIRE R TR,
f - 2,207,5000% 22 @ A% 1) # 7R 2023F4 A 12
HEFE ([SREMR D) - &R T2,207,5000% 52
B D#72024F4 B 128558 (SRR 5
JI) e

SRR EE BB A A | N2 B R AR 0 SR R 5 HARE

ts

Outstanding

Outstanding Granted Forfeited as at

as at during during 31 December

Categories 1 January 2022 the year the year 2022
R2022F R2022F

1A1H 12A31H

¥l e KT8 FRR FERRW e RATHE
Award Shares | KRR - 2,207,500 - 2,207,500
Award Shares J e - 2,207,500 - 2,207,500
- 4,415,000 - 4,415,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Share Award -v (continued)

The fair values of Award Shares | and Award Shares J
were HKD2,075,000 (equivalent to RMB1,895,000) and
HKD2,075,000 (equivalent to RMB1,895,000), respectively,
which were determined based on the market price of the
Company's shares at the grant date.

The Group recognised a share award expense of RMB598,000
in respect of the Share Award -v during the current year.

A summary of the share award expense of the Group
recognised during the reporting period is as follows:

37. UROXNHNNRRZ

B% 17 58 B -v (a0

HEROIREEROGINRAFED R A
2,075,000/ 7t (A& 7 A R #1,895,0007T) K&
2,075,000 7T (FB & 7 A R #51,895,0007T) -
I TIRB AR RRNER THOMISERE

ﬁ_':_o

RAFER - AN E LD 2R -vEER Ak {7 &%
b 32 /5 A R #598,0007T °

78 A SR B R MO RR 15 DB S
m

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET R ARETF T

Share Award -i f& 17 828 -i - 1,959
Share Award -ii f& 17 B2 B -ii 10,784 18,356
Share Award -iii A1) B2 ED-iii 6,727 1,909
Share Award -iv A% 15 B2 B -iv 26,841 -
Share Award -v 5 {7y 2Z B -v 598 -
Total &5 44,950 22,224
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION 38. B EH
Year ended 31 December 2022: B ZE2022F12A31HLFE :
During the year, the Group has acquired certain subsidiaries FA - AEBERBTIETHERR - %
as set out below. These acquisitions have been accounted for ZWEFEEFEAREEARASEBIE -

as acquisition of businesses using the acquisition method.

Consideration transferred and goodwill arising on acquisition: EHERAEMBELNEE
Mufeng Yilei Aiyangniu Total
e FRE EEY @st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000

ARBTFT AREFTT ARETT ARBTE
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Mi&ka) (Hi5Eb) (H &)

Purchase consideration BEAE 105,486 66,000 287,775 459,261

Plus: non-controlling interests M IR 53,189 4,583 18,709 76,481

Less: recognised amounts of net R P ERER

assets acquired BRLE (110,810) (22,916) (74,837) (208,563)

Gooduwill arising on acquisition WHRELNEE 47,865 47,667 231,647 327,179
These acquired subsidiaries are principally engaged in ZEWRENMNB AT EZENENFEEIN
business of dairy farming and sale of feedstuffs, additives Rk ORINE R EAGEEH & TS o EHMZ
and veterinary medicine. These acquisitions were made as SWETEENAEE R EEYFBET
part of the Group's strategy to strengthen its position in dairy EWMA - E— TR EBEBEZXRGREZHE
farming industry, and further leverage the industrial chain WEH)— &5 ©

synergy advantages.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued)

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is

w3

38. ¥%50tw

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

BZE2022F12A31BLEEE : @

expected to be deductible for tax purposes. o
Notes: B 5F -
(@)  Acquisition of Dengkou Jinmahu Mufeng Dairy (a)

Farming Co., Ltd. ("Mufeng”)

Modern Farming acquired 52% equity interests in Mufeng on

21 March 2022.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB372,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been

recognised as an expense in the current year.

2F (&)

BY52% M1

B ZFWESERELNHES A AR

WBEEORSSHRENFEERR

BB (R E) PR 2022F 3 A 21 R I 1 2

W BB 4B B A AR A R #5372,0007C TN AT A\ 85 7%
RE LEARFERRRMAL -

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUEBRHREBNEERBRNEE
acquisition

RMB'000
ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 85,864
Right-of-use assets FREEE 4,075
Other intangible assets Hibhmp&eE 296
Biological assets LA E 207,881
Inventories T8 35,442
Trade and other receivables and prepayments JEU E 5 R 3R K L JE MR IE A S FE AT RRIA 30,647
Bank balances and cash RITHHBRIES 271
Pledged bank deposits BEFIRITFER 1,000
Trade and other payables B SRR E b B FAR (128,299)
Bank borrowings RITER (74,680)
Other borrowings HAabfER® (48,193)
Lease liabilities HEAaE (3,494)
110,810

The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB28,215,000
at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of
RMB28,215,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected.

P R BERKEBN AT EA
AR#28,215,0007t © EA#@EEAEARE
28,215,0007T ° {dEH A UHE B HA I 8 S aE Uk
BHEHNRSRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

258

Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)  Acquisition of Dengkou Jinmahu Mufeng Dairy
Farming Co., Ltd. (“Mufeng") (continued)
Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests of 48% equity interests in Mufeng
recognised at the acquisition date amounted to RMB53,189,000
was measured by reference to the proportionate share of
recognised amounts of net assets of Mufeng.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of Mufeng because the
acquisition was expected to result in benefits of synergies,
revenue growth and future market development. These
benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because
they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

38. ¥% 50w

BZE2022F12A31BLEEE : @
e - ()

(a)

WEROSESEHRENFEETR
AR(THE ) @

FiEpR RS

P RS B HABE 324 2 48 % B HE HY JE HE IR HE
A AREES3,189,0007T « TR MBI B E
FEBRSEMLOIFTZ -

B E 4 R

WiEHEELETHE  ARRWERS
Kl Rk E -~ WA R AR IS ERD
B o ZELRR THEBEOMAER AR
PEA A HR BT EENERIRE -

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Mufeng WERENRESREER
RMB’000
ARBFT
Cash consideration paid ENRERE 105,486
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BUSHIRE RIS FEY (271)
105,215
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B 1% R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 @i2022¢12)5] MBEIEFE

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022:

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Acquisition of Datong Yilei Second Animal Husbandry
Co., Ltd. ("Yilei")

Modern Farming acquired 80% equity interests in Yilei on 6
May 2022.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB462,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been

38. ¥¥&6tw
BZEZ2022F 128318 IEEFEE : @)

PEE -

(b)

(&)

Wi KEFRE -HERERRAT

(T#&D

WARME(EE)R2022F5 6B NEBHE

HI80% A% #E -

W B ABRA A AR A R #462,0007T Pt A8

RE TEARFERBRMAL -

recognised as an expense in the current year.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of

REBAHKBNEEREINRE

acquisition

RMB'000
ARETT
Property, plant and equipment LE S 10,194
Right-of-use assets EREEE 92,040
Biological assets EEE 121,370
Inventories T8 31,094

Trade and other receivables and prepayments FEUUE 5 BR 30 I H ) FE WK IE DA 2
TERTRIE 44,339
Bank balances and cash RITHAR LIRS 3,498
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 BR A S E b FE T 7R (102,820)
Other liabilities (Note) HEa &) (4,573)
Bank borrowings RITEN (57,043)
Other borrowings HfER (24,185)
Lease liabilities fHEaE (90,998)
22,916

Note:

acquisition.

The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB42,742,000

Yilei has been the respondent of an ongoing
arbitration proceeding, the claimant accused that
Yilei failed to supply goods to it in accordance with
the terms of contract and the claimed compensation ¥y
was approximately RMB43,313,000. Provisions of
RMB4,573,000 was recognised under other liabilities
in respect of this ongoing arbitration at the date of

B EE

F)’TH&ZE%E’\JJ?EHSZ%UEEAWE% SRl

Fae—BEEETHNHRERER
MWERBA  EPEHERAEHRF
GARREIRIR
WEKHEE
43,313,0007T ° & UKES B HA 5t
RIRETHHEREMBEERET
R AR #4,573,0007T °

BHRFAEHER
IRMARY

AE(ER

at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of
RMB42,742,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected.

AR ¥42,742,0007C -
42,742,0007C °
BHEHBRERE

SEoCEER PERRNRRRERLE

HAENBBER/ARE
AT PR B B0 M T aE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

38. ¥% 50w

BZE2022F12A31BLEEE : @
e - ()

(b)  Acquisition of Datong Yilei Second Animal Husbandry (b) WEBARFEZ-HHEERITE
Co., Ltd. ("Yilei") (continued) (TF&D @
Non-controlling interests FFIERER
The non-controlling interests of 20% equity interests in Yilei at T B HR TR 3R 0 52 209% AR A 1 SR 1R AR 1
the acquisition date amounted to RMB4,583,000 was measured = A AR 583,0000T  W2RBFEZEE
by reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts FERRSREMNLLPIGE o
of net assets of Yilei.
Goodwill arising on acquisition KBEENEE
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Yilei because of the WEFAZELETHE  SER/EHSREA
expected enhancement of the Group's position in dairy AEBENFBETENMULIESLE
farming industry and enhancement of operation efficiency. ME o ZEBRZTEEBORER AR
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill TRE A HREILEENBRITE -
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Yilei WEFENESREFE
RMB'000
ARETT
Cash consideration BeRE 66,000
Consideration payable ERRE (38,000)
Consideration paid BEARE 28,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BSNRERIREEEY (3,498)
24,502

(c)  Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Ai Yang Niu Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Aiyangniu”)
Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 15 March
2022, Modern Farming entered into an equity transfer
agreement with certain sellers (the “Sellers”) and Aiyangniu
on 15 March 2022, pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to sell,
and Modern Farming agreed to purchase, 75% equity interests
in Aiyangniu at a total consideration of RMB287,775,000. The
above transaction constituted a connected transaction of the
Company and was completed on 28 June 2022.

Acquisition-related costs in relation to the acquisition of
Aiyangniu amounting to RMB2,331,000 have been excluded
from the consideration transferred and have been recognised
as an expense in the current year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B 1% R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 @i2022¢12)5] MBEIEFE

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022:

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(o)

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Ai Yang Niu Technology
Co., Ltd. (”Aiyangniu”) (continued)

38. ¥¥&6tw
BZEZ2022F 128318 IEEFEE : @)

PEE -

(o)

(&)

KEBAREEEFNEERAAE
TB2Eg84 )@

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUBBHHRBHNEERBERNEE
acquisition

RMB'000
ARKETTT
Property, plant and equipment LE S 1,692
Right-of-use assets FREEE 3,456
Other intangible assets HEtmpEE 37,285
Inventories T 20,032

Trade and other receivables and prepayments

U 5 R 3R N HoAth FE MR IR A K%

TEfRIE 136,083
Deferred tax assets BEERIREE 345
Bank balances and cash RITHESBRNIRS 19,473
Pledged bank deposits EEIRIRITER 4,454
Trade and other payables JEHE 5 8R1 & H Ath fE A5 5K18 (111,066)
Tax payable JERTIE (4.177)
Bank borrowings SRITER (22,721)
Lease liabilities HEAaE (3,456)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBAE (6,563)
74,837
The receivables acquired from Aiyangniu with a fair value ﬁ%’-ﬁﬂ'ﬂﬁﬁ”iﬁ%ﬁ@%?ﬂlﬁﬁwﬁﬁ =EEEYN
of RMB129,678,000 at the date of acquisition had gross FEAANRE129,678,0000T © HAE XM

contractual amounts of RMB130,191,000. The best estimate at
acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not expected to
be collected amounted to RMB513,000.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests of 25% equity interests in
Aiyangniu recognised at the acquisition date amounted
to RMB18,709,000 was measured by reference to the
proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of
Aiyangniu.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Alyangniu is mainly engaged in feed business. Goodwill arose
on the acquisition of Aiyangniu because the acquisition was
expected to leverage the industrial chain synergy advantages.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.

A AR130,191,0007T ° FEHKR @A
HNRERERKRBEAPNREGRFABAR
#513,0007T °

FFIER R

RUEE B B HE R 2 3 A 25% A 1O FE R R
A ARE18,709,0007T © H2REEF
EEFEWISEOLIGE -

WBELENHE

ERETIBNEANERE - WBERTE
ETHE RERIWAKER BEHEEX
%ET%%IWE*“ cREB R THENE D FE

R %T?k/\—_[ﬁ#wumﬁ/ﬁgmﬁgwu
LE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 38. ¥%E0tw
Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued) HZE2022F12A31BLEE @
Notes: (continued) e - ()
() Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Ai Yang Niu Technology ) WBRAEHEZEEFMEERAEAE
Co., Ltd. ("Aiyangniu”) (continued) (&4 @
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Aiyangniu WEEEFNREREER
RMB'000
ARBFT
Purchase consideration BERE 287,775
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired A GRReRREEEY (19.473)
268,302
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group WIESAHAEEXENTE
Included in the profit for the year is profit of RMB21,252,000, FRARNEBERE  FEREBESLELED
loss of RMB3,783,000, and profit of RMB15,731,000 g E % 5 Bl RS 8 s T A K #21,252,000
attributable to the additional business generated by 7T~ BB ARE3,783,0007T Ko A R
Mufeng, Yilei, and Aiyangniu, respectively. Revenue for 15,731,0007C * FAWABFEHE - FE R
the year included RMB149,926,000, RMB65,902,000 and 545 B E £ M A R 149,926,0007T -
RMB497,754,000 generated from Mufeng, Yilei and Aiyangniu, AR #65,902,0007T & A K #497,754,000
respectively. T °
Had the acquisition of Mufeng, Yilei and Aiyangniu, iR 20221 H1 A TR ISR E - R K&
been completed on 1 January 2022, revenue for the BEELF  AEENFARAEDI R AAR
year of the Group would have been RMB12,374,630,000, #12,374,630,0007T + AR#12,329,813,000
RMB12,329,813,000 and RMB12,670,422,000, respectively TR ARY12,670,422,0007T * M F KR
and profit for the year would have been RMB582,570,000, i o Bl & A K #582,570,0007T « AR
RMB576,219,000 and RMB597,150,000, respectively. The pro 576,219,0007t & A R #597,150,0007T ©
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not EERHERFAZAE - L ABARTHE
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations R2022F 1 A1B A - AEEERSELR Y
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had WARKE LS  NERBERERKERAN
the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022, nor is it FEA -
intended to be a projection of future results.
In determining the ‘pro-forma’ profit of the Group had FEEMRAFINEWERE  FERES
Mufeng, Yilei and Aiyangniu been acquired at the beginning FHBERATAEENBE DN - 52
of the current year, the Directors calculated depreciation RIBME - BB E&RE - EREEENEM
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and BLEERNKRERPNERRSHETEDY
other intangible assets based on the recognised amounts of ¥ BERRE CRAEEAERAMERE

property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and other ENFE -
intangible assets at the date of the acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021:
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
has acquired certain subsidiaries as set out below. These
acquisitions have been accounted for as acquisition of
businesses using the acquisition method.

38. ¥¥&6tw
BZE2021F12831HLLEE :
REZE2021F12A3BILEE - AEED W
BTHETHBAR - ZEWESEHEEFER
U B S A BR B SRS U BE o

BRAERMBELNEE

Consideration transferred and goodwill arising on acquisition:

Zhongyuan Fuyuan Aoyuan  Fuminfeng Total
T =R R ERE st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
(Note d) (Note e) (Note f) (Note f)
(MiEd) (MizEe) (M xh) (FH3ES)

Purchase consideration EERE 722,994 2,850,604 53,737 159,187 3,786,522
Plus: non-controlling interests il * FE¥ERRAE 2% - 36,780 41,488 17,487 95,755
Less: recognised amounts of R P A E
net assets acquired FER
BReHE (675,784)  (2,192,055) (86,434)  (174,870)  (3,129,143)
Goodwill arising on acquisition  WEEEEHHE 47,210 695,329 8,791 1,804 753,134

These acquired subsidiaries are principally engaged in
business of dairy farming and feeds processing. These
acquisitions were made as part of the Group's strategy to
strengthen its position in dairy farming industry, optimize
value chain and enhance operation efficiency.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Notes:

(d)  Acquisition of Zhongyuan
Pursuant to the Company's announcement dated 23 July
2021, Modern Farming, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, acquired the entire equity interests in Zhongyuan on
21 July 2021.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB1,493,000 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in 2021.

ZERWBNOHNB AR EZRENFTRER
FRINT R o (FHMZERETBER A
SEMBEADFRIETENMA - BICE
B8R NI = E S MR B — D -

Bt ERESHRELNBRE TR ARE
B o

PaE -

(dy WiEHT
RIEAQ T HEA2021F7 238 A S
AREE2EMBARERKEER R
202147 21 BB T a2 2RR%AE -

U BE 4B BE AR AN A R %6 1,493,0007T T 51 A8
HERE WER2021FHER BT -
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 38. ¥¥&6twm
Year ended 31 December 2021: (continued) #ZE2021 ¢12H BMBLEFE @
Notes: (continued) e - ()
(d)  Acquisition of Zhongyuan (continued) (d) WS T@m
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUERHREBNEERBINEE
acquisition
RMB'000
ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 560,330
Right-of-use assets PREAE 37,755
Biological assets LA E 491,209
Inventories FE 46,042
Trade and other receivables and prepayments fgqﬂl%%ﬁ;@m&ﬁ‘mﬁgw FIE LA R
TR R 208,335
Bank balances and cash WITH ﬁ?&fﬁf 14,408
Trade and other payables N E SR N E b e R (159,707)
Bank borrowings IRITIER (45,000)
Other borrowings HbEmR (443,809)
Lease liabilities HEaE (33,779)
675,784
The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB204,431,000 Fﬁ”ﬁlﬁﬁﬂ'\]ﬁﬁuﬁl?ﬂlﬁﬁ(\\qﬁﬂﬁ HEBN R FER
at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of AR ¥204,431,0007T - EANBREAAR
RMB204,431,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there #£B204,431,0007T ° A&t A WS B B A
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected. TEWMBMENRERE °
Gooduwill arising on acquisition WHBELENEE
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Zhongyuan because the WP TEETEE  AREFEEKS
acquisition was expected to result in benefits of synergies, RipEEE - WA R R ARKRTSERES
revenue growth and future market development. These B o SRR THEFESHER AR
benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because TE AR ELEENRERIRE o
they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Zhongyuan WEP THREREFR
RMB'000
ARBFT
Purchase consideration BERE 722,994
Receivables from Zhongyuan Seller (Note i) REFRITTE F ) EWERIE (FFEED (234,265)
Consideration payable (Note ii) FERARE (BT (256,338)
Consideration paid BfRE 232,391
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired B BENRe MRS EYER (14,408)
217,983
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

Acquisition of Zhongyuan (continued)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Zhongyuan (continued)
Notes:

According to the purchase agreement, the Group's
consideration payables to Zhongyuan Seller amounted
to RMB234,265,000 were offset by Group's receivables
from Zhongyuan Seller of RMB234,265,000 after
acquisition.

At the date of acquisition, Zhongyuan was a respondent
of an ongoing arbitration proceeding, which the
claimant applied that Zhongyuan failed to supply goods
to it in accordance with the terms of contract and the
claimed compensation was approximately RMB407
million. According to the purchase agreement, the final
amount of compensation payable by Zhongyuan will be
borne by Zhongyuan Seller. Accordingly, as mutually
agreed with Zhongyuan Seller, an amount of RMB250
million has been temporarily withheld from the purchase
consideration and will be payable to Zhongyuan Seller
after deducting the final amount of settlement from the
arbitration. According to other relevant agreements
dated in August 2021, September 2021 and September
2022, the amount temporarily withheld from the
purchase consideration was offset by receivables from
Zhongyuan seller of RMB17,339,000, RMB4,987,000 and
RMB38,961,000, respectively. As of 31 December 2022,
the amount temporarily withheld from the purchase
consideration was RMB188,713,000 (the “"Withheld
Amount”). Zhongyuan had dialogues with the relevant
arbitration commission from time to time and had
not yet received a conclusive arbitral award from
the arbitration commission as at 31 December 2022.
Subsequent to the reporting period, Zhongyuan had
received a conclusive arbitral award from the arbitration
commission dated on 3 February 2023 and the Withheld
Amount is greater than the compensation amount and
trade receivable from certain subsidiaries of Zhongyuan
Seller.

The Directors have considered that it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation from the above
arbitration and a reliable estimate cannot be made of
the fair value of the obligation. Accordingly, no provision
has been made in relation to this arbitration nor has any
indemnification asset been made.

38. ¥ & 6tw
BZEZ2021F12B31BIEEFEE : @)
MsE : (48)

(d)

Y B = T ()
WEP THRESR @

BiEE

SEoCEER PERRNRRRERLE

BRIEBEDSE  ASEEMTLE
HHIR B ARBE234,265,0007T # &K
FERKBEEREBEKFTESN
JE U TR 18 A R #5234,265,0007T T i
i o

RUEEBE  RoR—BIEAET
MHPHEEFOFEHEBA  EFHR
ANEBRITREEBANIEREE
HEEY WEXKNBEANDAR
¥i07EET c BEBERE - P
TLEMNREEESBEBRTLE
TN A KHEPTEHE R
HE BERBEREFEMNARE
250E &L EAEMBRMPENZK
HHESHEEINTRLER - RE
2021468 A ~ 202149 A K% 202249
AWMEMBEGE  EREEEY
EBRBENSES HIWERY TLE A
B FRE A R#17,339,000C © AR
#4,987,0007T &2 A R #38,961,000
TG o Bl E2022F12H218 - &
FREBEHETHNRONSEAAR
#188,713,000c ([FBII& ) -
TEAEEEENRZES#TT
EiE o BEZE 2022912431 Bk
EEMREZESNBEMERIR -
WEME PRI EES
MR2023F2A3EEHH RKRMHE
Hor - BIMESBEBARPLEARL
MEBARMNEESBERERE SE

Eoe
N

BE=ZRA - BT LM EELA
FERARKENGNERRLD B
EAEEB R PEELAISEMGE -
Bt - 3 A B AR A 1 A faT
i TMEELEAREEE -
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

Acquisition of Fuyuan

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 29 November
2021, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in Fuyuan on
29 November 2021. The consideration consist of (i) allotment
and issue of 807,096,101 shares (valued at HKD1,073,438,000,
equivalent to RMB879,275,000) by the Company to Mengniu
SPV and (ii) the sum of RMB1,971,329,000 in cash to certain
other sellers in proportions to their respective interest in
Fuyuan. After the acquisition, Fuyuan is owned as to 43.35%
by the Company and as to 56.65% by Modern Farming.
Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB7,981,000 have
been recognised as an expense.

38. ¥ 86w
BZE2021F12A31BLEEFE : @
e - ()

(e)

Wi =R
BREAXABHA2021F11A298 0
NE - REBER2021E11 298 i
BERMEZIMEE - RESENAAAR
S A SPVED % K& 817807,096,101 f% f% 15
({8181,073,438,0008 T * fHE R AR
879,275,0007T) bA K (i) Al E Ath & T E fh =
FRESENERMEEL O ZFrA
R#1,971,329,000CR %  WEETMKIE
BERBEARNGEAL3.35%  ABEARKE
(@) E56.65% - WHEHBKAARE
7,981,000t EER AR -

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUERHREBNEERBRINEE
acquisition

RMB’000
AREFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 1,141,912
Right-of-use assets FREEE 330,451
Intangible assets B EE 3,380
Interests in associates REEE QR A= 18,769
Biological assets EMEE 1,601,502
Inventories FE 582,419

Trade and other receivables and prepayments

JEW B 55 R R K% At FE MR IR A I

FART IR 343,829

Deferred tax assets FEIEFIBE & 2,338
Pledged bank deposits EEMIRITER 21,042
Bank balances and cash RITHBAIRS 470,897
Trade and other payables JEE 5 BRI N E b fE SRR (633,009)
Contract liabilities HERE (970)
Tax payable FERTIE (1,498)
Bank borrowings RITHER (1,299,075)
Other borrowings H R (81,460)
Lease liabilities HERE (287,215)
Deferred tax liability EEFIERE (21,257)
2,192,055

266

The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB321,016,000
at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of
RMB321,016,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected.
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

Acquisition of Fuyuan (continued)

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests of 35% in Haykingdom, a
subsidiary of Fuyuan, at the acquisition date was measured by
reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts of
net assets of Haykingdom amounted to RMB36,780,000.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Fuyuan because of
the expected enhancement of the Group's position in dairy
farming industry, optimization of value chain and enhancement
of operation efficiency. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the
recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Fuyuan

38. ¥%50tw

BZE22021F12A31BLEEE : @
e (8

(e)

e B8 = R ()

FIERER
REEBHFEEROME QA
Haykingdom 35% M 3EE R #E = - 28
Haykingdom& EFEBRRASEARE
36,780,0007CHI L IEHE ©

WERELNEE

WERELHE ERA/BHSREALR
SEENFRBTEAMN - BOEERE
RIERQERE - EB ST HEE D H
BR - ARTNANNRELEENER
= o

22N

BEERNASREEE

RMB’000

ARET T

Cash consideration BeRE 1,971,329
Consideration payable e R(E (231,156)
Consideration paid BRE 1,740,173
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired B BENRe RIReEEYER (470,897)
1,269,276

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Aoyuan Agriculture and
Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. (“Aoyuan”) and Ningxia
Fuminfeng Animal Husbandry Development Co., Ltd.
("Fuminfeng”)

In addition to the above notifiable and major transactions
in 2021, Modern Farming acquired 52% equity interests in
Aoyuan on 26 October 2021 and acquired 90% equity interests
in Fuminfeng on 25 November 2021 respectively.

Acquisition-related costs in relation to the acquisition of
Aoyuan and Fuminfeng amounting to RMB200,000 and
RMB250,000 have been excluded from the consideration
transferred and have been recognised as an expense.

WIERELRRREEERAF
MMREDREEEREWEBEAR
BEERRA(ERE)]

B 2021 F AT RAMNERZZIN - B
KRB (@)D RIR2021910 526 B W g
TIBIRS2% M M HE - 2021411 825H
B8 T B R E0%HI IAE

BUERRN B REH MWK RS R

£ AR ¥#200,0007T %2 A R #250,0007T » R
AAEHEAE  YEERBMAX -

SEoCEER PERRNRRRERLE
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

268

(f)

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Aoyuan Agriculture and
Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. (“Aoyuan”) and Ningxia
Fuminfeng Animal Husbandry Development Co., Ltd.
("Fuminfeng”) (continued)

38. ¥% 50w

BZEZ2021F12A31BLEEE : @
e - ()

(f)

WEAELRREENEEGRQA
BRRIEEEEREWERREFR
EEQ2RAITERED) @

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUEBRHREBNEERBRNEE
acquisition
Aoyuan Fuminfeng
R ERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 75,913 167,676
Right-of-use assets FREEE 24,900 1,210
Biological assets EMEE 78,640 144,886
Inventories T8 13,940 37,809
Trade and other receivables and FENS R 5 R 3k R B At FE Uk
prepayments FIEA R FAR FRIA 11,087 17,596
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 280 7,194
Trade and other payable JERTE 5 8RR R B At BT 5RIA (24,494) (89,146)
Bank borrowings IRITER (40,051) (99,786)
Other borrowings E gk (53,781) (12,569)
86,434 174,870

The receivables acquired from Aoyuan and Fuminfeng with
a fair value of RMB167,000 and RMB10,657,000 at the date
of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of RMB167,000
and RMB10,657,000, respectively. At acquisition date, it is
estimated that there are no contractual cash flows that will not
be collected.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests of 48% in Aoyuan and 10% in
Fuminfeng recognised at the acquisition date were measured
by reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts
of net assets of Aoyuan and Fuminfeng and amounted to
RMB41,488,000 and RMB17,487,000 respectively.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Aoyuan and Fuminfeng
because the acquisitions were expected to result in benefits
of synergies, revenue growth and future market development.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(f)

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Aoyuan Agriculture and
Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. (“Aoyuan”) and Ningxia
Fuminfeng Animal Husbandry Development Co., Ltd.
(“Fuminfeng”) (continued)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Aoyuan and Fuminfeng

38. ¥%50tw

BZE22021F12A31BLEEE : @
e (8

(f)

WiERELRRRBEEERAF
(MBEDREEEREWEBEAR

EEQAFAITERE]D @

BERERERENFSRH TR

Aoyuan Fuminfeng

IR ER®

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT T AREFTT

Purchase consideration BERE 53,737 159,187

Consideration payable (Note) FERRE R (4,539) (151,164)

Consideration paid ERE 49,198 8,023
Less: cash and cash equivalents W BRENREeREESE

balances acquired (ERUE= 3 (280) (7,194)

48,918 829

Note:

At the date of acquisition, Fuminfeng was a
respondent of an ongoing arbitration proceeding,
which the claimant applied that Fuminfeng failed
to supply goods to it in accordance with the
terms of contract and the claimed compensation
was approximately RMB130 million. According
to the purchase agreement, the final amount of
compensation payable by Fuminfeng will be borne
by seller of Fuminfeng. Accordingly, as mutually
agreed with the seller of Fuminfeng, an amount of
RMB130 million has been temporarily withheld from
the purchase consideration, and will be payable to
the seller of Fuminfeng after deducting the final
amount of settlement from the arbitration.

The Directors have considered that it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation
from the above arbitration and a reliable estimate
cannot be made of the fair value of the obligation.
Accordingly, no provision has been made in relation
to this arbitration nor has any indemnification asset
been made.

In December 2022, Fuminfeng received the
arbitral award and the compensation amount was
RMB28.9 million. As mutually agreed with the seller
of Fuminfeng, an amount of RMB28.9 million has
been deducted from the settlement of purchase
consideration.

B EE

REBEE  BERER—JALEHR

ETHREREFORBABA &
THRAHBERERERES
WiEFREEEEY - WERE
BEAHARKIZ0BET - RE

BEWE EREENORKR
EeEBMEREGET AR -

I KEEBEREENEHHE
ERBERETTINMARK 1308
B BREMRFAENRRER

TRERXNTREREHE)

o

EERR - BiTLAMEEHA
ERERALENENERRR
o BEEAHEBAFEELR
SEfhEt o At WEBL AR EL
TR BE - TREAE R AR

BEE -

20225128 - BREWE
BoR - BESHEAARK289H
BT KEERENETENH
ERENBERETABRAR

289BETT °
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

270

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2021
is profit of RMB43,005,000, profit of RMB18,839,000, profit
of RMB57,000 and loss of RMB8,072,000 attributable to the
additional business generated by Zhongyuan, Fuyuan, Aoyuan
and Fuminfeng, respectively. Revenue for the year ended 31
December 2021 includes RMB250,927,000, RMB252,084,000,
nil and RMB10,169,000 generated from Zhongyuan, Fuyuan,
Aoyuan and Fuminfeng, respectively.

Had the acquisition of Zhongyuan, Fuyuan, Aoyuan and
Fuminfeng, been completed on 1 January 2021, revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2021 of the Group
would have been RMB7,411,482,000, RMB9,487,990,000,
RMB7,078,470,000 and RMB7,191,330,000, respectively and
profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 would have been
RMB1,072,073,000, RMB1,270,003,000, RMB1,026,478,000 and
RMB1,045,814,000, respectively. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2021, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

In determining the 'pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the
Group had Zhongyuan, Fuyuan, Aoyuan and Fuminfeng
been acquired on 1 January 2021, the Directors calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment based on the
recognised amounts of property, plant and equipment at the
date of the acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in Note 38(d), there are no other contingent
liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings, other borrowings, short term
debenture and long term bonds as disclosed in Notes 28, 29,
30 and 31 respectively, net of bank balances and cash and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and reserves.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of the review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the issues of new shares and the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

39.

40.
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41.

272

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 1. €M T A
Categories of financial instruments TRIAEER
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBTIT
Financial assets: SWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEER AT ENEREE 4,387,573 3,324,211
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATFEFAEMEERAR
=T A 106,229 2,655
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA
— Interest rate swaps — &4 B 16,945 -
~ Foreign currency option contracts - SNEHARE A K 5,257 -
- CFCCS - CFCCS 19,154 67,537
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Financial liabilities: SREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKATTENEREE 15,417,637 11,395,408
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA
— Interest rate swaps - == 1 - 3,446
— Foreign currency option contracts - HNEERRE S ) 58,034 112,642

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, bank borrowings, other borrowings, long
term bonds, short term debenture and derivative financial
instruments. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
the following major monetary items and intra-group
balances denominated in foreign currency:

1. €T AEw

cEEREENEERBE®

T35 B b

() E¥EE
HEREHKR  ~EBEHEB AT
BiENEEEEIEE REEAILE
7%

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTF T ARETT

USD denominated items XEtEHEER
- bank balances - RITHEER
- bank borrowings - RITERK
- long term bonds - RHES
— intra-group balances -SENE

73,711 182,701
(1,048,268) (1,152,195)
(3,493,016) (3,191,719)

112,644 38,254

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into foreign
currency option contracts or CFCCS, when necessary, to
manage its foreign exchange exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

2022: 2% (2021: 2%) is the sensitivity rate changes
which represented management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

ZKE@LEEH&@%@’JI\EEW&%%E :
amTi@l\ﬁfﬁﬁﬁé #s CFCCS(an
C AE IR R SNERR

BRE DT

20224 » 2% (20214 : 2%)5’]@ %
FHREREEEHIMNE }E—Jﬁb
BEH LY o
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)
The Group was primarily subject to foreign currency
risk from the movement of the exchange rates between
RMB against USD. The sensitivity analysis below
includes USD denominated monetary items that are
not associated with a foreign currency option contract
or CFCCS. At the end of the reporting period, if the
exchange rate had been strengthened in RMB against
USD by 2% and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit for the reporting period
would decrease as follow:

41. €@ T Ew
tREREENEERBE @

15 & B (40)

(i)

EME R )

HNES G B AT (1)
AEBFEABRAAREEETE
KRB INEE LR o A TN BREE AT
{26 1F B /NS B & 498 CFCCSERE
RIAETLETEMNERIEES - RNEREH
RWARBHETLHE2% © M
EEMAISEEZERTE  AIAEE
RIRE AR E R EF TR
>

o

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARETT

(3,724) (4,419)

For a 2% weakening of the RMB against USD, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax
profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to term deposits, fixed-rate bank borrowings,
other borrowings, short term debenture, long term
bonds and lease liabilities. The Group's cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly due to fluctuations in the
prevailing market interest rates on bank balances,
pledged bank deposits and bank borrowings which
carry interest at variable interest rates.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net interest rate
exposures and may enter into interest rate swap
contracts, when necessary, to manage its interest rate
exposure.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable
interest rate bank borrowings that are not associated
to an interest rate swap contract. Bank balances and
pledged bank deposits are excluded from the sensitivity
analysis since they are not considered sensitive to
fluctuation in interest rate. The analysis is prepared
assuming the variable interest rate bank borrowings
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2021: 50) basis
points increase or decrease represented management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

At the end of reporting period, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 (2021: 50) basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit would have decreased/increased by
RMB2,272,000 (2021: RMB2,581,000) for the current year.

1. €@ T AEw

cEEREENEERBE®

™ 45 2B ()

(i) FYEE
RNEEHEERETE BBFR - EERITE
;o EMbfER - EEmES  REE
ARMEEARBEHENRATENER
o AEBHRESRENXAKREE
REWITES  CDERRITHERRIZ
FENF R BRITERWNBRITIIS A
KRE o

$’§ I‘Liﬂiﬁ;@%éﬁJ“ﬁﬂﬁMé’rﬁE :
AN EXEHaHIER)
LAEE@E%UZ‘:J—LKAA

AT BRE DT IR RN RiEHE
#IERART SRTTIE AV = B i B
E o BRIRITHE B R EERRITHER
B RREIL TERE - WA EHRE
DMOERBEA - M IHRER
BRBEMRIDREENF BRITHE
RRBEFEREEMRE - S0EE
# (20214 : S0fEER) M L TRER
REEEBHAEAEEENN XS
R AT ©

BURRE DT

RERE IR - W A R R 450
B 25 (20214 : SOMEEEL) - MATA
HEf S EEEFIE  BAEER
REFZHBRBEEBENGRLD
AR ¥2,272,0007T (20214 : AR
2,581,0007T) °
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

276

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)~ Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investments in equity securities of Austasia
measured at FVTOCI.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to the fair value of equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the investments in equity securities of
Austasia had been 10% (2021: N/A) higher/lower, the
other comprehensive income would increase/decrease
by RMB6,564,000 (2021: N/A).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
holds an insurance to credit risks of certain trade receivables
of feeds. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets except for as disclosed in Note 24.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring
system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade balances individually or collectively with appropriate
groupings. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as approximately
52.06% (31 December 2021: 74.25%) of total trade receivables
as at 31 December 2022 was due from Customer A (31
December 2021: Customer A).

Bank balances and pledged bank deposits

The credit risks on pledged bank deposits and bank balances
are limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings and/or authorised banks in the PRC.

Approximately 20%, 15% and 14% of total pledged bank
deposits and bank balances were deposited in bank A,
bank B and bank C respectively as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: 14%, 14% and 13% of total pledged bank
deposits and bank balances were deposited in bank D, bank
E and bank A respectively).

Other receivables

The management makes periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group recognised loss allowance of
other receivables of RMB30,000 (2021: RMB476,000).

Other than the concentration of credit risks of trade
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
mentioned above, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

1. €T AEw

ctHEREENEERBE @
BEEFANEEZERESRA
EE Rk & E T @

EEAAELT EKE ZRN &)

AEEGFEFERREFHERL  REAR
2022F12A3TEMERE ZERBEFLD
52.06% (2021512 A31H : 74.25%) BEWE
FAQR021%E12831H : BEEA)MFUE o

RITAEPRR B BRI T
BEHRTERARBITESRNEERRE
R RRARZHEF S REEEFENES
REFHIRTT RSP BIR R AT IRAT ©

20229128318 » #20% ~ 15% % 14%
MBEERRITERRRITEHRDBITFR
RITA ~ $R1TBRIRITC(2021F12H31H -
14% ~ 14% K 13% BB E G IR IRTITIF LR
ITHESH D BIFRIETTD « RITERIRTTA) ©

H b N TE
EREENFEL Tk - BALERURE
B 2 i 1 AR 1 A AT T E At FE U R TE /Y A]
Bl 1 1 e BRERIEEE - BIEEME - Z
EHENEERR S VIRERE B EE K
e BREEBRI2EABHEERHIEE
TR ERE - REZE2022F12831HIEF
[ AEEEREMEUGBEEBEREAR
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Other receivables (continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal credit

41. €@ T Ew

cEEREENEERBE®

EER KR RENE@®

E At JEH IR (8

AEBERFEERBRFREIEATER

rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets

A EEE R #t A FEWE 5 IR HttSmEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts  credit-impaired

KRR HFEFERONRRRE  BXEEMad 2HEHEEEE- 12@ARBEEESR
IR BEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not
credit risk since initial recognition through  credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources

&2+ BRANMREUNENIIN KRB REE 2HBEHEEBE- 2HESEEEE-
[\B B ¥ 5A TE TR LA SR B 18 AN BEERE BEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset  Lifetime ECL - credit-  Lifetime ECL - credit-
is credit-impaired impaired impaired

P BEBTNEAECELEEERE SHEMEEEE - 2HEHEEEE-

EERIE EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

ik ERERTEBABABRENMERER MHESHE MEHT R

AEBETR BB RAIKEEBFIA
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €M I AEw
Financial risk management objectives and policies TREREENEERBEE®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE R B &R E 7 @
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRFAVASERBEREEBEET NS
Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: MEEEEERR :
Internal credit Gross carrying Gross carrying
Notes rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount 2022 amount 2021
K ABEEFR  12BANRHRSEEFR REAE20225 RREENE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREF
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERATENEREE
Pledged bank deposits 26 N/A 12m ECL 187,339 168,674
BEARTER TR 12EAESHEEESE
Bank balances 26 N/A 12m ECL 2,361,909 2,089,620
RiTHS TR 12EARSREEEE
Other receivables 24 Low risk 12m ECL 192,857 20,576
E YR ERR 12EAEHEEEE
Bill receivables 24 Low risk 12m ECL 14,268 1,176
EREE Vel 12MEARREESR
Trade receivables (Note)
W E 5 %50 (i)
= raw milk 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment, 922,754 885,438
not credit-impaired)
- REHD ERR FHRBEEHR(ERR
REEHE)
~feeds 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL (collective assessment, 710,411 158,722
not credit-impaired)
- ff ER R SHEHEEHRGET -
EEEHE)
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified MiEE - mEWE SRR - AREE D E R B
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime BHREENESRANBILH EAR BT
ECL. The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL HEEBEASHBERE TEEERE
model on trade receivables individually or collectively with HEEBEERLUTHREKE S RET
appropriate groupings, of which these receivables are grouped &5 BiBEE HENEEBRETME -
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to past EhZEFREFERRARNEERR
due information for the customers. B 2REFPHNBTANEETE

oM -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Other receivables (continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach.

41. €@ T Ew
tREREENEERBE @

EER KR RENE@®

H b JEK B ()
TRINTIBEGH A ERERE SHEXR
REHBEBEEHBNES -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

=HIFAH 2HITAH

EEEE FEEE
(BEERIE) (FERE) e
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBETT ARBTTT ARETT

As at 1 January 2021 A2021561818 - 8,483 8,483
Changes due to financial R2021F1A1HER

instruments recognised as at ~ EHEREE T HE3|I A

1 January 2021: 2E)

~ Write-offs — i dH - (8,483) (8,483)
As at 31 December 2021 A2021%12A31H - - -
New financial assets REMFEMEE :

originated: 1,965 - 1,965
As at 31 December 2022 7202212 H31H 1,965 - 1,965

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs

earlier.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB541,093,000 as at
31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: RMB723,466,000). The
Directors closely monitor the cash flows of the Group and,
upon maturity, would arrange the renewal and refinancing
of the borrowing facilities, when necessary, to ensure the
Group has sufficient funds to enable the Group to meet its
financial obligations. In addition, taking into account, (i) the
available credit facilities of approximately RMB5,759,918,000
which remain unutilised as at 31 December 2022, of which
an amount of RMB1,000,000,000 is from Inner Mongolia
Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu, and the remaining facilities
are from licensed banks; (ii) the expected net cash inflows
generated from the Group's operations for the next twelve
months, the Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able
to meet in full its financial obligations as and when they fall
due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

The Group finances their operations by using a combination
of borrowings and equity. Adequate lines of credit, including
a facility of RMB1,000,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu
are maintained to ensure necessary funds are available when
required. The Directors monitor the liquidity position of
the Group on a periodical basis to ensure the availability of
sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations. With reference
to the existing unutilised facilities, the Directors consider
the liquidity and source of funds for the daily operation and
capital expenditure are sufficient.

1. €@ T AEw

cEEREENEERBE®

REBESREE
AEBR2022F12A3MBHRB A EFE
A ANR#541,093,0007T (20214128318 -
AR ¥E723,466,0007T) © EBHRY)EIEARE
EHEEREMRN  TRIBEESTH
HIRTTREETESRLBRE(WFZE)
LRRASEBEHEEARNERESFELRE
EREAEN A IS EM - thoh - EEEHR
2022F 12 A31THKM A EEBEEMELN A
R#5,759,918,000 T KB (B rh AR #E
1,000,000,0007L 25K B AR & S (R HH
BAF)  FHsEREFEIEIT)  ()FREK
+o@AAREBRLEEENBHRRESTAF
B BR ERNAERBENEN REREL
MRS BITEPMBEL - Al BREATH
MEBBEFECEEERE o

TEBEEEERIBREAEESEREES -
ARENEFERANBLENES  BF
ERMNEEE(BERERNTERSNM
& AR #1,000,000,0007T) ° &= F B2
AEERREES/KTFE - URRATEEEH
MRBECBITAAERM - K2EBBF XY
ARE  E2RE - HEEEREARFLAT
THRBHESRESHRFERR -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

282

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net
cash (inflows) and outflows on derivative financial liabilities
that settle on a net basis, and the undiscounted gross
(inflows) and outflows on those derivatives that require
gross settlement. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference
to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield
curves existing at the end of the reporting period. The
liquidity analysis for the Group's derivative financial liabilities
is prepared based on the contractual maturities as the
management consider that the contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows
of derivatives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

41. €M I BEw
tREREENEERRR @

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE & Bk
Total
Interest Within 181 days Over undiscounted  Carrying
rates 180 days to365days 1-2years 2years  cashflows  amount
181K% AERRE
ME  180KA  365RA 1E2F  HBE2F  REAE  REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®Tn ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
As at 31 December 2022 R20225125318
Non-derivative financial FTE2BER
liabilities
Trade and other payables e LS E )
B 2,221,314 725,381 - - 2,946,695 2,946,695
Fixed interest rate bank EERTER
borrowings 1.65-8.16 1,872,524 1,718,037 1,779,113 2,045,188 7,414,862 7,050,995
Variable interest rate bank FEBRITER
borrowings 1.65-6.85 1,381,708 13,534 63,839 107,030 1,566,111 1,532,590
Fixed interest rate other EEEMER
borrowings 3.59-12.00 10,161 13,328 83,143 198,166 304,798 293,819
Fixed interest short term TERERES
debenture 4.00 101,000 - - - 101,000 100,522
Fixed interest rate longterm ~ E2RHEH
bonds 213 37,822 37,205 75,232 3,632,353 3,782,612 3,493,016
Lease liabilities HEBE 3.38-5.90 62,736 51,460 118,728 1,294,484 1,527,408 1,068,045
5,687,265 2,558,945 2,120,055 7,277,221 17,643,486 16,485,682
Derivatives-gross settlement ~ 74 I8 - WAHLE
Foreign currency option SRR N
contracts
- inflow -MmA (15,964) - - (23,679) (39,643)  (39,643)
- outflow - 30,352 - - 67,325 97,677 97,677

“EC_S5% PEARKURERFRAR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €@t T BEw
Financial risk management objectives and policies TRIEAREENEERBE®
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE S Bk @
Total
Interest Within -~ 181 days Over undiscounted  Carrying
rates  180days to365days  1-2years 2vyears  cashflows amount
181X AMRRS

FE  180KA  E365KA 1226 EEF MELR EmE
%  RMBO00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'0O0  RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR

As at 31 December 2021 R2021%12A31R

Non-derivative financial FiteBER
liabilities

Trade and other payables EREZERREEN

R - 219361 2,681,308 - - 2900669 2,900,669
Fixed interest rate bank ERRTER
borrowings 2.85-7.26 649458 1377317 125,036 993,813 3,145,624 2,971,548
Variable interest rate bank ERRTER
borrowings 1.21-6.85 260,409 176,525 1.214503 163,082 1814519 1,694,468
Fixed interest rate other TEEEMER
borrowings 3.85-12.00 435,281 742 17,500 205,504 659,027 637,004
Fixed interest rate long term ~ EERHIEH
bonds 213 34,624 34,059 68,683 3,394,086 3,531,452 3191719
Lease liabilities HEER 465-5.70 39,191 34,620 623771 711,285 847473 567512

1638324 4304571 1488099 5467710 12,898,764 11,962,920

Derivatives-net settlement ~ #14£TR - L BELE

Interest rate swap contracts ~ F|EBHALH
outflow 3,999 854 (1415 - 3,438 3,446

Derivatives-gross settlement ~ #74 I8 - {EHHE

Foreign currency option HNERELD
contracts
= inflow -RA - (671) (15,103) (25,191) (40,965) (40,965)
- outflow - - 14,983 86,325 52,299 153,607 153,607
Note: The amounts included above for variable interest rate BIRE © fis % B ) R O B8 {1 B ¥R 5 B R 788 72 A9 )
borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable interest REHAZE - A EFRERBER
rates differ from these estimates of interest rates determined SHEEBMAR -

at the end of the reporting period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 42. gt 28 fiEL B ENYHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TERHANAEEREETDHMEEABENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B BRERASKIRSES - ETHAE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are FREERRERECKIARKRERE R
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be RAEEGARERNERTOBRRARERD
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows FEANRERENZERE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Derivative

Bank Long Short term Other Lease financial

borrowings ~ term bonds debenture borrowings ligbilities ~ instruments
(Note 28) (Note 31) (Note 30) (Note 29) (Note 32) (Note 25) Total

Bl RfEr  RHBER EfpfER HERE EERIE
(Ht228) (Ht331) (H30) (H29) (H33) (H3225) it

RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTTL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR

At 1 January 2021 RANE1R18 5,642,326 - - - 219,893 72193 5934412
Financing cash flows HERTINE (2605,999) 3,200,760 - (2585) (25340) (170) 543403
Acquired on business ShatiniE

combination 1483912 - - 591,619 320,994 - 2,396,525
Acquired on asset acquisitions & E IR - - - 80,095 18736 - 78,831
New leases entered g - - - - 20,339 - 20,339
Foreign exchange AME (42.151) (44,035) - - - - (86,186)
Interest expenses SRR 187,924 34,99 - 11,142 12,890 - 246,950
Fair value adjustments NTERZ - - - - - (23472) (23472)
At 31 December 2021 RN1E12A318 4,666,016 319,719 - 637,004 57,512 48551 9,110,802
Financing cash flows BERERE 3,369,955 (69,723) 100,000 (427,483) (93,127) (24.417) 2,855,205
Acquired on business SBelElE

combination 154,444 - - 72,378 97,948 - 324,770
New leases entered IRt - - - - 496,207 - 496,207
Eliminated on termination of % |H 1 B3

leases - - - - (37,335) - (37,335)
Foreign exchange SNE 115,859 291,903 - - - - 407,762
Interest expenses flER% 277,311 79,117 52 11,920 36,840 - 405,710
Fair value adjustments NFERR - - - - - (7,456) (7,456)
At 31 December 2022 RaE 128318 8563585 3493016 100522 293819 1,068,045 16678 13,555,665
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. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered
into new lease agreements for the use of leased properties,
lands, and farms for 2 to 42 years and one of the lease is
fully subsidised by the local government. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets
of RMB505,578,000 (2021: RMB20,339,000), lease liabilities of
RMB496,207,000 (2021: RMB20,339,000) and deferred income
of RMB?,371,000 (2021: nil), respectively.

In addition, trade receivable of RMB38,961,000 (2021:
RMB22,326,000) was offset by the same amount of
consideration payable to Zhongyuan Seller according to a
supplementary agreement as disclosed in Note 38(d) in 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, an amount
of RMB879,275,000 out of the total consideration for the
acquisition of Fuyuan was satisfied by the issue of ordinary
shares of the Company. Further details of the acquisition are
set out in Note 38.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at

fair value less costs to sell or fair value on a recurring
basis

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell, equity investment at FVTOCI and derivative
financial instruments are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period. The Directors have set up a valuation
team, which is headed up by the chief financial officer of the
Company, to determine the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation team works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The chief financial officer reports the
valuation team'’s findings to the Directors semi-annually to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2022

43.

44,

BEXFRERS
REZE2022%12A318 IEFE - KREEET
YHEBEEYWE TS ERNTEE
Wik - RE2E4WF - Hh—IHHEERIS
B2 ey - HERBR - AEE DRI
REAEEE  HEBBEMEERAARE
505,578,0007T (20214 = AR #20,339,000
7T) © AR#496,207,0007T (20214F : AR
#20,339,0007T) & AR #9,371,0007T (2021
F:E)o

AN - R IE M FE38(d) I EA2022F i 7t
i BN E SERARE38,961,00050
(20214 : AR#22,326,0007T) % &t 7T
B RS BENR BN -

REZE2021F12A31H ILFE - WE=ERA
BREPHAREEST,275,0007CE @ iEE
TEARBEBRHAFAZN - BEKESEE
Ryt — R IB BT AT 5E38 -

DNFEFE
BREFHEENURNFEREERAID
FEFENFEELEYEE  cHEE
REMEENATE

REBENEMEER A FERM B S KA
B BAVERAHEGEZEBANESRE
EITESBTARSRSHURER A FER
B -BEFEERUMEREK  AXRREREY
BERE  UEBTEENGHERTERAFE
STEMBARUE -

HETEERBBEN R FER - AEBEMAA
RTZRBREE - HE —REE NG
ABBEAAR  AEEEZBRFE=TAER
MERMETHE - AEEKESERIMNERG
BEERAE  /RUETSENHETE
LRBABE BRVEEBYFRNEZER
HEEFMNERABBEERABRFER
BOREA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022612 A31H |FF[Z

44. DNF{ETE
REEMEENAFEREHEER SR
FEFENAEELEYEE  SHEE
kRemaEN AT E®

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at

fair value less costs to sell or fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair TRIEHBBAREATESENEABEY
AEREENNEEZEEERBENRAT
BEWERIRAMEANMETEREASRE)
LA EFEME SR FERANKF(E
ZRE=FIRER -

values of these assets and liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Level 2 and 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

DN ERE

Fair value hierarchy

Fair value as at  Fair value as at

31 December 31 December Fair value
Assets (liabilities) 2022 2021 hierarchy
R20224F 720214
12A318# 12A3188
EEARS ATE ~¥E NEEHA
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T AREETF T
Biological assets YA E 10,631,171 9,404,924 Level 3
F=M
Derivative financial instruments 7A@ T A
— Interest rate swaps - M &= H 16,945 - Level 2
ER
~ Foreign currency option - SNEERRE S A 5,257 - Level 2
contracts FER
- CFCCS - CFCCS 19,154 67,537 Level 2
B
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BN EF AR EE
WARERT A
— Listed equity securities- - FTRERES - 65,635 - Level 2
Austasia SRS FER
— Listed equity securities- - FRERES - 1,826 - Level 1
Others Efh F—R
— Unlisted equity investments - ELTHEREE 38,768 2,655 Level 3
FE=
Derivative financial instruments T4 &g T A
— Interest rate swaps — Fl| 245 HY - (3,446) Level 2
E_&
— Foreign currency option - SNEHIEAS X (58,034) (112,642) Level 2
contracts FMR
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44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 44. A FEETTE@
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements ATFEFEFERANKELE
The following table shows the valuation techniques used TRINFFAEE R EE=RRFERA
in measuring level 2 and level 3 fair values, as well as the BIRE % - ARG ERE R BT A B9 & KN A]
significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models: B g A BUR ¢

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EATTREGABER

<pid RER EXFUBRGARE RTEFEZENEERE

Foreign currency Garman-Kohlhagen model N/A N/A

option contracts

HNEBREEHN Garman-Kohlhagen 87! TR T

Interest rate swaps Discounted cash flow N/A N/A

pilksar Future cash flows are estimated basedon N H TER

forward interest rates (from observable
interest rate at the end of reporting
period) and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various counterparties.
HRRENE
ARRERENRBEENE(RERE
HIREVATEREEAK) R & AR 5t -
BRBZEEFANEERRMTIE

B
CFCCS Garman-Kohlhagen model and N/A N/A
CFCCS Discounted cash flow TR TER

Since it is fixed-to-fixed cross currency
swap, future cash flows are estimated
based on the contract. Different cash
flows in different currencies are
discounted via the corresponding curves,
and netted into the same currency as at
the valuation date.

Garman-Kohhagen B R A £ 72

MRRETEERNESHES - AR
ReRBIRBA DM - TREHE
FTRRERERBERNMAESR ¥
ERERNERNERFETE -
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44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

44. PEEFE®
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXFABRRAREA
ofid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE NYEFECHNAERE
Listed equity Share price and Asian-Option Model N/A N/A
securities - Austasia  FREE RN EIERE TaR T

EREES - RS

Unlisted equity
investments

FLmEmRE

Heifers and calves

NEERE

Market approach
isE

The fair value of 14 months old heifers
is determined by reference to the local
market selling price.
THEANNEFRTENRE TS

EEET -

Fair value is estimated based on value
of comparable listed companies and
discounted for lack of liquidity.
RHEDRTELR T ARNEEEL
fEst REREEAREHR

Average local market selling prices of the
heifers of 14 months old were estimated
at RMB 22,000 per head at 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB22,000).

R2022512A318 + TIIEA M)A
THEHTSEREHREEARY
22,0007 (2021 : \NR22,0007C) °

SEoCEER PERRNRRRERLE

An increase/decrease in the discount for
lack of liquidity would result in a
decrease/increase in the fair value
measurement of the unquoted
equity investments.

RBETRERIEN/ H D TERRAE
BRRENTEENRD /B -

Anincrease in the estimated local
market selling price used would result
in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the
heifers and calves, and vice versa.

FAnEE E s EBEMEERNG
ERNFATEIIENEN - R
)
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44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

Type Valuation technique

thiER %

Significant unobservable inputs

EATUBRGARE

44. P EFE®
ATFEFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements
EAFTREAARER
NYEFEZANEERE

The fair values of heifers and calves at age-
group less than 14 months are
determined by subtracting the estimated
feeding costs required to raise the cows
from their respective age at the end
of the reporting period to 14 months
plus the margins that would normally be
required by a raiser. Conversely, the fair
values of heifers at age group older than
14 months are determined by adding the
estimated feeding costs required to raise
the heifers from 14 months old to their
respective age at the end of the
reporting period plus the margins that
would normally be required. by a raiser

FNR T I B A B s AR B A R A T
ENRTEDNERERTEREZBR
BERRNAAREETNRAAMA
Wit EERE - MEEH—RAEN
BMET - AR EARTEEARN
FRARIN MO RTEDEM LR
PEERTOEAREEEEERR
ERRNFHAEN R RRKAE - 11
REBE-RAANEMERE -
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Estimated average feeding costs per
head plus margin that would normally
be required by a raiser for heifers and
calves younger than 14 months old are
RMB 19,287 at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB19,041 to 19,413); average estimated
feeding costs per head plus margin that
would normally be required by a raiser
for heifers older than 14 months old are
RMB 19,415 at 31 December 2022 (2021:

RMB19,132 10 19,728).
2025128318 + 5/ AT {E AR/

BERNMEME - SEEEH TR
RAMBEA-RAANEAARE
1928770 (20215 + ARH19,0417LE
1941370) + BA02F 128318 + AR
TEEANFTE - SRS
SRERAMEEE - RAETEAA
RE19415 (20215 - AR% 19,1321
ZAREH19,7287T) °

An increase in the estimated
feeding costs plus the margin that would
normally be required by a raiser used
would result in an increase/decrease
in the fair value measurement of the
heifers and calves older/younger than
14 months old, and vice versa.

RN EERAMEE R —RAET
BEMBERAR,/ AT EEA )
B4 RMEATEEREN/FD -
2 R9% ©
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KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 44. R FEETTE@w
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements AFEFEFERANHELT 2@

(continued)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXTTRERABER

<t hERE BATTEERALE AVEFBZBHRERE

Milkable cows The fair values of milkable cows are The estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk - An increase in the estimated

kS determined by using the multi-period used in the valuation process are range feed costs per kg of raw milk used would
excess earnings method, which is based ~ from RMB 2.13 to RMB 2.30 as at result in a decrease in the fair value
on the discounted future cash flows tobe 31 December 2022 (2021: range measurement of the milkable cows,
generated by such milkable cows. from RMB2.21 to 2.36), based on the and vice versa.

MEATFERBFERLHRBENEEER  historical average feed costs perkg of — FTAME AT REHD{E T K AEMA
BRABRNFEENERARBERE)  rawmilkafter taking into consideration  BHMELFEFEMTHE -
EE- of inflation. 2 R4 o
N2F12A317 - hEERTERNEL
TREDEAERABARS213TE
ARE230TL01% : \RE22110E
2367) - DERBATREPHESL T
HEERAT MBERRER ©

A milkable cow could have as many assix  An increase in the estimated daily
lactation cycles. Estimated average daily — milk yield per head used would result in
milk yield at each lactation cycle ranges  an increase in the fair value
from 32.36 kg to 34.56 kg as at ended measurement of the milkable cows,

31 December 2022 (2021: 29.7kg and vice versa.

to 34.5kg), depending on the number  FTAKIfEET EEF G AENSEMATEH
of the lactation cycles and the individual P4 ATEFENRS  R2HA
physical condition.

PENERILE - BE02F12A318
5 - RBABNETEERED
ENTRIDTENSOAT
(0215 : BIRTEASAFT) - BB
HHAURER S BRRAE o

—g-—F5g rERRuRerERLs )0
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 44. A FEETTE@
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements R EFEEANGEEL @

(continued)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXTABRBARESR
il fhERE BEXTABRHAUE APEGEZENEEEE
Estimated future market price for raw Anincrease in the estimated
milk is range from RMB4.27 to RMB4.38  average selling price of raw milk used
per kg at 31 December 2022 (2021: would result in a much higher percentage
RMB4.15 to 4.64 per kg). increase in the fair value measurement
R02F128318 » (EitRRBER D of the milkable cows, and vice versa.
TMEAFRTARELZILELIBT FR R T EBEMITERY
Q0215 - BRATARK4STE SATEFENEALLIEM - K27
4.647T) ° R e
Discount rate for estimated future cash An increase in the estimated
flow used is 12.50% at 31 December discount rate used would result in a
2022 (2021: 12.60%). decrease in the fair value measurement
RAONEN2ANA - FIRGHAKRES of the milkable cows, and vice versa.
MENBIEEA12.50% (20216 : ARG BRE M BT
12.60%) ° ATEFENTE - RZIHA o
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44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

44. PEEFE®
E=RMAFEFTENGER

Equity

instruments

at FVTOCI

BEAFEFA

Hip2mEmUWBA

HiEZTAE

RMB'000

ARETIT

Balance at 1 January 2021 FR20214F1 B 1 H #4564 5,080
Total losses in other comprehensive income REMEERAREIEEZEE (2,425)
At 31 December 2021 202151243117 2,655
Additions NE 45,495
Total losses in other comprehensive income REMEERAREIEEZEE (9,382)
At 31 December 2022 F2022F12A31H 38,768

The reconciliations for fair value measurements of the
biological assets are disclosed in Note 22.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The fair value of the long term bonds was USD424,362,500
(equivalent to RMB2,955,515,000) (31 December 2021:
USD472,453,000 (equivalent to RMB3,012,215,000))
which was classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy
based on quoted prices in active markets and its carrying
amount amounted to USD501,539,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,493,016,000) (31 December 2021: USD500,607,000
(equivalent to RMB3,191,719,000)) as at 31 December 2022.

EMEEREFENHRBERHE22 -

WHBREEEUQATFEFENERE
EREBMEENAFE

REIESH M QA F(E BE424,362,5003 5T (48
BN AR2,955,515,0007T) (20214E 12
A31H : 472,453,000 L (FHE RN AR
3,012,215,0007T)) * RBER/ER TS 8
REHESBEAATFERFNE —F  HR
202212 A31H M ERE{E A501,539,0003%
TT(HEE N AR3,493,016,0007T) (20214
12A318 : 500,607,000% 7T FHE R AR
3,191,719,0007T)) °

SEoCEER PERRNRRRERLE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 44. AT EFTEw
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities WHRKEEENAFEAENERE
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring ERTRMEENATE®
basis (continued)
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other EERREEV BRI ANIREHK A ED
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised HEthemEERSRBENRABELQT
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate B85 -

their fair values.

45. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 45. EAREYE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F T ARET T

Capital expenditure contracted but not HBEEYE - BE MR E
provided for in respect of acquisition of BRI EREHRRER
property, plant and equipment BEARME 261,798 244,469
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 @i2022¢12)5] JNHILEFE

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 46. BHE B X5
(a) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (a) BEAMBRREMITDIIFEES

financial statements, during the current year, the Group N RAREE - AREEEAR R

entered into the following transactions with related N5 -

parties:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETT

Mengniu Group S45E

Sales of raw milk SHE REH 9,201,510 5,977,915
Sales of feeds tHE& AR - 3,125
Purchase of liquid milk AR R 690 -
Purchase of feeds R AR 60,144 35,673
Associates and a joint venture B nnkadhE

Sales of feeds 5 & gt 10,549 -
Sales of biological assets HEEMEE 84,115 -
Purchase of feeds R R 26,634 -
Purchase of power and utilities REBRER M AR TE 39,182 19,998
Purchase of raw materials FREE AR 6,550 4,808
Purchase of equipment FRIBR 11,084 1,718

The sales and purchase prices were determined on EEERDREABIE=RHEN
mutually agreed terms based on prices offered to ET%? LH BTN IRRERE -
independent third parties.
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46.

296

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BHL R Z @
(b) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (b)
financial statements, at the end of the reporting period,

B E M RREMEBOPIRES
CRImERR - ARE RS E

the Group had the following balances with related T O AR -
parties:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETT
Mengniu Group ELSEL]
Trade receivables FEWE 5 AR
= raw milk - RRY 849,273 759,391
— feeds - f - 15,941
Prepayments TEfTRIE
— liquid milk - REEHD 3,118 -
Trade payables FEfTE SRR
—feeds - fft - 21,615
Associates and a joint venture BanmRkaEhsE
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 8RR B EAth FE LU
A
- feeds - gkt 9,398 -
— biological assets -EMEE 61,915 -
Prepayments T RIE
- equipment - & 2,677 -
Trade and other payables JERNTE Z RS B At et
I
—feeds - gt 23,390 -
- power and utilities - BeR M~ AR e 6,591 2,722
—raw materials - EME 1,878 1,777
— equipment - & 10,029 2,627
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

46. BB AR Z @

Other borrowings (c) HAER
Addition due to Drawdown Repayment As at
Asat  acquisition of during during 31 December
Category 1 January 2022 subsidiaries the year the year 2022
R2022% KRS R2022%
L 1A18 NN ERE% FREE 125318
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARET T ARET R ARETR
Mengniu loans FHER 495,466 69,269 40,965 (569,915) 35,785
Addition due to Drawdown Repayment As at
As at acquisition of during during 31 December
Category 1 January 2021 subsidiaries the year the year 2021
20215 RN 201 E
Bl 118 RAEMmEM ENER FREE 12A318
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Mengniu loans FHER - 501,616 6,731 (12,881) 495,466

Mengniu loans carry interests at fixed rates from 3.85%
to 5.70% (31 December 2021: 3.85% to 5.70%) per
annum as at 31 December 2022. The Group recognised
interest expense of RMB5,215,532 for the year ended 31
December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021:
RMB6,731,000).

R2022F 128318 » RFBEFILZETE
FEFR3.85%%E5.70% (2021412 A 31
H : 3.85%%£5.70%):T & - REEHER
HE 20225128318 IEFEHF EH
= AR¥55,215,53270 (B £ 20214 12 A
NBLIEFE - AREE6,731,0000T) °
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

The emoluments of key management during the

reporting period are as follows:

46. BB R R 5 @

d) FEEBEAESNHH
AT REEEEABRIRE HARE B

Gl

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBTIT

Salaries and other benefits e kEMmEF 11,239 11,552

Performance related bonuses FRIREMHTEA 17,060 22,550
Recognition of equity-settled R HR AR e 5 S DA RR 1 ST AF

share-based payments OB 13,935 6,157

Retirement benefits scheme RIRTEFIFT B3R
contributions 776 665
43,010 40,924

47. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

47. B A7)

A20225F %2021 12A318 » A AT E

December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: EWBAFGBEEOT -
Place of
incorporation/
establishment/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
AL/
Ri/*E BHRRA/
WEAFAR £33k e ARRELRE IEEE
2022 0
20225 WE
Directly Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
B 3 B i
% % % %
Modern Farming (Notes i &v) The PRC RMB3 574,696,441 - 98.36 - 9835 Production of milk
BRAE (B iRy hE ARE3 574,69 44170 EEHD
Modern Farming (Shanghe) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMB850,000,000 - 98.36 - 9835 Breeding dairy cows and
RRUE ) AR AR (M) hE AR 850,000,007 production of milk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

47. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. B R R @
Place of
incorporation/
establishment/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
e/
Ri/i% BéRRE/
it K £33 e ARaARERE IERK
2022 2021
0225 WE

Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
ER 53 BE A&

% % % %
Modern Farming (Zhangjiakou) Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RMB430,000,000 - 98.36 - 98.35  Breeding dairy cows and
BREERRO)BRRA () ket AR 4300000007 production of mik
AR REEH)
Modern Farming (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMB60,000,000 - 98.36 - 9835 Breeding dairy cows and
RfHE (BB BRAR W) hEl AR 60,000,007 production of mik
AEMF REEH)
Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co,, Ltd. (Note ii The PRC RIB10,000,000 - 98.36 - 9835 Breeding dairy cows and
RftHE (W) ERAR () hE AR 10,000,007 production of mik
ARG REEH)
Modern Farming (Hefei) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMB40,000,000 - 98.36 - 98.35  Breeding dairy cows and
BRHE (S BRAR (i) L AR 40,000,000 production of mik
ARG REEH)
Modern Farming (Shuangcheng) Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RMB20,000,000 - 98.36 - 9835 Breeding dairy cows and
RRUE (5 AR AR (M) T AR 20,000,007 production of mik
AR REEH]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

47. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. M 2 B
Place of
incorporation/
establishment/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/
Hi/:E BARRE/
HEADER £ HREA ARAEERE ITER
2022 021
20225 W15
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
E# i L 3
% % % %
Modern Farming (Chabei) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMBA0,000,000 - 98.36 - 98.35  Breeding dairy cows and
BB (Z ) AR AR (i) bt AR90,000,0007 production of milk
AENFREEH)
Zhongyuan (Notes i &) The PRC RMB380,000,000 - 98.36 - 9835 Breeding dairy cows and
iz (Ff3Eisiv) hEl AR 380,000,007 production of mik
AR REEH)
Fuyuan (Notes i & iv) The PRC RMB1,522,400,000 - 99.07 - 9906 Production of milk
B (ki) HE ARE1,5224000007 SEH)
Modern Farming Hengshui Co., Ltd. (Note ii The PRC RMB199,837,000 - 99.07 - 99.06  Breeding dairy cows and
RRHE KRR AR (Hi) hE AR%199,837,0007C production of milk
AEMFREEF]
Modern Farming (Sugjan) Co,, Ltd.. (Note il The PRC RMB110,000,000 - 99.07 - 99.06  Breeding dairy cows and
RRBE (R ARAR () e AR 110,000,007 production of mik
ARG REES)
Tianjin Liang Yuan Technology Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RIMBS0,000,000 - 99.07 - 9.06  Feed business
KEEERHARAT Rk hE AR 50,000,007 EIES:
Aiyangniu (Note i) The PRC RMB20,000,000 - 73.77 - - Feedbusiness
A (W) HE AR 20,000,007 AHEH
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47.

48.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # £ 2022512431 H L F &

SUBSIDIARI ES (continued)

Notes:

The entity was established in the PRC and became a sino-
foreign investment enterprise.

ii. These entities were established in the PRC as domestic
companies and owned by Modern Farming.

ii.  These entities were established in the PRC as domestic
companies and owned by Fuyuan.

iv. As at 31 December 2022, 100.00% (2021: 100.00%) of equity
interests in Zhangyuan and 56.65% (2021: 56.65%) of equity
interests in Fuyuan were pledged to bank borrowings of the
Group (Note 28).

V. In 2022, Aquitair Holdings Limited, which is a shareholder
of Modern Farming and a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, made capital injection of RMB75,000,000 to Modern
Farming. After the capital injection, the equity interest of
Modern Farming attributable to the Company was increased
to 98.36%.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at the end of the year except for Modern Farming which
has issued short term debenture at a principal amount of
RMB 100,000,000 (2021: nil) as detailed in Note 30.

DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling

47. B A T w

GEX
HERET AR - PR BEIMEE D
)

i REEREFARY - EAAALSHE
R (RIS -

i REERETEMNKL FREAAR A
Efﬁ%ﬁﬁ

iv. 20224128318 » F17T5100.00% (2021
F 1 100.00%) Bz # & = R #956.65% (2021
F : 56.65%) B HEE W E B E AR EE /IR
TTEREREIE28) -

v. 2022%F - BAME(EBR)NREIL A
NRIZEWEBARMAquitair Holdings
LimitedMBRAKE(KE)FEARE
75,000,0007C ° &% AR AIEIERAK
¥ (EE) B IAEIE £ 98.36% °

BRERKE(EBEBTASARK
100,000,0007T (20214 : £) 55 High & 5 (FF
BHFE30) 40 - FRHE R R RETEM

48. BEERFEZEREZNIZEMW
B BEE

TREJNFEEERFERERN A RE R
BB RRIEFS

interests:
Place of
incorporation and Proportion of ownership
principal place of interests and voting rights held  Profit for the year allocated Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business by non-controlling interests to non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AR B AR FERBHARFARRR
MEBLRER TRERME RERELLA PEREFERERNEAEF it FERER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022% VRS 2022% VRS 2022% 20015
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT  ARETRT  ARETR
Moderm Farming The PRC 1.64% 1.65% 15,096 14,933 175,762 162,655
BRI (EE) i

—g-—s5g rEnnyxagares 30



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

48. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED 48. BEERFEZEREBZNIELEMW
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL B AR Rw®
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's FHRBEEENFERERNASEN B AR
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set W BERIZMNT - TXHBERHEERE
out below. The summarised financial information below SEAFFEEIINSE

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Modern Farming and its subsidiaries BRAMX(EE)RENE AR
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Current assets RENEE 8,283,631 5,641,368
Non-current assets EMBEE 20,195,963 18,008,471
Current liabilities nRBBEE (8,940,036) (6,127,047)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (7,439,860) (6,158,767)
Equity attributable to owners of the RREHER NGRS

Company 11,720,515 11,114,222
Non-controlling interests of Modern SMNEB AR R FE (5 &Y

Farming attributable to outside WA (R E) FEIE RS

shareholders 175,762 162,655
Non-controlling interests of Modern AR (R ED TR R

Farming's subsidiaries FEFEE = 203,421 87,148
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

48. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED 48. MEERFIEREZWHEZEMH
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL BATRNFBw®
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
B E2022% HZE20214
12H31H 12A31H
IHEREE IHEE
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TR ARETT

Revenue WA 12,295,091 7,078,470
Expenses 3 11,467,320 6,162,944
Profit attributable to owners of the KRR RVEE AR T

Company 810,002 901,159
Profit attributable to non-controlling SNERAR SR PEARER A (R E)

interests of Modern Farming FEVERR RE R FE G 803 F

attributed to outside shareholders 15,096 14,933
Profit attributable to non-controlling BB (EE)ME QA

interests of Modern Farming's FE2E R b 25 P 00 A

subsidiaries 2,673 (566)
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEEIR M AFR 1,585,679 1,882,796
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEEHIRE R FEE (3,923,505) (2,970,150)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEESRESRAFRE 2,742,035 1,429,017
Net cash inflow WEMAFE 404,209 341,663
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. AR RN BRI KRR & E
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Information about the financial position of the Company at REmEHARBEARARVBARANERE
the end of the reporting period includes: 1=
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®F T ARBET T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEMEBEE

Investments in subsidiaries BERHEB R 9,398,519 8,787,099
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE LB 8 A B 3R I8 3,792,622 4,154,113
Derivative financial instruments TESMTA 19,154 67,537
13,210,295 13,008,749

CURRENT ASSETS MENVE E
Prepayments and other receivables B R IE To H fh FE KO8 581 532
Bank balances and cash RIT&EBR MRS 92,969 310,509
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRITA 18,260 -
111,810 311,041

CURRENT LIABILITIES PEB=NE
Other payables Hth BT FRIE 571 998
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET BB A RIFIE 437,534 222,275
Long term bonds EHIES 34,944 31,989
Bank borrowings RITHEK 867,009 -
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTA 14,388 17,235
1,354,446 272,497
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS mE(BEEETFE (1,242,636) 38,544
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #BEER B A & 11,967,659 13,047,293
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

1 75 R MY =

wiN =

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # 220226 12 A31 B IFFE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

49. KRR R AR K REE®

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBET T AREFIT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B AR K E
Share capital [N 675,869 675,869
Reserves i 7,790,072 8,231,126
TOTAL EQUITY B 8,465,941 8,906,995
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Bank borrowings SRITIE K - 882,238
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTA 43,646 98,330
Long term bonds EHES 3,458,072 3,159,730
3,501,718 4,140,298
11,967,659 13,047,293
ZHAO Jiejun SUN Yugang
HEgE ZEM
Director Director
E E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 765 ¥ 5% MY ot

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ 22022 12 A31H IFFE

PENN

N =]

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. R 7 B MR R R R f e
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Movements in equity EREE
Share Share Other  Shareaward  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
%R

k& RHEE Bt it ZitEE &3t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  ARETR  ARMTr  ARETR  AR%Tn  ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2021 RO A 1A D& 555,535 4,985,082 1,382,199 7489 (182,985) 6,741320

Profit and total comprehensive income for - EREFIR 2 ARALE

the year - - - - 19728 19728

Vesting of award shares REROEE - - - 9.447) (4418) (13,865)
Recognition of equity-settled share- based R ZIREEE MR T {T4

payments i35 - - - 224 - 224

Issue of shares BiRi 120334 2,053,786 2174120

Dividends recognised as distribution BABDRRRE - (14253) - - - (142532)

Balance at 31 December 2021 RANE12A3 RIS 675,869 6,896,336 1,382,199 20,266 (67,675 8,906,995

Loss and total comprehensive expense ~~ FREBR2AHTEE

for the year - - - (245,342) (245,382)

Vesting of award shares RORNSE - - - (37,776) 1,504 (36,272)
Recognition of equity-settled share- based  BeRZIREEE MR T {T4)

payments i3 - - - 44,950 - 44,950

Dividends recognised as distribution ERBAREORE - (204,390) - - - 204,390)

Balance at 31 December 2022 IV VEIVERITEE ] 675869 6691946 1,382,199 27,440 (311,513) 8,465,941
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHRE

The following is a summary of the published audited consolidated AT AR BHBRARKELRER AR RENE AR
financial statement of China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited and its R FEEMNE FIELFZGEE P K HREROB

subsidiaries for the respective years. Cig
RESULTS E 4+
For the year ended 31 December BE12H31HILFE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022F 20215 20206 2019 20185

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR ARBTT  ARETT ARETR

Revenue WA 12,295,091 7,078,470 6,020,247 5,514,210 4,956,811
Profit/(loss) before finance costs BRRRE R R B A

and tax wH/ (B8) 974,600 1,233,354 1,103,028 727,208 (167,038)
Finance costs BEMA (379,559) (198,132) (318,624) (376,795) (338,622)
Profit/(loss) before tax BHAEH/(58) 595,041 1,035,222 784,404 350,413 (505,660)
Income tax expense FIEHREY (14,775) (2,023) (639) (556) (513)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/ (B8) 580,266 1,033,199 783,765 349,857 (506,173)
Profit/(loss) for the year NI HEARER

attributable to: R/ (EE) -

Owners of the Company AREERA 562,497 1,018,832 770,010 341,270 (496,088)

Non-controlling interests FERER 17,769 14,367 13,755 8,587 (10,085)

580,266 1,033,199 783,765 349,857 (506,173)

Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) BREF/ (BB (ARY)

Basic (cents) AR (%) 7.16 14.43 12,07 5.54 (8.15)

Diluted (cents) BE (%) 7.13 14.39 12,04 5.52 (8.15)
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M E

As at 31 December R12A31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20216 20206 20195 20184
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Assets and liabilities BERER

Property, plant and equipment VER T E G 5,702,907 5,312,970 3,317,719 3,455,068 3,920,685
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,256,949 725,164 303,849 320,161 -
Land use rights T FRE - - - - 117,220
Goodwil BE 2,406,658 2,075,591 1,322,457 1,371,266 1,398,589
Other intangible assets HibEEE 45,258 3,777 - - -
Interest in associates REE A RIS 458,917 353,278 289,860 215,392 180,913

Equity instruments at FVTOC| BOTERSALMEE
WAREETA 106,229 2,655 5,080 3,959 2,508
Prepayments BITE 29,936 54,238 - - -
Derivative financial instruments TESRIE 19,154 67,537 - - -
Pledged bank deposits BERRITER - 127,043 122,706 - -
Bank balances RITE 236,281 201,881 20,637 - -
Biological assets EMBE 10,631,171 9,404,924 7,101,243 7,459,359 7717113
Deferred tax assets EILRAEE 827 2337 - - -
Net current liabilities nYAETE (541,093) (723 466) (1,881,191) (3,537,886) (3,883,813)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDEE 20,353,194 17,607,929 10,602,360 9,287,319 9,453.215
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 8,709,894 6,493,195 (2,563,916) (2,079,618) (2,899,082)
NET ASSETS EEFE 11,643,300 11,114,734 8,038,444 7,207,701 6,554,133

Capital and reserves BRRffE

Share capital B 675,869 675,869 555,535 551,007 526,058
Share premium and reserves RiDEERFEE 10,588,248 10,189,062 7,341,388 6,530,510 5,919,237

Equity attributable to owners of FRFEE \EEER
the Company 11,264,117 10,864,931 7,896,923 7,081,517 6,445,295
Non-controlling interests R ER 379,183 249,803 141,521 126,184 108,838
TOTAL EQUITY mgR 11,643,300 11,114,734 8,038,444 7,207,701 6,554,133
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MODERN FARMING

U ad A |4

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERRANEZIRERAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(MEEREIMRILZBERAR)

Stock Code B L5% : 1117

Purity #§ Vitality ;&

Genuineness B Freshness fif

www.moderndairyir.com
www.Xiandaimuye.com
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